# Decay Estimates for the Quadratic Tilt-Excess of Integral Varifolds

# ULRICH MENNE\*

Communicated by S. Müller

#### Abstract

This paper concerns integral varifolds of arbitrary dimension in an open subset of Euclidean space with their first variation given by either a Radon measure or a function in some Lebesgue space. Pointwise decay results for the quadratic tiltexcess are established for those varifolds. The results are optimal in terms of the dimension of the varifold and the exponent of the Lebesgue space in most cases, for example if the varifold is not two-dimensional.

#### Contents

0.	Introduction				1
1.	Notation				7
2.	Basic Facts for $\mathbf{Q}_O(V)$ Valued Functions				10
3.	Some Preliminaries				13
4.	A Coercive Estimate				18
5.	Approximation by $\mathbf{Q}_O(\mathbf{R}^{n-m})$ Valued Functions				26
6.	An Interpolation Inequality				37
	Some Estimates Concerning Linear Second Order Elliptic Systems				39
8.	A Model Case of Partial Regularity				43
	Estimates Concerning the Quadratic Tilt-Excess				48
10.	The Pointwise Regularity Theorem				75
Ref	erences		•	•	81

### **0. Introduction**

**Overview** This paper investigates pointwise regularity properties of integral varifolds satisfying integrability conditions on their generalised mean curvature where

<sup>\*</sup> The research was carried out while the author was at the ETH Zürich and put in its final form while the author was at the AEI Golm. *AEI publication number:* AEI-2009-093.

pointwise regularity is measured by the decay of the quadratic tilt-excess. As classical regularity may fail on a set of positive measure, see ALLARD [2, 8.1 (2)] and BRAKKE [7, 6.1], the notion of tilt-excess decay serves as a weak measure of regularity suitable for studying regularity near almost every point of a varifold. In fact, aside from being used as an intermediate step to classical regularity, see ALLARD [2], decay estimates have been employed as a tool for both perpendicularity of mean curvature in BRAKKE [7] and locality of mean curvature in SCHÄTZLE [28–30].

In the present paper it is established that there is a qualitative change in the nature of the results obtainable when the Sobolev exponent corresponding to the integrability exponent of the mean curvature drops below 2. The core of the proof of the pointwise results relies on the harmonic approximation procedure introduced by DE GIORGI in [10] (see also [11, pp. 231–263]) and ALMGREN in [3] and used in the present setting by ALLARD in [2] and BRAKKE in [7]. Additionally, to obtain the present pointwise results, a new coercive estimate is proven, the Sobolev Poincaré type estimates of [24] are adapted and a new iteration procedure is introduced. The latter may also be used in studying partial regularity for systems of elliptic partial differential equations.

**Known results** The notation follows FEDERER [14] and, concerning varifolds, ALLARD [2], see Section 1.

*Hypotheses.* Suppose *m* and *n* are positive integers,  $m < n, 1 \le p \le \infty, U$  is an open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , *V* is an *m* dimensional integral varifold in *U*, that is  $V \in \mathbb{IV}_m(U)$ , and  $\delta V$ , its distributional first variation with respect to area, satisfies the following boundedness conditions:  $\|\delta V\|$  is a Radon measure and, if p > 1, there exists a  $\|V\|$  measurable  $\mathbb{R}^n$  valued function *h* such that

$$(\delta V)(g) = -\int g(z) \bullet h(z) \, \mathrm{d} \|V\| z \quad \text{whenever } g \in \mathscr{D}(U, \mathbf{R}^n),$$
  

$$h \in \mathbf{L}_p(\|V\| \sqcup K, \mathbf{R}^n) \quad \text{whenever } K \text{ is a compact subset of } U.$$

$$(H_p)$$

Any such *h* will be ||V|| almost equal to the generalised mean curvature  $\mathbf{h}(V; \cdot)$  of *V* defined in Section 1.

The present research is motivated by the wish to identify for which  $0 < \alpha \leq 1$  the given hypotheses imply

$$\limsup_{r \to 0+} r^{-\alpha - m/2} \left( \int_{\mathbf{U}(a,r) \times \mathbf{G}(n,m)} |S_{\natural} - T_{\natural}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}V(z,S) \right)^{1/2} < \infty$$

for *V* almost all  $(a, T) \in U \times \mathbf{G}(n, m)$ . BRAKKE has shown that one can take any  $0 < \alpha < 1$  in case p = 2 and  $\alpha = 1/2$  with " $< \infty$ " replaced by "= 0" in case p = 1 in [7, 5.5, 7]. SCHÄTZLE [29] has used results on viscosity solutions from CAFFARELLI [8] and TRUDINGER [34] to establish several regularity results, in particular that if p > m,  $p \ge 2$  and n - m = 1, then one can take  $\alpha = 1$ , see also SCHÄTZLE [28] for a special case. Moreover, SCHÄTZLE showed in [30, Theorem 3.1] that if p = 2 then the key to the general case is to prove existence of an approximate second order structure of the varifold. Namely, if p = 2 and there exists a countable collection *C* of *m* dimensional submanifolds of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  of class 2 with  $||V||(U \sim \bigcup C) = 0$ , then one can take  $\alpha = 1$ . **Results of the present paper** In the case where  $\sup\{2, p\} < m$  and  $\frac{mp}{m-p} < 2$  these gaps are closed by the following corollary.

**Corollary 10.6.** Suppose m, n, p, U, and V are as in the preceding hypotheses  $(H_p)$ , and either  $m \in \{1, 2\}$  and  $0 < \tau < 1$  or  $\sup\{2, p\} < m$  and  $\tau = \frac{mp}{2(m-p)} < 1$ . Then

$$\limsup_{r \to 0+} r^{-\tau - m/2} \left( \int_{\mathbf{U}(a,r) \times \mathbf{G}(n,m)} |S_{\natural} - T_{\natural}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}V(z,S) \right)^{1/2} < \infty$$

for V almost all (a, T).

From the aforementioned examples it follows that  $\tau$  cannot be replaced by any larger number if m > 2, see 10.7. However, using the present result, it will be shown in [25] that "<  $\infty$ " can be replaced by "= 0", see 10.7. The corollary is a direct consequence of the following pointwise result.

**Theorem 10.2.** Suppose *m*, *n*, and *p* are as in the preceding hypotheses ( $H_p$ ), *Q* is a positive integer,  $0 < \delta \leq 1$ ,  $0 < \alpha \leq 1$ ,  $0 < \tau \leq 1$ , and

(1) *if* m = 1, *then* p = 1 *and*  $\tau = 1$ ,

(2) if m = 2, then  $1 \le p < m$  and  $p/2 \le \tau < \frac{mp}{2(m-p)}$ ,

(3) *if* m > 2, then  $1 \le p < m$  and  $\tau = \frac{mp}{2(m-p)}$ .

*Then there exist positive, finite numbers*  $\varepsilon$  *and*  $\Gamma$  *with the following property.* 

If  $a \in \mathbf{R}^n$ ,  $0 < r < \infty$ ,  $V \in \mathbf{IV}_m(\mathbf{U}(a, r))$ , V is related to p as in the preceding hypotheses  $(\mathbf{H}_p)$ ,  $\psi$  is the measure defined by

$$\psi = \|\delta V\|$$
 if  $p = 1$  and  $\psi = |\mathbf{h}(V; \cdot)|^p \|V\|$  if  $p > 1$ ,

 $T \in \mathbf{G}(n, m), \, \omega : \mathbf{R} \cap \{t : 0 < t \leq 1\} \rightarrow \mathbf{R} \text{ with}$ 

$$\omega(t) = t^{\alpha \tau} \quad if \, \alpha \tau < 1 \quad and \quad \omega(t) = t (1 + \log(1/t)) \quad if \, \alpha \tau = 1$$

whenever  $0 < t \leq 1$ , and  $0 < \gamma \leq \varepsilon$ ,

$$\begin{split} \boldsymbol{\Theta}^{*m}(\|V\|, a) &\geq Q - 1 + \delta, \quad \|V\| \, \mathbf{U}(a, r) \leq (Q + 1 - \delta) \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m) r^m, \\ \left(r^{-m} \int |S_{\natural} - T_{\natural}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}V(z, S)\right)^{1/2} \leq \gamma, \\ \|V\|(\mathbf{B}(a, \varrho) \cap \{z : \boldsymbol{\Theta}^m(\|V\|, z) \leq Q - 1\}) \leq \varepsilon \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m) \varrho^m \quad for \ 0 < \varrho < r, \\ \varrho^{1 - m/p} \psi(\mathbf{B}(a, \varrho))^{1/p} \leq \gamma^{1/\tau} (\varrho/r)^{\alpha} \quad for \ 0 < \varrho < r, \end{split}$$

then  $\Theta^m(||V||, a) = Q$ ,  $R = \operatorname{Tan}^m(||V||, a) \in \mathbf{G}(n, m)$  and

$$\left(\varrho^{-m}\int_{\mathbf{U}(a,\varrho)\times\mathbf{G}(n,m)}|S_{\natural}-R_{\natural}|^{2}\,\mathrm{d}V(z,S)\right)^{1/2} \leq \Gamma\gamma\omega(\varrho/r) \quad \text{whenever } 0 < \varrho \leq r.$$

In order to comment on this theorem, assume m > 2.

#### ULRICH MENNE

In the case where  $\frac{mp}{m-p} = 2$ , the theorem states that if the first variation, that is the mean curvature if p > 1 expressed in terms of  $\psi$ , decays with power  $\alpha < 1$  so does the tilt-excess of the varifold, provided essentially that the tilt-excess is initially small and the density, restricted to the complement of a set with small density at *a*, is lower semicontinuous at *a*. If  $\alpha = 1$ , the modulus of continuity  $\omega$  obtained is optimal as demonstrated by an example in 10.4, in particular, one cannot take  $\omega(t) = t$ . Moreover, this sharp result seems not to be obtainable using classical excess decay methods as will be explained below.

In the case  $\frac{mp}{m-p} < 2$ , the situation is different. Decay of the mean curvature with power  $\alpha$  implies, under the same assumptions as before, decay of the tilt-excess with some smaller power  $\alpha \tau$  with  $\tau = \frac{mp}{2(m-p)}$ . This number  $\tau$  cannot be replaced by any larger number, see 10.3.

For comparison one may consider the analogous question replacing integral varifolds by weakly differentiable functions and variation of mass by variation of the Dirichlet integral. Therefore, suppose  $u : \mathbf{R}^m \to \mathbf{R}^{n-m}$  is weakly differentiable, T is the distributional Laplacian of u, that is,  $T \in \mathscr{D}'(\mathbf{R}^m, \mathbf{R}^{n-m})$  is given by

$$T(\theta) = -\int D\theta(x) \bullet \mathbf{D}u(x) \, \mathrm{d}\mathscr{L}^m x \quad \text{for } \theta \in \mathscr{D}(\mathbf{R}^m, \mathbf{R}^{n-m}),$$

T is representable by integration and, if p > 1, T corresponds to a locally p-th power summable function f. Then one may investigate which decay properties of

$$\left( f_{\mathbf{U}(c,\rho)} | \mathbf{D}u(x) - \tau |^2 \, \mathrm{d} \mathscr{L}^m x \right)^{1/2}$$

as  $\rho \to 0+$ , where  $(c, \tau) \in \mathbf{R}^m \times \text{Hom}(\mathbf{R}^m, \mathbf{R}^{n-m})$ , are implied by decay hypotheses on

$$\varrho^{1-m} \| T \| \mathbf{U}(c, \varrho) \text{ if } p = 1, \quad \varrho^{1-m/p} \| f \|_{p;c,\varrho} \text{ if } p > 1,$$

where  $|\cdot|_{p;c,\varrho}$  denotes the seminorm corresponding to  $\mathbf{L}_p(\mathscr{L}^m \sqcup \mathbf{U}(c,\varrho), \mathbf{R}^{n-m})$ . Clearly, the varifold problem behaves less regularly than the problem for weakly differentiable functions, as known examples show that a decay hypothesis on  $\psi$  alone is not sufficient to infer decay of the tilt-excess, see 10.5. However, apart from this the varifold problem behaves equally regularly if  $\frac{mp}{m-p} = 2$  as the same decay implications hold and it even behaves more regularly if  $\frac{mp}{m-p} < 2$ , since in this case decay results are valid only in the varifold case (as  $\mathbf{D}u$  may be not locally square summable). In case p = 1 this latter phenomenon was already apparent from the results of Brakke.

Summarising, the pointwise implications of Theorem 10.2 are essentially optimal and identify the optimal  $\alpha$  for which the answer to the initial question is in the affirmative if m > 2 and p < 2m/(m + 2). Using the estimate 9.5 of the present paper, the optimal  $\alpha$  is determined when m = 1 or m = 2 and p > 1 or m > 2 and  $p \ge 2m/(m + 2)$  in [25], see 10.8. This then covers all cases except (m, p) = (2, 1), where Corollary 10.6 solves the subcase  $\alpha < 1$ .

**Overview of proof** As indicated above, the main tool in the pointwise regularity proof is the harmonic approximation procedure introduced by DE GIORGI and ALMGREN, see [3,10,11]. It requires the varifold to be weakly close to a plane with density Q and strongly close to a varifold with density at least Q. Initially, the latter condition was phrased as  $\Theta^m(||V||, z) \ge Q$  for ||V|| almost all  $z \in U(a, r)$  in ALLARD [2, §8], however the set of points a not satisfying this condition for suitable Q and r may have positive ||V|| measure even if the hypotheses are satisfied with  $p = \infty$ , see ALLARD [2, 8.1 (2)] and BRAKKE [7, 6.1]. Replacing the condition by the requirement on  $\Theta^m(||V||, \cdot)$  to be ||V|| approximately (lower semi-) continuous, Brakke was able to treat almost all points with p = 2 using an approximation by Almgren's "Q-valued" functions, that is, functions with values in  $\mathbb{Q}_Q(\mathbb{R}^{n-m})$ , see below. Additionally, Brakke established a coercive estimate which allowed him also to obtain partial results for the case p = 1.

Taking this as a starting point, it will be described, firstly, the new ingredient needed to obtain the optimal modulus of continuity for the case p = 2, secondly, the new ingredient needed to obtain optimal results in case p < 2 and, thirdly, how these new ingredients can be implemented within the known framework of a (partial or pointwise) regularity proof.

Obtaining the optimal modulus of continuity for p = 2 For this purpose a new iteration procedure is introduced which is now presented in the simple case of the Laplace operator. Additionally, in Section 8, it is shown how to implement this method in a model case from partial regularity theory for second order elliptic systems in divergence form. Suppose  $c \in \mathbf{R}^m$ ,  $u \in \mathbf{W}^{1,2}(\mathbf{U}(c, 1), \mathbf{R}^{n-m})$ ,  $T \in \mathscr{D}'(\mathbf{U}(c, 1), \mathbf{R}^{n-m})$  is the distributional Laplacian of u, and assume for some  $0 \leq \gamma < \infty$  and  $0 < \alpha \leq 1$  that

$$\varrho^{-m/2}|T(\theta)| \leq \gamma \varrho^{\alpha} |D\theta|_{2;c,\varrho}$$

whenever  $\theta \in \mathscr{D}(\mathbf{U}(c, 1), \mathbf{R}^{n-m})$  with spt  $\theta \subset \mathbf{U}(c, \varrho)$  and  $0 < \varrho \leq 1$ . Define  $J = \mathbf{R} \cap \{r : 0 < \varrho \leq 1\}$ , for each  $\varrho \in J$  choose  $u_{\varrho} : \mathbf{U}(c, \varrho) \to \mathbf{R}^{n-m}$  harmonic with boundary values given by u, that is,

$$u_{\varrho} \in \mathscr{E}(\mathbf{U}(c,\varrho), \mathbf{R}^{n-m}) \text{ with } \operatorname{Lap} u_{\varrho} = 0,$$
$$u - u_{\varrho} \in \mathbf{W}_{0}^{1,2}(\mathbf{U}(c,\varrho), \mathbf{R}^{n-m}),$$

define  $\phi_1 : J \to \mathbf{R}$  and  $\phi_2 : J \times \text{Hom}(\mathbf{R}^m, \mathbf{R}^{n-m}) \to \mathbf{R}$  by

$$\phi_1(\varrho) = |D^2 u_{\varrho}|_{\infty;c,\varrho/2}, \quad \phi_2(\varrho,\sigma) = \varrho^{-m/2} |\mathbf{D}(u-\sigma)|_{2;c,\varrho}$$

for  $(\varrho, \sigma) \in J \times \text{Hom}(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathbb{R}^{n-m})$  and choose  $\sigma_{\varrho} \in \text{Hom}(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathbb{R}^{n-m})$  such that

$$\phi_2(\varrho, \sigma_{\varrho}) \leq \phi_2(\varrho, \sigma)$$
 whenever  $\sigma \in \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbf{R}^m, \mathbf{R}^{n-m}), \varrho \in J$ 

Using a priori estimates, see [17, Theorems 7.26(ii), 8.10, 9.11], one estimates

$$\begin{aligned} \phi_1(\varrho/4) - \phi_1(\varrho) &\leq |D^2(u_{\varrho} - u_{\varrho/4})|_{\infty;c,\varrho/8} \leq \Delta \varrho^{-1-m/2} |D(u_{\varrho} - u_{\varrho/4})|_{2;c,\varrho/4} \\ &\leq \Delta \varrho^{-1-m/2} \big( |\mathbf{D}(u - u_{\varrho/4})|_{2;c,\varrho/4} + |\mathbf{D}(u - u_{\varrho})|_{2;c,\varrho} \big) \leq 2\Delta \gamma \varrho^{\alpha - 1} \end{aligned}$$

for some positive, finite number  $\Delta$  depending only on *n* and

$$\phi_2(\varrho, \sigma_\varrho) \leq \varrho^{-m/2} \left( |\mathbf{D}(u - u_\varrho)|_{2;c,\varrho} + |D(u_\varrho - Du_\varrho(c))|_{2;c,\varrho} \right)$$
$$\leq \gamma \varrho^\alpha + \alpha(m)^{1/2} \varrho \phi_1(\varrho),$$

hence obtains the two iteration inequalities

$$\phi_1(\varrho/4) \leq \phi_1(\varrho) + \Gamma \gamma \varrho^{\alpha-1}, \quad \phi_2(\varrho, \sigma_\varrho) \leq \Gamma \left( \varrho \phi_1(\varrho) + \gamma \varrho^{\alpha} \right)$$

for  $\rho \in J$ , where  $\Gamma = \sup\{2\Delta, 1, \alpha(m)^{1/2}\}.$ 

Now, if  $0 \leq \gamma_1 < \infty$ ,  $\phi_1(\varrho) \leq \gamma_1 \varrho^{\alpha - 1}$  and  $\alpha < 1$ , then

$$\phi_1(\varrho/4) \leq (\varrho/4)^{\alpha-1} (4^{\alpha-1}\gamma_1 + \Gamma\gamma) \leq \gamma_1(\varrho/4)^{\alpha-1}$$

provided  $\gamma_1 \ge (1 - 4^{\alpha - 1})^{-1} \Gamma \gamma$ , noting  $4^{\alpha - 1} < 1$ . Similarly, if  $0 \le \gamma_1 < \infty$ ,  $\phi_1(\varrho) \le \gamma_1(1 + \log(1/\varrho))$  and  $\alpha = 1$  then

$$\phi_1(\varrho/4) \leq \gamma_1(1 + \log(4/\varrho)) - (\log 4)\gamma_1 + \Gamma\gamma \leq \gamma_1(1 + \log(4/\varrho)),$$

provided  $\gamma_1 \ge \Gamma \gamma (\log 4)^{-1}$ . In both cases it has been crucially used that the factor in front of  $\phi_1(\varrho)$  in the first iteration inequality is 1. This is the reason for choosing  $\phi_1$  rather than  $\phi_2$  as leading iteration quantity. The decay of  $\phi_2(\varrho, \sigma_\varrho)$  in terms of  $\varrho$  then follows.

Classically, an excess decay inequality of type

$$\phi_2(\lambda \varrho, \sigma_{\lambda \varrho}) \leq \Gamma_1 \lambda \phi_2(\varrho, \sigma_{\varrho}) + \Gamma_2 \gamma \varrho^{\alpha} \quad \text{for } 0 < \lambda \leq 1/2, 0 < \varrho \leq 1,$$

where  $1 \leq \Gamma_i < \infty$  for  $i \in \{1, 2\}$  is used, see for example [14, 5.3.13] or DUZAAR and STEFFEN [13, (5.14)]. Sometimes,  $\Gamma_2$  additionally depends on  $\lambda$ . However, concerning the case  $\alpha = 1$ , the optimal modulus of continuity cannot be deduced from such an inequality since, if  $1 < \Gamma_1 < \infty$  and  $1/e < \Gamma_2 < \infty$ , then it cannot be excluded that  $\phi_2(\varrho, \sigma_\varrho)$  may equal  $\gamma \varrho (1 + \log(1/\varrho))^s$  for some s > 1 with  $2^{s-1} \leq \Gamma_1$  and  $(2s/e)^s \leq 2\Gamma_2$ .

*Treating the case* p < 2 The second new ingredient in the regularity proof will be described by focusing on the case m > 2. In doing so, a quantity of type

$$\varrho^{-1-m/q} \left( \int_{\mathbf{B}(a,\varrho)} \operatorname{dist}(z-a,T)^q \, \mathrm{d} \|V\|_z \right)^{1/q}$$

for *U* and *V* as in the hypotheses  $(H_p)$  with  $a \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $0 < \rho < \infty$ ,  $\mathbb{B}(a, \rho) \subset U$ ,  $T \in \mathbb{G}(n, m)$  and  $1 \leq q < \infty$  will be referred to as *q*-height. To derive sharp results with respect to the integrability of the mean curvature, two observations will be essential. Firstly, the dependence on the mean curvature in Brakke's coercive estimate, see [7, 5.5], can be improved at the price of using the *q*-height with  $q = \frac{2m}{m-2}$  instead of the 2-height, see 4.14. Secondly, in order to control the *q*-height, the Sobolev Poincaré type estimates of [24] are adapted. However, a subtlety arises. The mentioned estimates are available in full strength only for the *q*-height on the set *H* of points satisfying a smallness condition on the mean curvature, see also the discussion in [24, 4.6]. As estimating the *q*-height on the coercive estimate

of Brakke has to be improved a second time by showing the q-height on H, mean curvature and 2-height are actually sufficient to control the tilt-excess, see 4.10. This is accomplished by constructing a possibly discontinuous cut-off function with properties reminiscent of a weakly differentiable function, including a partial integration formula, Sobolev embedding and approximate differentiability, see 4.7 and 4.8. These properties are deduced directly from the construction rather than from a general theory.

Implementation of proof Finally, it will be indicated briefly how the previously described pieces fit into the well known pattern of a partial regularity proof. As usual, one assumes the varifold to be close to Q parallel planes with respect to mass, tilt-excess and first variation. Fixing a suitable orthogonal coordinate system, one approximates the varifold by a Lipschitzian  $\mathbf{Q}_O(\mathbf{R}^{n-m})$  valued function f. Recall that  $\mathbf{Q}_O(\mathbf{R}^{n-m})$  may be described as the Q fold product of  $\mathbf{R}^{n-m}$  divided by the action of the group of permutations of  $\{1, \ldots, Q\}$ . The accuracy of this approximation is controlled by tilt-excess and mean curvature. To obtain the comparison functions  $u_{\rho}$ , one considers the Dirichlet problem with the linear elliptic system with constant coefficients given by a suitable linearisation of the nonparametric area integrand and boundary values given by the "average" g of f. This is somewhat different from the usual procedure, where the comparison functions are often constructed either within contradiction arguments (see for example AL-LARD [2, 8.16] or BRAKKE [7, 5.6]) or by an "A-harmonic approximation lemma" which confines the contradiction argument to the situation of linear systems with constant coefficients (see for example SIMON [31, 21.1] or DUZAAR and STEFFEN [13, 3.3]); however see also SCHOEN and SIMON [33] for a different approach. The distributional right-hand side for  $g - u_{\rho}$  can be estimated by mean curvature and a small multiple of the tilt-excess, provided a suitably weak norm is employed, namely a norm dual to the norm mapping a smooth function with compact support to the  $L_{\infty}(\mathscr{L}^m, \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathbb{R}^{n-m}))$  seminorm of its derivatives. If m > 1 this only yields smallness of  $g - u_{\rho}$  in Lebesgue spaces with exponent below  $\frac{m}{m-1}$ , for example in  $\mathbf{L}_1(\mathscr{L}^m \sqcup \mathbf{U}(c, \varrho), \mathbf{R}^{n-m})$ , here  $c \in \mathbf{R}^m$  corresponds to  $a \in \mathbf{R}^n$ , see 9.4(7). However, assuming that the set of points with density strictly below Q is small with respect to ||V||, the graph of g coincides with the varifold on a large set, hence using interpolation (Section 6) and estimates for the approximation by f(see Section 5), one can ultimately convert  $\mathbf{L}_1(\mathscr{L}^m \sqcup \mathbf{U}(c, \varrho), \mathbf{R}^{n-m})$  closeness of g to an affine function via the coercive estimate to control of the tilt-excess of the varifold with respect to the corresponding plane. From these estimates one readily obtains modified versions of the iteration inequalities which - upon simultaneous iteration-yield the result.

# 1. Notation

**General** The notation follows [14], see the list of symbols on pp. 669–671 therein. In particular, recall the following, perhaps less common symbols:  $\mathscr{P}$  denoting the positive integers,  $\mathbf{U}(a, r)$  and  $\mathbf{B}(a, r)$  denoting, respectively, the open and closed ball with centre *a* and radius  $r, \bigcirc^i (V, W)$  and  $\bigcirc^i V$  denoting the vector space of all *i* linear symmetric functions (forms) mapping  $V^i$  into *W* and **R**, respectively, and the seminorms  $\phi_{(p)}$  for  $1 \leq p \leq \infty$  corresponding to the Lebesgue spaces

$$\phi_{(p)}(f) = \left(\int |f|^p \,\mathrm{d}\phi\right)^{1/p} \text{ in case } 1 \leq p < \infty,$$
  
$$\phi_{(\infty)}(f) = \inf(\mathbf{R} \cap \{t : \phi(X \cap \{x : |f(x)| > t\}) = 0\}).$$

whenever  $\phi$  measures X, Y is a Banach space, and  $f : X \to Y$  is  $\phi$  measurable, see [14, 2.2.6, 2.8.1, 1.10.1, 2.4.12]. The notation for the Lebesgue seminorms is particularly convenient when longer expressions replace the measure  $\phi$ , as will repeatedly be the case in 5.7 (8).

Moreover, the following slight modifications and additions apply. (For the convenience of the reader, in this section for nearly every symbol the appropriate reference to its definition in [14] is given at its first occurrence.)

One defines  $f[A] = \{y : (x, y) \in f \text{ for some } x \in A\}$  whenever f is a relation and A is a set, see [20, p. 8].

If  $m, n \in \mathscr{P}$ ,  $m \leq n, T \in \mathbf{G}(n, m)$  then  $T_{\natural}$  is characterised by, see [14, 2.2.6, 1.6.2, 1.7.4],

$$T_{\natural} \in \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbf{R}^n, \mathbf{R}^n), \quad T_{\natural} = T_{\natural}^*, \quad T_{\natural} \circ T_{\natural} = T_{\natural}, \quad \operatorname{im} T_{\natural} = T$$

and  $T^{\perp} = \ker T_{\natural}$ , see Almgren [5, T.1 (9)] and Allard [2, 2.3].

Similar to Allard's definition in [2, 8.10], the *closed cuboid* C(T, a, r, h) is defined by

$$\mathbf{C}(T, a, r, h) = \mathbf{R}^n \cap \{z : |T_{\natural}(z-a)| \leq r \text{ and } |T_{\natural}^{\perp}(z-a)| \leq h\}$$

whenever  $m, n \in \mathscr{P}, m < n, T \in \mathbf{G}(n, m), a \in \mathbf{R}^n, 0 < r < \infty$ , and  $0 < h \leq \infty$ . One abbreviates  $\mathbf{C}(T, a, r, \infty) = \mathbf{C}(T, a, r)$ . (The symbol  $\mathbf{C}(T, a, r)$  is used by ALLARD in [2, 8.10] to denote  $\mathbf{R}^n \cap \{z : |T_{\natural}(z - a)| < r\}$ .)

Whenever  $\phi$  measures  $X, 0 < \phi(A) < \infty, Y$  is a Banach space, and  $f \in \mathbf{L}_1(\phi \sqcup A, Y)$  the symbol  $\int_A f \, d\phi$  denotes  $\phi(A)^{-1} \int_A f \, d\phi$ , see [14, 2.4.12].

Following ALMGREN [4, p. 464], whenever  $n \in \mathscr{P}$  the number  $\beta(n)$  denotes the best constant in Besicovitch's covering theorem, that is, the least positive integer with the following property, see [14, 2.8.14]: If *F* is a family of closed balls in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with sup{diam  $S: S \in F$ } <  $\infty$  then there exist disjointed subfamilies  $F_1, \ldots, F_{\beta(n)}$  of *F* such that, see [14, 2.8.8, 2.8.1],

$$\{z: \mathbf{B}(z, r) \in F \text{ for some } 0 < r < \infty\} \subset \bigcup \bigcup \{F_i: i = 1, \dots, \beta(n)\}$$

**Varifolds** The meaning of the symbols  $\mathbf{V}_m$ ,  $\mathbf{RV}_m$ ,  $\mathbf{IV}_m$ , ||V||,  $\delta V$ , and  $||\delta V||$  will be introduced in accordance with ALLARD [2, 3.1, 3.5, 4.2].

Suppose *U* is an open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  and the Grassmann manifold  $\mathbb{G}(n, m)$  of all *m* dimensional subspaces is equipped with the usual topology, see [14, 3.2.28(4)]. An *m* dimensional varifold *V* in *U* is a Radon measure on  $U \times \mathbb{G}(n, m)$ . The weight ||V|| of *V* is given by  $||V||(A) = V(A \times \mathbb{G}(n, m))$  for  $A \subset U$ . The distributional first variation with respect to area of a varifold *V* is given by

$$\delta V(\theta) = \int D\theta(z) \bullet S_{\mathfrak{b}} dV(z, S)$$
 whenever  $\theta \in \mathscr{D}(U, \mathbf{R}^n)$ 

with associated Borel regular measure  $\|\delta V\|$  characterised by

$$\|\delta V\|(Z) = \sup\{\delta V(\theta) : \theta \in \mathscr{D}(U, \mathbb{R}^n) \text{ with spt } \theta \subset Z \text{ and } |g(z)| \leq 1 \text{ for } z \in U\}$$

whenever Z is an open subset of U, see [14, 4.1.1, 2.2.3]. If V is an m dimensional varifold in U and  $\|\delta V\|$  is a Radon measure, the *generalised mean curvature vector* of V at z is the unique  $\mathbf{h}(V; z) \in \mathbf{R}^n$  such that

$$\mathbf{h}(V; z) \bullet v = -\lim_{r \to 0+} \frac{(\delta V)(b_{z,r} \cdot v)}{\|V\| \mathbf{B}(z, r)} \quad \text{for } v \in \mathbf{R}^n,$$

where  $b_{z,r}$  is the characteristic function of  $\mathbf{B}(z, r)$ ; hence  $z \in \text{dmn} \mathbf{h}(V; \cdot)$  if and only if the above limit exists for every  $v \in \mathbf{R}^n$ . This modifies Allard's definition [2, 4.3] in the spirit of [14, 4.1.7].

An *m* dimensional varifold *V* in *U* is *rectifiable* if and only if there exist sequences  $c_i$ ,  $A_i$  and  $M_i$  such that  $0 < c_i < \infty$ ,  $M_i$  are *m* dimensional submanifolds of class 1,  $A_i$  are  $\mathscr{H}^m$  measurable subsets of  $M_i$  and

$$V(f) = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} c_i \int_{A_i} f(z, \operatorname{Tan}(M_i, z)) \, d\mathscr{H}^m z \quad \text{for } f \in \mathscr{K}(U \times \mathbf{G}(n, m)),$$

see [14, 3.1.21, 2.5.14, 2.10.2]. In this case

$$0 < \Theta^m(||V||, z) < \infty$$
 and  $\operatorname{Tan}^m(||V||, z) \in \mathbf{G}(n, m)$ 

for ||V|| almost all z and

$$V(f) = \int f(z, \operatorname{Tan}^{m}(\|V\|, z)) \Theta^{m}(\|V\|, z) \, \mathrm{d}\mathscr{H}^{m}z \quad \text{for } f \in \mathscr{K}(U \times \mathbf{G}(n, m)),$$

see [14, 2.10.19, 3.2.16]. A rectifiable varifold is called *integral* if and only if  $\Theta^m(||V||, z)$  is a positive integer for ||V|| almost all z. The set of all rectifiable [integral] m dimensional varifolds in U is denoted by  $\mathbf{RV}_m(U)$  [IV<sub>m</sub>(U)].

As in [23, 2.2–2.4], whenever  $m \in \mathscr{P}$  the smallest number with the following property will be denoted by  $\boldsymbol{\gamma}(m)$ : If  $n \in \mathscr{P}$ ,  $m \leq n$ ,  $V \in \mathbf{RV}_m(\mathbf{R}^n)$ ,  $\|V\|(\mathbf{R}^n) < \infty$ , and  $\|\delta V\|(\mathbf{R}^n) < \infty$ , then

$$\|V\|(\mathbf{R}^n \cap \{z : \mathbf{\Theta}^m(\|V\|, z) \ge 1)\}) \le \boldsymbol{\gamma}(m)\|V\|(\mathbf{R}^n)^{1/m}\|\delta V\|(\mathbf{R}^n).$$

Note  $m^{-1} \alpha(m)^{-1/m} \leq \gamma(m) < \infty$ .

Weakly differentiable functions and distributions Suppose  $m \in \mathcal{P}$ , U is an open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^m$ ,  $e_1, \ldots, e_m$  denote the standard base of  $\mathbb{R}^m$ , Y is a finite dimensional Hilbert space, k is a nonnegative integer, and u is an  $\mathcal{L}^m \sqcup U$  measurable function with values in Y. Then u is called k *times weakly differentiable in U* if and only if

- (1)  $u \in \mathbf{L}_1(\mathscr{L}^m \sqcup K, Y)$  for every compact subset *K* of *U*,
- (2) defining  $T \in \mathscr{D}'(U, Y)$  by  $T(\theta) = \int_U \theta \bullet u \, d\mathscr{L}^m$  for  $\theta \in \mathscr{D}(U, Y)$ , the distributions  $D^{\alpha}T$  corresponding to all  $\alpha \in \Xi(m, i)$  and  $i = 0, \ldots, k$  are representable by integration and the measures  $\|D^{\alpha}T\|$  are absolutely continuous with respect to  $\mathscr{L}^m \sqcup U$ , see [14, 1.9.2, 1.10.1, 2.9.2, 4.1.1, 4.1.5], ( $\alpha$  is sometimes called "multi-index of length i").

In this case for i = 0, ..., k the  $\mathscr{L}^m \sqcup U$  measurable functions  $\mathbf{D}^i u$  with values in  $\bigcirc^i (\mathbf{R}^m, Y)$  are characterised by the following two conditions (here and in the following  $\bigcirc^i (\mathbf{R}^m, Y)$  is equipped with an inner product as in [14, 1.10.6]):

- (3)  $D^{\alpha}T(\theta) = \int_{U} \theta(x) \bullet \langle e^{\alpha}, \mathbf{D}^{i}u(x) \rangle d\mathscr{L}^{m}x$  whenever  $\theta \in \mathscr{D}(U, Y)$  and  $\alpha \in \Xi(m, i)$  where  $e^{\alpha} = (e_{1})^{\alpha_{1}} \odot \cdots \odot (e_{m})^{\alpha_{m}}$  is constructed from the standard base  $e_{1}, \ldots, e_{m}$  of  $\mathbf{R}^{m}$ , see [14, 1.9.2, 1.10.1]; in particular  $\mathbf{D}^{i}u$  is 0 times weakly differentiable in U.
- (4)  $\mathbf{D}^{i}u(a) = \lim_{r \to 0+} \int_{\mathbf{B}(a,r)} \mathbf{D}^{i}u \, d\mathscr{L}^{m}$  whenever  $a \in U$ ; hence  $a \in \operatorname{dmn} \mathbf{D}^{i}u$  if and only if the preceding limit exists.

Also, 1 times weakly differentiable in U is abbreviated to *weakly differentiable* in U and  $\mathbf{D}^1 u$  to  $\mathbf{D} u$ . In particular, the symbols  $\mathbf{D}^i$ ,  $\mathbf{D}$  will not be used in the sense of [14, 1.5.2, 2.9.1, 4.1.6].  $\mathbf{W}^{k,p}(U, Y)$  denotes the *Sobolev space* of all k times weakly differentiable functions in U with values in Y such that  $\mathbf{D}^i u \in$  $\mathbf{L}_p(\mathscr{L}^m \sqcup U, \bigcirc^i(\mathbf{R}^m, Y))$  whenever  $i = 0, \ldots, k$ ; the corresponding seminorm of u is given by  $\sum_{i=0}^k (\mathscr{L}^m \sqcup U)_{(p)}(\mathbf{D}^i u)$ , see [14, 2.4.12].  $\mathbf{W}_0^{k,p}(U, Y)$  denotes the closure of  $\mathscr{D}(U, Y)$  in  $\mathbf{W}^{k,p}(U, Y)$ . Note that in these definitions, in neither the Sobolev spaces nor the Lebesgue spaces are functions agreeing  $\mathscr{L}^m \sqcup U$  almost everywhere treated as single elements; instead condition (4) is employed.

If  $m \in \mathscr{P}$ , U is an open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^m$ , Y is a separable Hilbert space,  $1 \leq p \leq \infty$ , A is an  $\mathscr{L}^m \sqcup U$  measurable set, and u and v are  $\mathscr{L}^m \sqcup U$  measurable functions with values in Y then  $|u|_{p;A} = (\mathscr{L}^m \sqcup A)_{(p)}(u)$  and, provided  $\int_A |u(x) \bullet v(x)| d\mathscr{L}^m x < \infty$ ,  $(u, v)_A = \int_A u(x) \bullet v(x) d\mathscr{L}^m x$ . Moreover,  $|u|_{p;a,r} = |u|_{p;U(a,r)}$  and  $(u, v)_{a,r} = (u, v)_{U(a,r)}$  whenever  $a \in \mathbb{R}^m$ ,  $0 < r < \infty$  with  $U(a, r) \subset U$ , see [14, 2.8.1]. These notions extend [14, 5.2.1]. If additionally, i is an integer with  $i \leq 0, 1 \leq p \leq \infty, 1 \leq q \leq \infty, 1/p + 1/q = 1, T$  is a real valued linear functional on  $\mathscr{D}(U, Y)$ , and V is an open subset of U, then

$$|T|_{i,p;V} = \sup T \left[ \mathscr{D}(U,Y) \cap \{\theta : |D^{-i}\theta|_{q;U} \leq 1 \text{ and spt } \theta \subset V \} \right]$$

and  $|T|_{i,p;a,r} = |T|_{i,p;\mathbf{U}(a,r)}$  whenever  $a \in \mathbf{R}^m$ ,  $0 < r < \infty$  with  $\mathbf{U}(a,r) \subset U$ .

Almgren's multiple valued functions The notation for functions with values in  $\mathbf{Q}_Q(\mathbf{R}^{n-m})$  for  $m, n, Q \in \mathscr{P}$  with m < n which originate from Almgren's work in [5] will be introduced in Section 2 together with basic properties.

**A convention** Finally, each statement asserting the existence of a positive, finite number, small ( $\varepsilon$ ) or large ( $\Gamma$ ), will give rise to a function depending on the listed parameters whose "name" is  $\varepsilon_{x,y}$  or  $\Gamma_{x,y}$ , where x.y denotes the number of the statement. Occasionally,  $\lambda_{x,y}$  is also used similarly.

# **2.** Basic Facts for $\mathbf{Q}_O(V)$ Valued Functions

This section provides some basic definitions for  $\mathbf{Q}_Q(V)$  valued functions, taken mainly from ALMGREN [5] in 2.1, 2.2 and 2.4 and a proposition from [24] in 2.3. Finally, the first variation for the varifold associated to the "graph" of a  $\mathbf{Q}_Q(\mathbf{R}^{n-m})$ valued functions is given in 2.5 and 2.6. **2.1** (see [5, 1.1(1)(3), 2.3(2)]) Suppose  $Q \in \mathscr{P}$  and V is a finite dimensional Euclidean vector space.

 $\mathbf{Q}_{\mathcal{Q}}(V)$  is defined to be the set of all 0 dimensional integral currents *R* such that  $R = \sum_{i=1}^{Q} [[x_i]]$  for some  $x_1, \ldots, x_Q \in V$ . A metric  $\mathscr{G}$  on  $\mathbf{Q}_{\mathcal{Q}}(V)$  is defined such that

$$\mathscr{G}\left(\sum_{i=1}^{Q} [x_i], \sum_{i=1}^{Q} [y_i]\right) = \min\left\{\left(\sum_{i=1}^{Q} |x_i - y_{\pi(i)}|^2\right)^{1/2} : \pi \in P(Q)\right\}$$

whenever  $x_1, \ldots, x_Q, y_1, \ldots, y_Q \in V$ , where P(Q) denotes the set of permutations of  $\{1, \ldots, Q\}$ . The function  $\eta_Q : \mathbf{Q}_Q(V) \to V$  is defined by

 $\eta_Q(R) = Q^{-1} \int x \, \mathrm{d} \|R\| x$  whenever  $R \in \mathbf{Q}_Q(V)$ .

If  $R = \sum_{i=1}^{Q} [[x_i]]$  for some  $x_1, \ldots, x_Q \in V$ , then  $\eta_Q(R) = \frac{1}{Q} \sum_{i=1}^{Q} x_i$ . Note Lip  $\eta_Q = Q^{-1/2}$ .

Whenever  $f: X \to \mathbf{Q}_{\mathcal{Q}}(V)$ , one defines

$$\operatorname{graph}_{O} f = (X \times V) \cap \{(x, v) : v \in \operatorname{spt} f(x)\}$$

and with  $g: X \to V$  also  $f(+)g: X \to \mathbf{Q}_Q(V)$  by

$$(f(+)g)(x) = (\tau_{g(x)})_{\#}(f(x))$$
 whenever  $x \in X$ .

**2.2** (see [5, 1.1(9)(10)]) Suppose  $m, n, Q \in \mathcal{P}$  and m < n.

A function  $f : \mathbf{R}^m \to \mathbf{Q}_Q(\mathbf{R}^{n-m})$  is called *affine* if and only if there exist affine functions  $f_i : \mathbf{R}^m \to \mathbf{R}^{n-m}$ , i = 1, ..., Q such that

$$f(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{Q} \llbracket f_i(x) \rrbracket$$
 whenever  $x \in \mathbf{R}^m$ .

 $f_1, \ldots, f_Q$  are uniquely determined up to order. Moreover, one defines

$$|f| = \left(\sum_{i=1}^{Q} |Df_i(0)|^2\right)^{1/2}$$

Let  $a \in A \subset \mathbf{R}^m$  and  $f : A \to \mathbf{Q}_Q(\mathbf{R}^{n-m})$ . f is called *affinely approximable at* a if and only if  $a \in \text{Int } A$  and there exists an affine function  $g : \mathbf{R}^m \to \mathbf{Q}_Q(\mathbf{R}^{n-m})$  such that

$$\lim_{x \to a} \mathscr{G}(f(x), g(x))/|x - a| = 0.$$

The function g is unique and denoted by Af(a). f is called strongly affinely approximable at a if and only if f is affinely approximable at a and Af(a) has the following property: If  $Af(a)(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{Q} [[g_i(x)]]$  for some affine functions  $g_i : \mathbf{R}^m \to \mathbf{R}^{n-m}$  and  $g_i(a) = g_j(a)$  for some i and j, then  $Dg_i(a) = Dg_j(a)$ . The concepts of approximate affine approximability and approximate strong affine approximability are obtained through omission of the condition  $a \in \text{Int } A$  and replacement of lim by ap lim. The corresponding affine function is denoted by ap Af(a).

**2.3** The following proposition, see [24, 2.5, 8], will be used for calculations involving Lipschitzian  $\mathbf{Q}_O(\mathbf{R}^{n-m})$  valued functions.

If  $m, n, Q \in \mathcal{P}$ , m < n, A is  $\mathcal{L}^m$  measurable,  $f : A \to \mathbf{Q}_Q(\mathbf{R}^{n-m})$  is Lipschitzian, then there exists a countable set I and functions  $f_i$  corresponding to  $i \in I$ such that

dmn 
$$f_i$$
 is  $\mathscr{L}^m$  measurable,  $f_i \subset \operatorname{graph}_Q f$ , Lip  $f_i \leq \operatorname{Lip} f$ ,  
card $\{i : f_i(x) = y\} = \Theta^0(||f(x)||, y)$  whenever  $(x, y) \in A \times \mathbb{R}^{n-m}$ ,

in particular f is approximately strongly affinely approximable at  $\mathscr{L}^m$  almost all  $a \in A$  and graph<sub>Q</sub> f is countably m rectifiable. Moreover, for any such family of  $f_i$  there holds

ap 
$$Af(a)(v) = \sum_{i \in I(a)} \llbracket f_i(a) + \langle v, \text{ap } Df_i(a) \rangle \rrbracket$$
 whenever  $v \in \mathbf{R}^m$ 

for  $\mathscr{L}^m$  almost all  $a \in A$ , where  $I(a) = I \cap \{i : a \in \text{dmn ap } Df_i\}$ , and if A is open, then ap Af may be replaced by Af.

**Definition 2.4.** Suppose  $m, n, Q \in \mathcal{P}, m < n, A \subset B \subset \mathbb{R}^m$ , A is  $\mathcal{L}^m$  measurable and  $f : B \to \mathbb{Q}_Q(\mathbb{R}^{n-m})$  is Lipschitzian,  $C_1 = \dim \operatorname{ap} Af, C_2 = \dim Af$ , and  $g : B \to \mathbb{R}$  and  $h_i : C_i \to \mathbb{R}$  for  $i \in \{1, 2\}$  are defined by

 $g(x) = \mathscr{G}(f(x), Q[[0]]) \quad \text{for } x \in B,$  $h_1(x) = |\operatorname{ap} Af(x)| \quad \text{for } x \in C_1, \quad h_2(x) = |Af(x)| \quad \text{for } x \in C_2.$ 

Then one defines for  $1 \leq p \leq \infty$ , noting 2.3,

$$|f|_{p;A} = |g|_{p;A}, |ap Af|_{p;A} = |h_1|_{p;A},$$
  
 $|Af|_{p;A} = |h_2|_{p;A}$  if A is open.

Moreover, if  $\mathbf{U}(a, r) \subset B$  for some  $a \in \mathbf{R}^m$ ,  $0 < r < \infty$ , then

$$\begin{split} \|f\|_{p;a,r} &= \|f\|_{p;\mathbf{U}(a,r)}, \quad \|\operatorname{ap} Af\|_{p;a,r} = \|\operatorname{ap} Af\|_{p;\mathbf{U}(a,r)}, \\ \|Af\|_{p;a,r} &= \|Af\|_{p;\mathbf{U}(a,r)}. \end{split}$$

**2.5** Suppose *U* is an open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^m$ , *Y* is a Banach space and  $T \in \mathscr{D}'(U, Y)$ . Then *T* has a unique extension *S* to  $\mathscr{E}(U, Y) \cap \{\theta : \operatorname{spt} \theta \cap \operatorname{spt} T \text{ is compact}\}$  characterised by the requirement

$$S(\theta) = S(\eta)$$
 whenever spt  $T \subset \text{Int}\{x : \theta(x) = \eta(x)\}$ .

The extension will usually be denoted by the same symbol, T.

**2.6** Suppose  $m, n, Q \in \mathscr{P}$  with m < n.

Following [14, 5.1.9], the projections  $\mathbf{p} \in \mathbf{O}^*(n, m)$ ,  $\mathbf{q} \in \mathbf{O}^*(n, n-m)$  are defined by

$$\mathbf{p}(z) = (z_1, \dots, z_m), \quad \mathbf{q}(z) = (z_{m+1}, \dots, z_n)$$

whenever  $z = (z_1, \ldots, z_n) \in \mathbf{R}^n$ . In the case where

$$z = \mathbf{p}^*(x) + \mathbf{q}^*(y) = (x_1, \dots, x_m, y_1, \dots, y_{n-m})$$
 for  $x \in \mathbf{R}^m, y \in \mathbf{R}^{n-m}$ ,

sometimes (x, y) will be written instead of z, f(x, y) instead of f(z) for functions f with dmn  $f \subset \mathbf{R}^n$ , and  $\mathbf{G}(n, m)$  instead of  $\mathbf{G}(\mathbf{R}^m \times \mathbf{R}^{n-m}, m)$ .

If U is an open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^m$ , A is an  $\mathscr{L}^m$  measurable subset of U,  $f : A \to \mathbb{Q}_Q(\mathbb{R}^{n-m})$  is Lipschitzian, and  $f_i$  for  $i \in I$  are as in 2.3, then defining  $V \in \mathbb{IV}_m(\mathbb{p}^{-1}[U])$  by the requirement

$$\|V\|(Z) = \int_{Z \cap \mathbf{p}^{-1}[A]} \mathbf{\Theta}^0(\|f(\mathbf{p}(z))\|, \mathbf{q}(z)) \, \mathrm{d}\mathscr{H}^m z$$

for every Borel subset Z of  $\mathbf{p}^{-1}[U]$ , a simple calculation shows

$$(\delta V)(\mathbf{q}^* \circ \theta \circ \mathbf{p}) = \sum_{i \in I} \int_{\mathrm{dmn}\, f_i} \langle D\theta(x), D\Psi_0^{\S}(\mathrm{ap}\, Df_i(x)) \rangle \,\mathrm{d}\mathscr{L}^m x$$

whenever  $\theta \in \mathscr{D}(U, \mathbf{R}^{n-m})$ ; here  $\Psi_0^{\$}$  denotes the nonparametric integrand at 0 associated with the area integrand  $\Psi$ , that is  $\Psi_0^{\$}$  : Hom $(\mathbf{R}^m, \mathbf{R}^{n-m}) \to \mathbf{R}$  with

$$\Psi_0^{\S}(\sigma) = \left(\sum_{i=0}^m |\bigwedge_i \sigma|^2\right)^{1/2} \text{ for } \sigma \in \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbf{R}^m, \mathbf{R}^{n-m}),$$

see [14, 5.1.9], and the convention 2.5 is used.

#### 3. Some Preliminaries

The purpose of this section is to list several known statements for convenient reference. This includes, in 3.1, some of Almgren's results on  $\mathbf{Q}_{\mathcal{Q}}(\mathbf{R}^l)$  valued functions obtained in [5, §1], and, in 3.2–3.14, adaptions of the approximation techniques of integral varifolds by such functions originating from ALMGREN [5, §3] and BRAKKE [7, §5] carried out by the author in [22–24].

**Theorem 3.1.** (see Almgren [5, 1.1(6), 1.2(3), 1.3(1)(2), 1.4(3)]) Suppose  $Q, l \in \mathcal{P}$ .

Then there exist  $P \in \mathscr{P}$  and maps  $\xi : \mathbf{Q}_Q(\mathbf{R}^l) \to \mathbf{R}^{PQ}$  and  $\varrho : \mathbf{R}^{PQ} \to \mathbf{R}^{PQ}$ such that

$$\begin{split} \xi(Q\llbracket 0 \rrbracket) &= 0, \quad \operatorname{Lip} \xi < \infty, \quad \xi \text{ is univalent, } \operatorname{Lip} \xi^{-1} < \infty, \\ \operatorname{Lip} \varrho < \infty, \quad \varrho \circ \varrho = \varrho, \quad \operatorname{im} \varrho = \operatorname{im} \xi, \\ |D(\xi \circ f)(x)| &\leq (\operatorname{Lip} \xi) |Af(x)| \quad for \ x \in \operatorname{dmn} D(\xi \circ f), \end{split}$$

whenever f maps an open subset of  $\mathbf{R}^m$  into  $\mathbf{Q}_Q(\mathbf{R}^l)$ . In particular, a function f mapping a subset of  $\mathbf{R}^m$  into  $\mathbf{Q}_Q(\mathbf{R}^l)$  admits an extension  $F : \mathbf{R}^m \to \mathbf{Q}_Q(\mathbf{R}^l)$  such that Lip  $F \leq \Gamma$  Lip f with  $\Gamma = \text{Lip } \xi \text{ Lip } \varrho \text{ Lip } \xi^{-1}$ .

**Lemma 3.2.** (see [22, A.7]) Suppose  $m, n \in \mathcal{P}, m < n, a \in \mathbb{R}^n, 0 < r < \infty$ ,  $V \in \mathbb{RV}_m(\mathbb{U}(a, r)), \|\delta V\|$  is a Radon measure,  $\Theta^m(\|V\|, z) \ge 1$  for  $\|V\|$  almost all  $z, a \in \operatorname{spt} \|V\|$ , and  $\alpha : \{s : 0 < s < r\} \to \mathbb{R}$  satisfies

$$\alpha(s) = \|V\| \mathbf{B}(a, s) \text{ whenever } 0 < s < r.$$

Then

$$\boldsymbol{\gamma}(m)^{-1} \leq \alpha(s)^{1/m-1}(\|\delta V\| \mathbf{B}(a,s) + \alpha'(s))$$

for  $\mathscr{L}^1$  almost all 0 < s < r.

**Remark 3.3.** A similar statement can be found in LEONARDI and MASNOU [21, Proposition 3.1].

**Lemma 3.4.** (see [23, 2.5]) Suppose  $m, n \in \mathcal{P}, m < n, a \in \mathbb{R}^n, 0 < r < \infty$ ,  $V \in \mathbb{RV}_m(\mathbb{U}(a, r)), \|\delta V\|$  is a Radon measure,  $\Theta^m(\|V\|, z) \ge 1$  for  $\|V\|$  almost all  $z, a \in \operatorname{spt} \|V\|$ , and

$$\|\delta V\| \mathbf{B}(a,s) \leq (2\gamma(m))^{-1} \|V\| (\mathbf{B}(a,s))^{1-1/m}$$
 whenever  $0 < s < r$ .

Then

$$||V|| \mathbf{B}(a, s) \geq (2m\boldsymbol{\gamma}(m))^{-m} s^{m}$$
 whenever  $0 < s < r$ .

**Remark 3.5.** Both 3.2 and 3.4 are variants of ALLARD [2, 8.3]. Moreover, in view of ALLARD [2, 5.5] one could replace  $\mathbf{RV}_m$  by  $\mathbf{V}_m$  in 3.2 and 3.4.

**Lemma 3.6.** (see [24, 3.1]) Suppose  $m, n \in \mathcal{P}, m < n, a \in \mathbb{R}^n, 0 < r < \infty$ ,  $T \in \mathbf{G}(n, m), V \in \mathbf{IV}_m(\mathbf{U}(a, r)), \delta V = 0, S = T$  for V almost all (z, S), and  $R(z) = \mathbf{U}(a, r) \cap \{\xi : \xi - z \in T\}$  for  $z \in \mathbb{R}^n$ .

Then  $T_{h}^{\perp}[\operatorname{spt} ||V||]$  is discrete and closed relative to  $T_{h}^{\perp}[\mathbf{U}(a, r)]$  and

 $\Theta^{m}(\|V\|, z) \in \mathscr{P} \text{ and } \|V\| \llcorner R(z) = \Theta^{m}(\|V\|, z)\mathcal{H}^{m} \llcorner R(z)$ 

whenever  $z \in \operatorname{spt} \|V\|$ .

**Remark 3.7.** This is a variant of ALMGREN [5, 3.6].

**Lemma 3.8.** (see [24, 3.2]) Suppose  $1 < n \in \mathcal{P}$ ,  $0 < \delta \leq 1$ ,  $0 \leq \lambda < 1$ , and  $0 \leq M < \infty$ .

Then there exists a positive, finite number  $\varepsilon$  with the following property. If  $n > m \in \mathscr{P}$ ,  $a \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $0 < r < \infty$ ,  $T \in \mathbb{G}(n, m)$ ,  $V \in \mathbb{IV}_m(\mathbb{U}(a, r))$  and

$$\begin{aligned} \|V\| \mathbf{U}(a,r) &\leq M \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m) r^m, \quad \|\delta V\| \mathbf{U}(a,r) \leq \varepsilon \|V\| (\mathbf{U}(a,r))^{1-1/m}, \\ \int |S_{\natural} - T_{\natural}| \, \mathrm{d}V(z,S) \leq \varepsilon \|V\| \mathbf{U}(a,r), \\ \|V\| \mathbf{B}(a,\varrho) &\geq \delta \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m) \varrho^m \quad for \ 0 < \varrho < r, \end{aligned}$$

then

$$\|V\|(\mathbf{U}(a,r)\cap\{z:|T_{\natural}(z-a)|>\lambda|z-a|\}) \ge (1-\delta)\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)r^{m}$$

**Proof.** Assume  $M \ge 1$  and take  $s = \lambda$ , d = 0, t = r, and  $\zeta = 0$  in [24, 3.2].  $\Box$ 

**Remark 3.9.** This is a simple consequence of Allard's compactness theorem for integral varifolds, see for example [2, 6.4] or [31, 42.8].

**Lemma 3.10.** (Multilayer monotonicity with variable offset, see [24, 3.11]) Suppose  $n, Q \in \mathcal{P}, 0 \leq M < \infty, \delta > 0$ , and  $0 \leq s < 1$ .

Then there exists a positive, finite number  $\varepsilon$  with the following property.

If  $n > m \in \mathcal{P}$ ,  $Z \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $T \in \mathbb{G}(n, m)$ ,  $0 \leq d < \infty$ ,  $0 < r < \infty$ ,  $0 < t < \infty$ ,  $f : Z \to \mathbb{R}^n$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} |T_{\natural}(z_1 - z_2)| &\leq s |z_1 - z_2|, \quad |T_{\natural}(f(z_1) - f(z_2))| \leq s |f(z_1) - f(z_2)|, \\ f(z) - z \in T \cap \mathbf{B}(0, d), \quad d \leq Mt, \quad d + t \leq r \end{aligned}$$

for  $z, z_1, z_2 \in Z$ ,  $V \in IV_m(\bigcup \{U(z, r) : z \in Z\})$ ,  $\|\delta V\|$  is a Radon measure,

$$\sum_{z \in \mathbb{Z}} \Theta_*^m(\|V\|, z) \ge Q - 1 + \delta, \quad \|V\| \operatorname{\mathbf{U}}(z, r) \le M \alpha(m) r^n$$

whenever  $z \in Z \cap \operatorname{spt} ||V||$ , and

$$\begin{aligned} \|\delta V\| \mathbf{B}(z,\varrho) &\leq \varepsilon \|V\| (\mathbf{B}(z,\varrho))^{1-1/m}, \\ \int_{\mathbf{B}(z,\varrho)\times\mathbf{G}(n,m)} |S_{\natural} - T_{\natural}| \, \mathrm{d}V(\xi,S) &\leq \varepsilon \|V\| \, \mathbf{B}(z,\varrho), \end{aligned}$$

whenever  $0 < \varrho < r, z \in Z \cap \operatorname{spt} ||V||$ , then

$$\|V\|\left(\bigcup\left\{\mathbf{U}(f(z),t)\cap\{\xi:|T_{\natural}(\xi-z)|>s|\xi-z|\}:z\in Z\right\}\right)\geq (Q-\delta)\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)t^{m}.$$

**Remark 3.11.** This is an extension of BRAKKE [7, 5.3].

**Lemma 3.12.** (see [24, 3.12]) Suppose  $m, n, Q \in \mathcal{P}, m < n, 0 < \delta_1 \leq 1, 0 < \delta_2 \leq 1, 0 \leq s < 1, 0 \leq s_0 < 1, 0 \leq M < \infty$ , and  $0 < \lambda < 1$  is uniquely defined by the requirement

$$(1 - \lambda^2)^{m/2} = (1 - \delta_2) + \left(\frac{(s_0)^2}{1 - (s_0)^2}\right)^{m/2} \lambda^m$$

Then there exists a positive, finite number  $\varepsilon$  with the following property. If  $Z \subset \mathbf{R}^n$ ,  $T \in \mathbf{G}(n, m)$ ,  $0 \leq d < \infty$ ,  $0 < r < \infty$ ,  $0 < t < \infty$ ,  $\zeta \in \mathbf{R}^n$ ,

card  $T_{\natural}[Z] = 1$ ,  $\zeta \in T \cap \mathbf{B}(0, d)$ ,  $d \leq Mt$ ,  $d + t \leq r$ ,

 $V \in IV_m(\bigcup \{U(z, r) : z \in Z\}), \|\delta V\|$  is a Radon measure,

$$\Theta^{m}(\|V\|, z) \in \mathscr{P} \text{ for } z \in Z,$$
  

$$\sum_{z \in Z} \Theta^{m}(\|V\|, z) = Q, \quad \|V\| \mathbf{U}(z, r) \leq M \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m) r^{m} \text{ for } z \in Z$$

and whenever  $0 < \varrho < r, z \in Z$ 

$$\|\delta V\| \mathbf{B}(z,\varrho) \leq \varepsilon \|V\| (\mathbf{B}(z,\varrho))^{1-1/m},$$
  
$$\int_{\mathbf{B}(z,\varrho) \times \mathbf{G}(n,m)} |S_{\natural} - T_{\natural}| \, \mathrm{d}V(\xi,S) \leq \varepsilon \|V\| \mathbf{B}(z,\varrho)$$

satisfying

$$||V|| \left( \bigcup \{ \mathbf{U}(z+\zeta,t) \cap \{\xi : |T_{\natural}(\xi-z)| > s_0|\xi-z|\} : z \in Z \} \right)$$
  
$$\leq (Q+1-\delta_2)\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)t^m,$$

then the following two statements hold:

(1) If  $0 < \tau \leq \lambda t$ , then

 $\|V\|\left(\bigcup\{\mathbf{B}(z,\tau):z\in Z\}\right)\leq (Q+\delta_1)\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)\tau^m.$ 

(2) If  $\xi \in \mathbf{R}^n$  with dist $(\xi, Z) \leq \lambda t/2$  and

$$\|V\| \mathbf{B}(\xi, \varrho) \ge \delta_1 \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m) \varrho^m \text{ for } 0 < \varrho < \delta_1 \operatorname{dist}(\xi, Z),$$

then for some  $z \in Z$ 

$$|T_{\natural}(\xi - z)| \ge s|\xi - z|.$$

**3.13** (see [24, 3.13]) *If*  $m, n \in \mathcal{P}$ , m < n, and  $S, T \in G(n, m)$ , then

$$1 - \left\| \bigwedge_m (T_{\natural}|S) \right\|^2 \leq m \|T_{\natural} - S_{\natural}\|^2.$$

**Lemma 3.14.** (Approximation by  $\mathbf{Q}_Q(\mathbf{R}^{n-m})$  valued functions, see [24, 3.15]) Suppose  $m, n, Q \in \mathcal{P}, m < n, 0 < L < \infty, 1 \leq M < \infty, and 0 < \delta_i \leq 1$ for  $i \in \{1, 2, 3, 4, 5\}$  with  $\delta_5 \leq (2\gamma(m)m)^{-m}/\alpha(m)$ .

Then there exists a positive, finite number  $\varepsilon$  with the following property. If  $0 < r < \infty$ ,  $0 < h \leq \infty$ ,  $h > 2\delta_4 r$ ,  $T = \operatorname{im} \mathbf{p}^*$ ,

$$U = (\mathbf{R}^{m} \times \mathbf{R}^{n-m}) \cap \{(x, y) : dist((x, y), \mathbf{C}(0, r, h, T)) < 2r\},\$$

 $V \in \mathbf{IV}_m(U)$ ,  $\|\delta V\|$  is a Radon measure,

$$\begin{aligned} (Q-1+\delta_1)\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)r^m &\leq \|V\|(\mathbf{C}(0,r,h,T)) \leq (Q+1-\delta_2)\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)r^m, \\ \|V\|(\mathbf{C}(0,r,h+\delta_4r,T) \sim \mathbf{C}(0,r,h-2\delta_4r,T)) \leq (1-\delta_3)\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)r^m, \\ \|V\|(U) \leq M\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)r^m, \end{aligned}$$

 $0 < \delta \leq \varepsilon$ , *B* denotes the set of all  $z \in \mathbb{C}(0, r, h, T)$  with  $\Theta^{*m}(||V||, z) > 0$  such that

$$\begin{array}{l} \mbox{either} \quad \|\delta V\| \, \mathbf{B}(z,\varrho) > \delta \, \|V\| (\mathbf{B}(z,\varrho))^{1-1/m} \quad \mbox{for some } 0 < \varrho < 2r, \\ \mbox{or} \quad \int_{\mathbf{B}(z,\varrho) \times \mathbf{G}(n,m)} |S_{\natural} - T_{\natural}| \, \mathrm{d}V(\xi,S) > \delta \, \|V\| \, \mathbf{B}(z,\varrho) \quad \mbox{for some } 0 < \varrho < 2r, \end{array}$$

 $A = \mathbf{C}(T, 0, r, h) \sim B$ ,  $A(x) = A \cap \{z : \mathbf{p}(z) = x\}$  for  $x \in \mathbf{R}^m$ ,  $X_1$  is the set of all  $x \in \mathbf{R}^m \cap \mathbf{B}(0, r)$  such that

$$\sum_{z \in A(x)} \Theta^m(\|V\|, z) = Q \quad and \quad \Theta^m(\|V\|, z) \in \mathscr{P} \cup \{0\} \quad for \ z \in A(x),$$

 $X_2$  is the set of all  $x \in \mathbf{R}^m \cap \mathbf{B}(0, r)$  such that

$$\sum_{z \in A(x)} \Theta^m(\|V\|, z) \leq Q - 1 \quad and \quad \Theta^m(\|V\|, z) \in \mathscr{P} \cup \{0\} \quad for \ z \in A(x),$$

 $N = \mathbf{R}^m \cap \mathbf{B}(0, r) \sim (X_1 \cup X_2), f : X_1 \rightarrow \mathbf{Q}_Q(\mathbf{R}^{n-m})$  is characterised by the requirement

$$\boldsymbol{\Theta}^{m}(\|V\|, z) = \boldsymbol{\Theta}^{0}(\|f(x)\|, \mathbf{q}(z)) \text{ whenever } x \in X_{1} \text{ and } z \in A(x),$$

and *H* denotes the set of all  $z \in C(0, r, h, T)$  such that

$$\begin{split} \|\delta V\| \mathbf{U}(z,2r) &\leq \varepsilon \|V\| (\mathbf{U}(z,2r))^{1-1/m},\\ \int_{\mathbf{U}(z,2r)\times \mathbf{G}(n,m)} |S_{\natural} - T_{\natural}| \, \mathrm{d}V(\xi,S) \leq \varepsilon \|V\| \mathbf{U}(z,2r),\\ \|V\| \mathbf{B}(z,\varrho) &\geq \delta_5 \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m) \varrho^m \quad for \ 0 < \varrho < 2r, \end{split}$$

then the following six statements hold:

(1)  $\mathscr{L}^m(N) = 0.$ 

(2) A and B are Borel sets and

 $\mathbf{q}[A \cap \operatorname{spt} \|V\|] \subset \mathbf{B}(0, h - \delta_4 r).$ 

- (3) The function f is Lipschitzian with Lip  $f \leq L$ .
- (4) For  $\mathcal{L}^m$  almost all  $x \in X_1$  the following is true:
  - (a) *The function f is approximately strongly affinely approximable at x.*
  - (b) If  $(x, y) \in \operatorname{graph}_Q f$  then

 $\operatorname{Tan}^{m}(\|V\|, (x, y)) = \operatorname{Tan}\left(\operatorname{graph}_{O}\operatorname{ap} Af(x), (x, y)\right) \in \mathbf{G}(n, m).$ 

(5) If  $z \in H$ , then  $|\mathbf{q}(z)| \leq h - \delta_4 r$  and for  $x \in X_1 \cap \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{p}(z), \lambda_{(5)}r)$  there exists  $\xi \in A(x)$  satisfying

$$\Theta^m(||V||,\xi) \in \mathscr{P} \text{ and } |T_{\natural}^{\perp}(\xi-z)| \leq L |T_{\natural}(\xi-z)|,$$

where  $0 < \lambda_{(5)} < 1$  depends only on m,  $\delta_2$ , and  $\delta_4$ . Moreover,

$$A \cap \operatorname{spt} ||V|| \subset H$$
 and  $H \cap \mathbf{p}^{-1}[X_1] = \operatorname{graph}_Q f$ .

(6)  $(\mathcal{L}^m + \mathbf{p}_{\#}(||V|| \sqcup H)) ((\operatorname{Clos} X_1) \sim X_1) = 0.$ 

**Proof.** Assume r = 1. First, note that the sets *Y* and *Z* defined in the last paragraph of the proof of [24, 3.15(1)(2)] equal  $X_1$  and  $X_2$  and are shown there to satisfy  $\mathscr{L}^m(\mathbf{B}(0, 1) \sim (X \cup Y)) = 0$ . Hence part (1) is evident and the parts (2), (3), (4a), (5), and (6) correspond to parts (2), (1), (7a), (4), and (5) of [24, 3.15] respectively. Finally, part (4b) is implied by [24, 3.15(7b)] in conjunction with the last statement of [24, 3.15(4)].  $\Box$ 

**Lemma 3.15.** Suppose  $k, m, n \in \mathcal{P}, m < n, a \in \mathbb{R}^m, 0 < r < \infty$ , and  $u : U(a, r) \to \mathbb{R}^{n-m}$  is of class k.

Then

$$\sum_{i=0}^{k} r^{i} |D^{i}u|_{\infty;a,r} \leq \Gamma\left(r^{k} |D^{k}u|_{\infty;a,r} + r^{-m} |u|_{1;a,r}\right)$$

where  $\Gamma$  is a positive, finite number depending only on k and n.

**Proof.** Assuming r = 1, this is a consequence of Ehring's lemma, see for example [35, Theorem I.7.3], and Arzelà's and Ascoli's theorem.  $\Box$ 

**Lemma 3.16.** Suppose  $m, n \in \mathcal{P}, m < n, a \in \mathbb{R}^m, 0 < r < \infty$ , and  $u \in W^{1,2}(U(a,r), \mathbb{R}^{n-m})$ .

Then there exists  $h \in \mathbf{R}^{n-m}$  with

$$|u-h|_{2;a,r} \leq \Gamma r |\mathbf{D}u|_{2;a,r}$$

where  $\Gamma$  is a positive, finite number depending only on n.

**Proof.** This is Poincaré's inequality, see for example [17, (7.45)].

## 4. A Coercive Estimate

In the present section two improved versions of BRAKKE's coercive estimate in [7, 5.5] are derived in 4.10 and 4.14. First, some computations for the catenoid are carried out in 4.2 which are used in 4.13 to rule out a certain generalisation of the coercive estimate. Then, some basic facts about approximate differentiability with respect to the weight measure of a varifold are given in 4.5 which are needed to construct a cut-off function in 4.7. Finally, the coercive estimate for rectifiable varifolds satisfying a lower bound on the density is proven in 4.10 and a simpler version for general varifolds is indicated in 4.14.

**4.1** The following estimates from ALLARD [2, 8.9(5)] will be frequently used: Suppose  $m, n \in \mathcal{P}, m < n, T \in \mathbf{G}(n, m)$  and  $\eta_1, \eta_2 \in \text{Hom}(S, S^{\perp})$ . If

$$S_i = \{z + \eta_i(z) : z \in S\}$$
 for  $i = 1, 2,$ 

then

$$\|(S_1)_{\natural} - (S_2)_{\natural}\| \leq \|\eta_1 - \eta_2\|,$$
  
$$\left(1 - \|(S_1)_{\natural} - S_{\natural}\|^2\right)\|\eta_1 - \eta_2\|^2 \leq \left(1 + \|\eta_2\|^2\right)\|(S_1)_{\natural} - (S_2)_{\natural}\|^2.$$

**Example 4.2.** Suppose m = 2, n = 3, and  $f : \mathbf{R} \cap \{t : 1 \leq t < \infty\} \rightarrow \mathbf{R}$  as well as N, T, and  $P_R$  are defined by

$$f(t) = \log \left( t + (t^2 - 1)^{1/2} \right) \text{ for } 1 \leq t < \infty,$$
  

$$N = \mathbf{R}^3 \cap \{ z : |\mathbf{q}(z)| = f(|\mathbf{p}(z)|) \}, \quad T = \operatorname{im} \mathbf{p}^*,$$
  

$$P_R = \mathbf{R}^3 \cap \{ z : |\mathbf{q}(z)| = \log(2R) \} \text{ for } 2 \leq R < \infty.$$

Then there exists a universal, positive, finite number  $\Gamma$  with the following two properties:

- (1)  $\int_{\mathbf{R}^3 \cap \mathbf{B}(0,R)} |\operatorname{dist}(z, P_R)|^2 d(\mathscr{H}^2 \sqcup N) z \leq \Gamma R^2 \text{ for } 2 \leq R < \infty.$
- (2)  $\int_{\mathbf{R}^3 \cap \mathbf{B}(0,R)} |\operatorname{Tan}(N,z)_{\natural} T_{\natural}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}(\mathscr{H}^2 \sqcup N)z \ge \Gamma^{-1} \log R \quad \text{for } 2 \le R < \infty.$

# Construction of example. First, note

$$f'(t) = \frac{1}{t + (t^2 - 1)^{1/2}} \cdot \left(1 + \frac{t}{(t^2 - 1)^{1/2}}\right) \quad \text{for } 1 < t < \infty,$$

hence  $(\Gamma_1)^{-1}t^{-1} \leq f'(t) \leq \Gamma_1 t^{-1}$  for  $2 \leq t < \infty$  and some universal, positive, finite number  $\Gamma_1$ , in particular Lip  $f | \mathbf{R} \cap \{s : s \geq 2\} < \infty$ .

To prove (1), one estimates

$$\int_{\mathbf{C}(T,0,R)\sim\mathbf{C}(T,0,2)} \operatorname{dist}(z, P_R)^2 \operatorname{d}(\mathscr{H}^2 \sqcup N)z \leq \Gamma_2(a_1 + a_2)$$

where  $\Gamma_2$  is a universal, positive, finite number and

$$a_1 = \int_{\mathbf{B}(0,R) \sim \mathbf{B}(0,2)} |\log(2R) - \log(2|x|)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\mathscr{L}^2 x,$$
  
$$a_2 = \int_{\mathbf{B}(0,R) \sim \mathbf{B}(0,2)} |\log(2|x|) - f(|x|)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\mathscr{L}^2 x.$$

Concerning  $a_1$ , note

$$a_1 = 2\pi \int_2^R |\log(t/R)|^2 t \, \mathrm{d}\mathscr{L}^1 t \leq 2\pi R^2 \int_0^1 |\log(t)|^2 t \, \mathrm{d}\mathscr{L}^1 t < \infty.$$

To estimate  $a_2$ , define  $h : \mathbf{R} \cap \{t : t > 0\} \to \mathbf{R}$  by  $h(t) = t^{1/2}$  and note for  $2 \leq t < \infty$ 

$$|\log(2t) - \log(t + (t^{2} - 1)^{1/2})| \leq \operatorname{Lip}(\log |\mathbf{R} \cap \{s : s \geq t\})|t - (t^{2} - 1)^{1/2}|$$
  
$$\leq t^{-1}\operatorname{Lip}(h|\mathbf{R} \cap \{s : s \geq (t^{2} - 1)\}) \leq t^{-1}2^{-1}(t^{2} - 1)^{-1/2} \leq 2^{-1/2}t^{-2},$$

hence  $a_2 \leq \pi \int_2^R t^{-3} d\mathscr{L}^1 t \leq \pi/8$ . Together, the estimates for  $a_1$  and  $a_2$  yield (1). By 4.1, it follows

$$\|\operatorname{Tan}(N, z)_{\natural} - T_{\natural}\| \leq f'(|\mathbf{p}(z)|) \leq \Gamma_1 |\mathbf{p}(z)|^{-1}$$

for  $z \in N \sim \mathbb{C}(T, 0, 2)$ , hence by 4.1 with S,  $S_1$ ,  $S_2$  replaced by T, Tan(N, z), T,

$$|\operatorname{Tan}(N, z)_{\natural} - T_{\natural}| \ge ||\operatorname{Tan}(N, z)_{\natural} - T_{\natural}|| \ge f'(|\mathbf{p}(z)|)/2 \ge (2\Gamma_1)^{-1}|\mathbf{p}(z)|^{-1}$$

for  $z \in N \sim \mathbb{C}(T, 0, 2\Gamma_1)$ . Noting for  $2 \leq R < \infty$ 

$$f(t) \leq f(R) \leq 2R$$
 for  $1 \leq t \leq R$ ,  $N \cap \mathbf{C}(T, 0, R) \subset \mathbf{R}^3 \cap \mathbf{B}(0, 3R)$ ,

this implies for  $2 \sup\{\Gamma_1, 1\} \leq R < \infty$  that

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbf{R}^3 \cap \mathbf{B}(0,3R)} |\operatorname{Tan}(N,z)_{\natural} - T_{\natural}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}(\mathscr{H}^2 \llcorner N)z \\ & \geqq \int_{\mathbf{C}(T,0,R)} \sim C(T,0,2\Gamma_1) |\operatorname{Tan}(N,z)_{\natural} - T_{\natural}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}(\mathscr{H}^2 \llcorner N)z \\ & \geqq (2\Gamma_1)^{-2} \int_{2\Gamma_1}^R t^{-1} \, \mathrm{d}\mathscr{L}^1 t = (2\Gamma_1)^{-2} \log(R/(2\Gamma_1)). \end{split}$$

Since  $\int_{\mathbf{R}^3 \cap \mathbf{B}(0,2)} |\operatorname{Tan}(N, z)_{\natural} - T_{\natural}|^2 d(\mathscr{H}^2 \sqcup N)z > 0$ , one infers (2).  $\Box$ 

**4.3** The following situation will be studied:  $m, n \in \mathcal{P}, m < n, 1 \leq p \leq \infty, U$  is an open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $V \in \mathbb{V}_m(U)$ ,  $\|\delta V\|$  is a Radon measure and, if p > 1,

$$(\delta V)(g) = -\int gz \bullet \mathbf{h}(V; z) \, \mathrm{d} \|V\|z \quad \text{whenever } g \in \mathscr{D}(U, \mathbf{R}^n),$$
  
$$\mathbf{h}(V; \cdot) \in \mathbf{L}_p(\|V\| \sqcup K, \mathbf{R}^n) \quad \text{whenever } K \text{ is a compact subset of } U.$$

If  $p < \infty$  then the measure  $\psi$  is defined by

$$\psi = \|\delta V\|$$
 if  $p = 1$ ,  $\psi = |\mathbf{h}(V; \cdot)|^p \|V\|$  if  $p > 1$ .

**4.4** Suppose m, n, p = 1, U and V are as in 4.3. Then  $\delta V \in \mathscr{D}'(U, \mathbb{R}^n)$  will be extended to  $\mathbf{L}_1(\|\delta V\|, \mathbb{R}^n)$  by continuity with respect to  $\|\delta V\|_{(1)}$  and  $(\delta V)(g)$  will be used to denote this extension for  $g \in \mathbf{L}_1(\|\delta V\|, \mathbb{R}^n)$  as in [14, 4.1.5].

**Lemma 4.5.** Suppose  $m, n \in \mathcal{P}, m \leq n, U$  is an open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , and  $V \in \mathbb{RV}_m(U)$ .

Then the following four statements hold:

- (1) If  $f: U \to \mathbf{R}$  is ||V|| measurable and A denotes the set of all  $z \in U$  such that f is (||V||, m) approximately differentiable at z, then A is ||V|| measurable and (||V||, m) ap  $Df(z) \circ \operatorname{Tan}^m(||V||, z)_{\natural}$  depends  $||V|| \sqcup A$  measurably on z.
- (2) If  $f : U \to \mathbf{R}$  is Lipschitzian, then f is (||V||, m) approximately differentiable at ||V|| almost all z.
- (3) If  $f_i : U \to \mathbf{R}$  is a sequence of functions converging locally uniformly to  $f : U \to \mathbf{R}$  and  $\sup\{\text{Lip } f_i : i \in \mathcal{P}\} < \infty$ , then

 $\int \langle g(z), (||V||, m) \operatorname{ap} Df_i(z) \rangle \, \mathrm{d} ||V|| z \to \int \langle g(z), (||V||, m) \operatorname{ap} Df(z) \rangle \, \mathrm{d} ||V|| z$ 

as  $i \to \infty$  whenever  $g \in \mathbf{L}_1(||V||, \mathbf{R}^n)$  with  $g(z) \in \operatorname{Tan}^m(||V||, z)$  for ||V||almost all z.

(4) If  $f : U \to \mathbf{R}^n$  is a Lipschitzian function with compact support in U and  $\|\delta V\|$  is a Radon measure, then (see 4.4)

$$\delta V(f) = \int S_{\natural} \bullet ((\|V\|, m) \operatorname{ap} Df(z) \circ S_{\natural}) \, \mathrm{d} V(z, S).$$

**Proof of (1) and (2).** Since  $||V||(U \cap \{z : \Theta^{*m}(||V||, z) = \infty\}) = 0$ , a set *B* is ||V|| measurable if and only if  $B \cap \{z : \Theta^{*m}(||V||, z) > 0\}$  is  $\mathscr{H}^m$  measurable by [14, 2.10.19(1)(3)]. Hence (1) and (2) follow from [14, 3.2.17–19, 3.1.4, 2.10.19(4), 2.9.9].  $\Box$ 

**Proof of (3).** Clearly, the assertion needs to be verified only for elements *g* of some subset *X* of  $\mathbf{L}_1(||V||, \mathbf{R}^n)$  whose span is  $||V||_{(1)}$  dense in  $\mathbf{L}_1(||V||, \mathbf{R}^n) \cap \{g:g(z) \in \operatorname{Tan}^m(||V||, z) \text{ for } z \in U\}$ . Therefore, one may first assume  $||V|| = \mathscr{H}^m \sqcup W$  for some  $(\mathscr{H}^m, m)$  rectifiable and  $\mathscr{H}^m$  measurable subset of *U* by [14, 3.2.19, 2.10.19(4), 2.9.9] and then m = n,  $||V|| = \mathscr{L}^m$  by [14, 3.2.17–20, 3.1.5, 2.9.11]. This case can be treated with  $X = \mathscr{D}(\mathbf{R}^m, \mathbf{R}^m)$  using partial integration.  $\Box$ 

**Proof of** (4). (3) readily implies (4) by means of convolution.  $\Box$ 

**Remark 4.6.** Concerning the possible use of (||V||, m) approximate differentials for a similar purpose, see FEDERER [15, §2, p. 415]. Also, an argument similar to the proof of (3) and (4) is indicated in HUTCHINSON [18, p. 60].

**Lemma 4.7.** Suppose m, n, p, U, V, and  $\psi$  are as in 4.3,  $p < m, V \in \mathbf{RV}_m(U)$ ,  $\Theta^m(||V||, z) \ge 1$  for ||V|| almost all z, K is a compact subset of U,  $0 < \delta \le \frac{1}{40}$ , and H is the set of all  $z \in \text{spt} ||V||$  such that

 $\|V\| \mathbf{B}(z,r) \ge \delta^m (\boldsymbol{\gamma}(m)m)^{-m} r^m \text{ whenever } 0 < r < \infty, \mathbf{B}(z,r) \subset K.$ 

Then there exists a Baire function  $f: U \to \mathbf{R} \cap \{t: 0 \leq t \leq 1\}$  satisfying for  $g \in \mathcal{D}(U, \mathbf{R}^n)$ 

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{R}^{n} &\cap \{z : f(z) \neq 0\} \subset K, \quad \|V\| (U \cap \{z : f(z) \neq 1\} \sim H) = 0, \\ f \text{ is } (\|V\|, m) \text{ approximately differentiable at } \|V\| \text{ almost all } z, \\ \int S_{\natural} \bullet Dg(z) f(z) \, \mathrm{d}V(z, S) &= \delta V(fg) - \int \left\langle S_{\natural}(g(z)), \operatorname{ap} Df(z) \right\rangle \, \mathrm{d}V(z, S), \\ \|V\|_{(p)}(|\operatorname{ap} Df|) &\leq \delta (400)^{m} \, \psi(K)^{1/p}, \\ \|V\|(U \cap \{z : f(z) \neq 0\}) &\leq \Gamma \, \psi(K)^{m/(m-p)}, \end{split}$$

(see 4.4) where  $\Gamma = ((400)^m \gamma(m)m)^{mp/(m-p)}$ .

**Proof.** Let  $B = (U \sim H) \cap \{z : \Theta_*^m(||V||, z) \ge 1\}$  and assume  $B \ne \emptyset$ . First, the following assertion will be shown: Whenever  $z \in B$  there exists  $0 < t < \infty$  such that  $\mathbf{B}(z, 10t) \subset K$  and

$$t^{-1} \|V\| \mathbf{B}(z, 10t))^{1/p} \leq \delta(400)^m \,\psi(\mathbf{B}(z, t))^{1/p}, \\ \|V\| \mathbf{B}(z, 10t) \leq \Gamma \,\psi(\mathbf{B}(z, t))^{m/(m-p)}.$$

For this purpose, choose  $0 < r < \infty$  with  $\mathbf{B}(z, r) \subset K$  and

 $\|V\| \mathbf{B}(z,r) \leq \delta^m (\boldsymbol{\gamma}(m)m)^{-m} r^m,$ 

let *P* denote the set of all  $0 < t \leq r$  such that

$$\|V\| \mathbf{B}(z,t) \leq (20\delta)^m (\boldsymbol{\gamma}(m)m)^{-m} t^m$$

and Q the set of all  $0 < t \leq \frac{r}{20}$  such that  $\{s : t \leq s \leq 20t\} \subset P$ . One notes for  $\frac{r}{20} \leq s \leq r$ 

$$s^{-m} \|V\| \mathbf{B}(z,s) \leq (20)^m r^{-m} \|V\| \mathbf{B}(z,r) \leq (20\delta)^m (\boldsymbol{\gamma}(m)m)^{-m}$$

hence  $\frac{r}{20} \in Q$ . Let  $\varrho = \inf Q$  and note  $\varrho > 0$  since  $20\delta < 1$  and  $(\boldsymbol{\gamma}(m)m)^{-m} \leq \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)$ . Clearly,  $\{s : \varrho \leq s \leq 20\varrho\} \subset P$ . Also, whenever  $\varrho \leq s \leq 20\varrho$ 

$$s^{-m} \|V\| \mathbf{B}(z,s) \ge (20)^{-m} \varrho^{-m} \|V\| \mathbf{B}(z,\varrho) = \delta^m (\boldsymbol{\gamma}(m)m)^{-m}$$

because  $\rho \in \text{Clos}(\{s : s < \rho\} \sim P)$ .

Define  $\alpha : \{s : 0 < s < r\} \rightarrow \mathbf{R} \text{ and } \beta : \{s : 0 < s < r\} \rightarrow \mathbf{R}$  by

$$\alpha(s) = \|V\| \mathbf{B}(z,s), \quad \beta(s) = \psi(\mathbf{B}(z,s))^{1/p}$$

whenever 0 < s < r. Then by 3.2

$$\boldsymbol{\gamma}(m)^{-1} \leq \alpha(s)^{1/m-1}(\|\delta V\| \mathbf{B}(z,s) + \alpha'(s))$$

for  $\mathscr{L}^1$  almost all 0 < s < r, hence by Hölder's inequality

$$(m\boldsymbol{\gamma}(m))^{-1} \leq \alpha(s)^{1/m-1/p}\beta(s) + (\alpha^{1/m})'(s)$$

for  $\mathscr{L}^1$  almost all 0 < s < r. This inequality implies the existence of  $\rho < t < 2\rho$  satisfying

$$t^{-1}\alpha(10t)^{1/p} \leq \delta(400)^m \beta(t);$$

in fact if this were not the case, then for  $\mathscr{L}^1$  almost all  $\varrho < s < 2\varrho$ , recalling  $\{s, 10s\} \subset P$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} (\boldsymbol{\gamma}(m)m)^{-1} - (\alpha^{1/m})'(s) &< \alpha(s)^{1/m-1/p} (400)^{-m} \delta^{-1} s^{-1} \alpha (10s)^{1/p} \\ &\leq (1/2) (\boldsymbol{\gamma}(m)m)^{-1}, \\ (20\delta) (\boldsymbol{\gamma}(m)m)^{-1} &\leq (1/2) (\boldsymbol{\gamma}(m)m)^{-1} < (\alpha^{1/m})'(s), \end{aligned}$$

hence, using  $\alpha^{1/m}(\varrho) = (20\delta)(\gamma(m)m)^{-1}\varrho$  and [14, 2.9.19] or [1, 3.29], one would obtain for  $\varrho < s < 2\varrho$ 

$$\alpha^{1/m}(s) \ge \alpha^{1/m}(\varrho) + \int_{\varrho}^{s} (\alpha^{1/m})'(t) \, \mathrm{d}\mathscr{L}^{1}t > (20\delta)(\boldsymbol{\gamma}(m)m)^{-1}s, \quad s \notin P.$$

The second part of the assertion now follows, noting  $10t \leq 20\varrho$ , from

$$||V|| (\mathbf{B}(z, 10t))^{1/p - 1/m} \leq t^{-1} \delta^{-1} \boldsymbol{\gamma}(m) m ||V|| (\mathbf{B}(z, 10t))^{1/p} \leq (400)^m \boldsymbol{\gamma}(m) m \psi (\mathbf{B}(z, t))^{1/p}.$$

By the preceding assertion and Vitali's covering theorem, see for example [14, 2.8.5] or [31, 3.3], there exist a nonempty, countable set *I* and  $z_i \in B$ ,  $0 < t_i < \infty$  and  $u_i : U \rightarrow \mathbf{R}$  for  $i \in I$  such that

$$u_i(z) = \sup\{0, 1 - \operatorname{dist}(z, \mathbf{B}(z_i, 5t_i))/t_i\} \text{ for } z \in U, i \in I,$$
  

$$\operatorname{spt} u_i \subset \mathbf{B}(z_i, 10t_i) \subset K \text{ for } i \in I,$$
  

$$\mathbf{B}(z_i, t_i) \cap \mathbf{B}(z_j, t_j) = \emptyset \text{ whenever } i, j \in I, i \neq j,$$
  

$$\|V\|_{(p)}(|\operatorname{ap} Du_i|) \leq \delta(400)^m \psi(\mathbf{B}(z_i, t_i))^{1/p},$$
  

$$\|V\| \mathbf{B}(z_i, 10t_i) \leq \Gamma \psi(\mathbf{B}(z_i, t_i))^{m/(m-p)},$$
  

$$B \subset \bigcup\{\mathbf{B}(z_i, 5t_i) : i \in I\}.$$

Define  $v_J: U \to \mathbf{R}$  by

$$v_J(z) = \sup(\{0\} \cup \{u_j(z) : j \in J\}) \text{ for } z \in U$$

whenever  $J \subset I$ , and  $f = v_I$ . Note  $0 \leq f \leq 1$  and

 $u_i(z) = 1$  whenever  $z \in \mathbf{B}(z_i, 5t_i), i \in I$ , f(z) = 1 for  $z \in B$ .

Noting 4.5(2) and defining  $g = \sup\{|ap Du_i| : i \in I\}$ , one estimates for  $J \subset I$ 

$$\begin{split} \|V\|_{(p)}(g)^{p} &\leq \sum_{i \in I} \|V\|_{(p)}(|\operatorname{ap} Du_{i}|)^{p} \\ &\leq \delta^{p}(400)^{mp} \sum_{i \in I} \psi \mathbf{B}(z_{i}, t_{i}) \leq \delta^{p}(400)^{mp} \psi(K), \\ \|V\|(U \cap \{z \colon f(z) > v_{J}(z)\}) \\ &\leq \sum_{i \in I \sim J} \|V\| \mathbf{B}(z_{i}, 10t_{i}) \leq \Gamma \sum_{i \in I \sim J} \psi(\mathbf{B}(z_{i}, t_{i}))^{m/(m-p)} \\ &\leq \Gamma \left(\sum_{i \in I \sim J} \psi \mathbf{B}(z_{i}, t_{i})\right)^{m/(m-p)} \leq \Gamma \psi(K)^{m/(m-p)}. \end{split}$$

Choose a sequence J(k) with  $J(k) \subset J(k+1) \subset I$ , card  $J(k) < \infty$  for  $k \in \mathscr{P}$ and  $\bigcup \{J(k) : k \in \mathscr{P}\} = I$ . Then

$$\|V\|\left(U\cap\bigcap\left\{\{z:f(z)>v_{J(k)}(z)\}:k\in\mathscr{P}\right\}\right)=0,$$

hence f is (||V||, m) approximately differentiable at ||V|| almost all z and

$$\sup\{|\operatorname{ap} Dv_{J(k)}(z)|, |\operatorname{ap} Df(z)|\} \leq g(z) \quad \text{for } ||V|| \text{ almost all } z,$$
$$||V||_{(p)}(|\operatorname{ap} Dv_{J(k)} - \operatorname{ap} Df|) \to 0 \quad \text{as } k \to \infty$$

by [14, 2.10.19(4)] or [31, 3.5] and 4.5(1). The integral formula holds with f replaced by  $v_{J(k)}$  for  $k \in \mathscr{P}$  by 4.5(4), hence, taking the limit  $k \to \infty$ , also for f.

**Remark 4.8.** The function f cannot be required to be continuous at ||V|| almost all z. To prove this let  $mp/(m - p) < \eta < \infty$ , n = m + 1,  $U = \mathbb{R}^n$ , apply [23, 1.2] with  $\alpha_1 q_1 = \alpha_2 q_2 = \eta$  to obtain  $\mu$  and T and define V by the requirement  $||V|| = \mu$ . Take  $\xi \in T$  with  $\Theta^m(\psi, \xi) = 0$ ; the existence of such  $\xi$  follows from [14, 2.10.19(4)] or [31, 3.5] as  $\psi(T) = 0$ . (Alternately, it follows from the estimates in [23, 1.2] that one can take any  $\xi \in T$ .) Let  $0 < r \leq 1$  and  $K = \mathbb{B}(\xi, 2r)$ . One verifies the existence of  $\varepsilon > 0$  depending only on V,  $\delta$ ,  $\eta$ , and m such that

$$\mathbf{B}(\xi, r) \cap \{z : 0 < \operatorname{dist}(z, T) \leq \varepsilon\} \cap H = \emptyset.$$

Therefore any such function f would have to satisfy f(z) = 1 for ||V|| almost all  $z \in T \cap \mathbf{U}(\xi, r)$ , hence

$$||V||(U \cap \{z : f(z) \neq 0\}) \ge \alpha(m)r^m$$

which would be incompatible with the last inequality of 4.7 for small *r* even if  $\Gamma$  would be allowed to depend additionally on *V* and  $\delta$ .

**4.9** If  $a \ge 0, b \ge 0, c > 0$  and d > 0 then

 $\inf\{at^{c} + bt^{-d} : 0 < t < \infty\} = \left( (d/c)^{c/(c+d)} + (d/c)^{-d/(c+d)} \right) a^{d/(c+d)} b^{c/(c+d)}.$ 

**Lemma 4.10.** Suppose m, n, p, U, V, and  $\psi$  are as in 4.3, p < m,  $V \in \mathbf{RV}_m(U)$ ,  $\Theta^m(||V||, z) \ge 1$  for ||V|| almost all z, K is a compact subset of U, H is the set of all  $z \in \text{spt } ||V||$  such that

$$\|V\| \mathbf{B}(z,r) \ge (40)^{-m} (\boldsymbol{\gamma}(m)m)^{-m} r^m \quad \text{whenever } 0 < r < \infty, \, \mathbf{B}(z,r) \subset K,$$

 $\phi \in \mathscr{D}^0(U), \ 0 \leq \phi \leq 1, \ \operatorname{spt} \phi \subset K, \ 1 \leq q \leq \infty, \ 1/p + 1/q \geq 1, \ a \in \mathbf{R}^n, \ T \in \mathbf{G}(n, m), \ h : U \to \mathbf{R} \ with \ h(z) = \operatorname{dist}(z - a, T) \ for \ z \in U, \ and$ 

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha &= \psi(K)^{1/p}, \quad \beta = \left(\int \phi(z)^2 |S_{\natural} - T_{\natural}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}V(z,S)\right)^{1/2}, \\ \gamma &= (\phi^2 ||V|| \llcorner H)_{(q)}(h) \quad \text{if } q < \infty, \\ \gamma &= \sup\{h(z) : z \in \operatorname{spt} ||V||, \phi(z) > 0\} \quad \text{if } q = \infty, \\ \xi &= (||V|| \llcorner H)_{(2)}(|D\phi|h). \end{aligned}$$

Then

$$\beta^2 \leq \Gamma \left( \alpha^{mp/(m-p)} + (\alpha \gamma)^{1/(1/p+1/q)} \right) + (16+4m)\xi^2$$

where  $\Gamma$  is a positive, finite number depending only on m, p, and q.

**Proof.** Assume a = 0, hence  $h(z) = |T_{\natural}^{\perp}(z)|$  for  $z \in U$ . Use 4.7 with  $\delta = \frac{1}{40}$  to obtain f and define  $V_1, V_2 \in \mathbf{RV}_m(U)$  by

$$V_1(A) = \int_A^* f(z) \, \mathrm{d}V(z, S) \quad \text{for } A \subset U \times \mathbf{G}(n, m)$$

and  $V_2 = V - V_1$ . Using [14, 2.10.19(4)] or [31, 3.5], one remarks

$$f(z) = 1 \text{ and ap } Df(z) = 0 \text{ for } ||V|| \text{ almost all } z \in U \sim H,$$
  

$$\int \phi(z)^2 |S_{\natural} - T_{\natural}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}V_1(z, S) \leq 4m\Gamma_{4.7}(m, p) \, \alpha^{mp/(m-p)},$$
  

$$||\delta V_2|| \leq (1-f) ||\delta V|| + |\operatorname{ap} Df| ||V||, \quad ||V||_{(p)}(|\operatorname{ap} Df|) \leq (400)^m \alpha.$$

Defining  $g = \phi^2(T_{\natural}^{\perp}|U)$ , one obtains

$$\int \phi(z)^2 |S_{\natural} - T_{\natural}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}V_2(z, S) \leq 4 |(\delta V_2)(g)| + 16\xi^2$$

as in [7, 5.5]. If 1/p + 1/q = 1, then the conclusion is a consequence of the preceding remarks and Hölder's inequality. Therefore, suppose 1/p + 1/q > 1, hence  $p < \infty$  and  $q < \infty$ .

Letting  $0 < t < \infty$ , r = 1 - q(1 - 1/p), and defining  $\eta : \{s : 0 \leq s < \infty\} \rightarrow \{s : 0 \leq s \leq 1\}$  by  $\eta(s) = \inf\{1, ts^{-r}\}$  for  $0 \leq s < \infty$ , one observes  $0 < r \leq 1$  and

$$0 \leq s\eta(s) \leq ts^{1-r} \quad \text{whenever } 0 < s < \infty,$$
  
$$|s\eta'(s)| + |1 - \eta(s)| \leq 1 \quad \text{whenever } t^{1/r} < s < \infty$$

Moreover, defining  $\eta_1: U \to \mathbf{R}^n, \eta_2: U \to \mathbf{R}^n$  by

$$\eta_1(z) = \eta(|T_{\natural}^{\perp}(z)|)T_{\natural}^{\perp}(z), \quad \eta_2(z) = (1 - \eta(|T_{\natural}^{\perp}(z)|))T_{\natural}^{\perp}(z)$$

whenever  $z \in U$ ,

$$Z_1 = U \cap \{ z : 0 < h(z) < t^{1/r} \}, \quad Z_2 = U \cap \{ z : t^{1/r} < h(z) \},$$

one notes  $\eta_1 + \eta_2 = T_{\natural}^{\perp} | U$  and computes

$$\langle v, D\eta_2(z) \rangle = -\eta'(|T_{\natural}^{\perp}(z)|) \frac{T_{\natural}^{\perp}(z) \bullet v}{|T_{\natural}^{\perp}(z)|} T_{\natural}^{\perp}(z) + (1 - \eta(|T_{\natural}^{\perp}(z)|)) T_{\natural}^{\perp}(v)$$

for  $z \in Z_2$ ,  $v \in \mathbf{R}^n$ , hence

$$||D\eta_2(z)|| \leq 1 \text{ for } z \in \mathbb{Z}_2$$

and for  $z \in U$ 

$$|\eta_1(z)| \leq th(z)^{1-r}$$
 if  $r < 1$ ,  $|\eta_1(z)| \leq t$  if  $r = 1$ .

Letting  $g_1 = \phi^2 \eta_1$ ,  $g_2 = \phi^2 \eta_2$ , one notes  $g_1 + g_2 = g$  and infers  $|g_1| = \phi^2 |\eta_1|$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} \|Dg_2(z)\| &\leq 2\phi(z) |D\phi(z)|h(z) + \phi^2(z)| |D\eta_2(z)| \\ &\leq 2\phi^2(z) + |D\phi(z)|^2 h(z)^2 \leq 2\phi^2(z) t^{-q/r} h(z)^q + |D\phi(z)|^2 h(z)^2 \end{aligned}$$

for  $z \in Z_2$ . Since  $Dg_2(z) = 0$  for  $z \in Z_1$  and  $\phi$ ,  $D\phi$ , and h are continuous, approximating  $g_1$  and  $g_2$  by smooth functions yields that  $|(\delta V_2)(g)|$  does not exceed

$$t \|\delta V_2\|(\phi^2 h^{1-r}) + m\|V_2\|(2t^{-q/r}\phi^2 h^q + |D\phi|^2 h^2) \quad \text{if } r < 1,$$
  
$$t \|\delta V_2\|(\phi^2) + m\|V_2\|(2t^{-q}\phi^2 h^q + |D\phi|^2 h^2) \quad \text{if } r = 1.$$

hence, using Hölder's inequality and recalling the remarks of the first paragraph, one obtains

$$\begin{aligned} |(\delta V_2)(g)| &\leq t (800)^m \alpha \gamma^{1-r} + 2mt^{-q/r} \gamma^q + m\xi^2 & \text{if } r < 1, \\ |(\delta V_2)(g)| &\leq t (800)^m \alpha + 2mt^{-q} \gamma^q + m\xi^2 & \text{if } r = 1. \end{aligned}$$

The conclusion is now a consequence of 4.9.  $\Box$ 

**Remark 4.11.** Using the inequality relating arithmetic and geometric means (see [14, 2.4.13]), one obtains for  $0 < \lambda < \infty$ 

$$(\alpha\gamma)^{1/(1/p+1/q)} \leq \frac{2(1/p+1/q)-1}{2(1/p+1/q)} (\alpha/\lambda)^{\frac{2}{2(1/p+1/q)-1}} + \frac{1}{2(1/p+1/q)} (\lambda\gamma)^2.$$

Note, concerning the exponent of  $\alpha$ , if 1/q = 1/2 - 1/m, then  $\frac{2}{2(1/p+1/q)-1} = \frac{mp}{m-p}$ .

**Remark 4.12.** The estimate for  $|(\delta V_2)(g)|$  is adapted from BRAKKE [7, 5.5] where  $p \in \{1, 2\}$  and q = 2.

**Remark 4.13.** One cannot replace *h* by the distance from two planes parallel to *T*, as may be seen from the estimates for the catenoid in 4.2 considering  $R \rightarrow \infty$ . This behaviour is in contrast to the Sobolev Poincaré type inequality in [24, 4.4].

**Lemma 4.14.** Suppose m, n, p, U, and V are as in 4.3,  $\phi \in \mathscr{D}^0(U), \phi \ge 0$ ,  $1 \le q \le \infty, 1/p + 1/q \ge 1$ ,  $a \in \mathbb{R}^n, T \in \mathbf{G}(n, m), h : U \to \mathbb{R}$  with h(z) = dist(z - a, T) for  $z \in U$ , and

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha &= \|\delta V\|(\phi^2) \quad if \ p = 1, \qquad \alpha = (\phi^2 \|V\|)_{(p)}(\mathbf{h}(V; \cdot)) \quad if \ p > 1, \\ \beta &= \left(\int \phi(z)^2 |S_{\natural} - T_{\natural}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}V(z, S)\right)^{1/2}, \quad \xi = (\|V\|)_{(2)}(|D\phi|h), \\ \gamma &= (\phi^2 \|V\|)_{(q)}(h) \quad if \ q < \infty, \qquad \gamma = (\phi^2 \|\delta V\|)_{(\infty)}(h) \quad if \ q = \infty. \end{aligned}$$

Then

$$\beta^{2} \leq \Gamma(\alpha \gamma)^{1/(1/p+1/q)} + (16+4m)\xi^{2}$$

where  $\Gamma$  is a positive, finite number depending only on m, p, and q.

**Proof.** The proof of 4.10 has been designed such that a proof of the present assertion results when the arguments involving the function f are omitted.  $\Box$ 

#### **5.** Approximation by $\mathbf{Q}_O(\mathbf{R}^{n-m})$ Valued Functions

The purpose of this section is to establish the necessary adaptions and extensions of the approximation by  $\mathbf{Q}_Q(\mathbf{R}^{n-m})$  valued functions carried out in [24, 3.15]. This is done in 5.7 (1)–(8) and supplemented by a basic estimate concerning the partial differential equation satisfied by the "average" of the approximating function in 5.7 (9), leaving the estimates more directly related to the purposes of the present paper to Section 9. The results are based on those in [24, §3]. To effectively treat measurability questions the concept of universal measurability is recalled in 5.1–5.5.

**Definition 5.1.** A subset of a topological space X is called *universally measurable* if and only if it is measurable with respect to every measure  $\phi$  on X which has the property that all closed sets are  $\phi$  measurable.

A function between topological spaces is *universally measurable* if and only if every preimage of an open set is universally measurable.

**Remark 5.2.** Among the basic properties of the concept of universal measurability are the following:

- The universally measurable sets form a Borel family containing the Borel sets. (Note that "Borel family" is termed "σ-algebra" in [31, 1.1] and "tribe" in [9, III, §0].)
- (2) The preimage of a Borel set under a universally measurable function is universally measurable.
- (3) The preimage of a universally measurable set under a Borel function is universally measurable.
- (4) If X is a complete separable metric space, A is a Borel subset of X, Y is a Hausdorff space and  $f : X \to Y$  is continuous, then f[A] is universally measurable.

(1) is evident and implies (2), (3) is readily verified by means of [14, 2.1.2] and (4) is a consequence of [14, 2.2.13].

**Example 5.3.** The following classical example illustrates the use of 5.2(4) in the proof of 5.7(6). There exists a Borel subset A of  $\mathbf{R}^2$  and an orthogonal projection  $f : \mathbf{R}^2 \to \mathbf{R}$  such that f[A] is not a Borel subset of  $\mathbf{R}$ . A proof may be obtained by appropriately combining the results in [14, 2.2.9, 11].

**Remark 5.4.** The present definition can be shown to be a special case of the concept introduced in [9, III.21].

**Lemma 5.5.** Suppose X is a complete, separable metric space, Y is a Hausdorff topological space,  $f : X \to Y$  is continuous, B is a Borel subset of X, and  $g : B \to \{t : 0 \leq t \leq \infty\}$  is a Borel function.

*Then*  $h: Y \to \{t: 0 \leq t \leq \infty\}$  *defined by* 

$$h(y) = \sum_{B \cap f^{-1}[\{y\}]} g \text{ whenever } y \in Y$$

is universally measurable.

**Proof.** One may adapt [14, 2.10.10, 2.3.2(4)–(6), 2.3.3] by use of 5.2(1)(4) to obtain the conclusion.  $\Box$ 

**Lemma 5.6.** Suppose X, Y are normed vector spaces,  $f : X \to Y$  is of class 1,  $a \in X$ ,  $0 < r < \infty$ ,  $Q \in \mathcal{P}$ ,  $x_i \in \mathbf{B}(a, r)$  for i = 1, ..., Q, and  $\gamma = \text{Lip}(Df|\mathbf{B}(a, r))$ . Then

$$\left|\frac{1}{Q}\sum_{i=1}^{Q}f(x_i) - f\left(\frac{1}{Q}\sum_{i=1}^{Q}x_i\right)\right| \leq \gamma r^2.$$

**Proof.** Let  $P : X \to Y$  by defined by  $P(x) = f(a) + \langle x - a, Df(a) \rangle$  for  $x \in X$ . Then for  $x \in \mathbf{B}(a, r)$ 

$$|f(x) - P(x)| = |\langle x - a, \int_0^1 Df(a + t(x - a)) - Df(a) \, \mathrm{d}\mathscr{L}^1 t \rangle| \leq (\gamma/2)r^2.$$

Since  $\frac{1}{Q} \sum_{i=1}^{Q} P(x_i) = P(Q^{-1} \sum_{i=1}^{Q} x_i)$ , this implies the conclusion.  $\Box$ 

**Lemma 5.7.** Suppose  $n, Q \in \mathcal{P}, 0 < L < \infty, 1 \leq M < \infty$ , and  $0 < \delta_i \leq 1$  for  $i \in \{1, 2, 3, 4, 5\}$ .

Then there exists a positive, finite number  $\varepsilon$  with the following property. If  $m \in \mathscr{P}$ , m < n,  $0 < r < \infty$ ,  $0 < h \leq \infty$ ,  $h > 2\delta_4 r$ ,  $T = \operatorname{im} \mathbf{p}^*$ ,

$$U = (\mathbf{R}^m \times \mathbf{R}^{n-m}) \cap \{(x, y) : \operatorname{dist}((x, y), \mathbf{C}(T, 0, r, h)) < 2r\}$$

 $V \in \mathbf{IV}_m(U)$ ,  $\|\delta V\|$  is a Radon measure,

$$\begin{aligned} (Q-1+\delta_1)\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)r^m &\leq \|V\|(\mathbf{C}(T,0,r,h)) \leq (Q+1-\delta_2)\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)r^m, \\ \|V\|(\mathbf{C}(T,0,r,h+\delta_4r) \sim \mathbf{C}(T,0,r,h-2\delta_4r)) \leq (1-\delta_3)\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)r^m, \\ \|V\|(U) \leq M\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)r^m, \end{aligned}$$

 $0 < \delta \leq \varepsilon$ , B denotes the set of all  $z \in \mathbb{C}(T, 0, r, h)$  with  $\Theta^{*m}(||V||, z) > 0$  such that

*either* 
$$\|\delta V\| \mathbf{B}(z,\varrho) > \delta \|V\| (\mathbf{B}(z,\varrho))^{1-1/m}$$
 for some  $0 < \varrho < 2r$ ,  
or  $\int_{\mathbf{B}(z,\varrho) \times \mathbf{G}(n,m)} |S_{\natural} - T_{\natural}| dV(\xi, S) > \delta \|V\| \mathbf{B}(z,\varrho)$  for some  $0 < \varrho < 2r$ ,

 $A = \mathbf{C}(T, 0, r, h) \sim B$ ,  $A(x) = A \cap \{z : \mathbf{p}(z) = x\}$  for  $x \in \mathbf{R}^m$ ,  $X_1$  is the set of all  $x \in \mathbf{R}^m \cap \mathbf{B}(0, r)$  such that

$$\sum_{z \in A(x)} \Theta^m(\|V\|, z) = Q \quad and \quad \Theta^m(\|V\|, z) \in \mathscr{P} \cup \{0\} \text{ for } z \in A(x),$$

 $X_2$  is the set of all  $x \in \mathbf{R}^m \cap \mathbf{B}(0, r)$  such that

$$\sum_{z \in A(x)} \mathbf{\Theta}^m(\|V\|, z) \leq Q - 1 \quad and \quad \mathbf{\Theta}^m(\|V\|, z) \in \mathscr{P} \cup \{0\} \text{ for } z \in A(x),$$

 $N = \mathbf{R}^m \cap \mathbf{B}(0, r) \sim (X_1 \cup X_2)$ , and  $f : X_1 \to \mathbf{Q}_Q(\mathbf{R}^{n-m})$  is characterised by the requirement

$$\Theta^m(\|V\|, z) = \Theta^0(\|f(x)\|, \mathbf{q}(z)) \text{ whenever } x \in X_1 \text{ and } z \in A(x),$$

then the following nine statements hold:

- (1)  $X_1$  and  $X_2$  are universally measurable, and  $\mathcal{L}^m(N) = 0$ .
- (2) A and B are Borel sets and

$$\mathbf{q}[A \cap \operatorname{spt} ||V||] \subset \mathbf{B}(0, h - \delta_4 r).$$

- (3)  $\mathbf{p}[A \cap \{z : \mathbf{\Theta}^m(\|V\|, z) = Q\}] \subset X_1.$
- (4) The function f is Lipschitzian with Lip  $f \leq L$ .
- (5) For  $\mathscr{L}^m$  almost all  $x \in X_1$  the following is true:
  - (a) *The function f is approximately strongly affinely approximable at x.*
  - (b) If  $(x, y) \in \operatorname{graph}_O f$  then

 $\operatorname{Tan}^{m}(\|V\|, (x, y)) = \operatorname{Tan}\left(\operatorname{graph}_{O} \operatorname{ap} Af(x), (x, y)\right) \in \mathbf{G}(n, m).$ 

(6) If  $a \in \mathbf{C}(T, 0, r, h)$ ,  $0 < \rho \leq r - |\mathbf{p}(a)|$ ,  $|\mathbf{q}(a)| + \delta_4 \rho \leq h$ , and

$$B_{a,\varrho} = \mathbf{C}(T, a, \varrho, \delta_4 \varrho) \cap B,$$
  

$$C_{a,\varrho} = \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{p}(a), \varrho) \sim (X_1 \sim \mathbf{p}[B_{a,\varrho}]),$$
  

$$D_{a,\varrho} = \mathbf{C}(T, a, \varrho, \delta_4 \varrho) \cap \mathbf{p}^{-1}[C_{a,\varrho}],$$

then  $B_{a,\varrho}$  is a Borel set and  $C_{a,\varrho}$  and  $D_{a,\varrho}$  are universally measurable. (7) If  $a, \varrho, B_{a,\varrho}, C_{a,\varrho}$ , and  $D_{a,\varrho}$  are as in (6) and

graph<sub>Q</sub> 
$$f | \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{p}(a), \varrho) \subset \mathbf{C}(T, a, \varrho, \delta_4 \varrho/2),$$
  
 $||V|| (\mathbf{C}(T, a, \varrho, \delta_4 \varrho)) \ge (Q - 1/4) \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m) \varrho^m,$ 

then

$$\mathscr{L}^m(C_{a,\varrho}) + \|V\|(D_{a,\varrho}) \leq \Gamma_{(7)} \|V\|(B_{a,\varrho})$$

with  $\Gamma_{(7)} = 3 + 2Q + (12Q + 6)5^m$ .

(8) Suppose *H* denotes the set of all  $z \in \mathbf{C}(T, 0, r, h)$  such that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\delta V\| \mathbf{U}(z,2r) &\leq \varepsilon \|V\| (\mathbf{U}(z,2r))^{1-1/m}, \\ \int_{\mathbf{U}(z,2r)\times \mathbf{G}(n,m)} |S_{\natural} - T_{\natural}| \, \mathrm{d}V(z,S) &\leq \varepsilon \|V\| \mathbf{U}(z,2r), \\ \|V\| \mathbf{B}(z,\varrho) &\geq \delta_{5} \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m) \varrho^{m} \quad for \ 0 < \varrho < 2r. \end{aligned}$$

Then there exists a positive, finite number  $\varepsilon_{(8)}$  depending only on m,  $\delta_2$ , and  $\delta_4$  with the following property:

If  $c \in \mathbf{R}^m \cap \mathbf{U}(0, r)$ ,  $0 < \varrho \leq r - |c|$ ,  $\mathscr{L}^m(\mathbf{B}(c, \varrho) \sim X_1) \leq \varepsilon_{(8)} \alpha(m) \varrho^m$ ,  $\emptyset \neq P \subset \mathbf{C}(T, \mathbf{p}^*(c), \varrho)$ , for every  $z \in P$  and  $x \in \mathbf{B}(c, \varrho)$  there exists y with  $(x, y) \in P$  and  $|y - \mathbf{q}(z)| \leq |x - \mathbf{p}(z)|$ , and  $d : \mathbf{C}(T, \mathbf{p}^*(c), \varrho, h) \to \mathbf{R}$  and  $g : X_1 \cap \mathbf{B}(c, \varrho) \to \mathbf{R}$  are defined by

$$d(z) = \inf\{|\mathbf{q}(\xi - z)| : \xi \in P, \mathbf{p}(\xi) = \mathbf{p}(z)\} \text{ for } z \in \mathbf{C}(T, \mathbf{p}^*(c), \varrho, h),$$
  
$$g(x) = \sup\{d(x, y) : y \in \text{spt } f(x)\} \text{ for } x \in X_1 \cap \mathbf{B}(c, \varrho),$$

*then* Lip  $d \leq 2^{1/2}$ , Lip  $g \leq 2^{1/2}(1 + L)$ , and

$$(\|V\| \sqcup H \cap \mathbf{C}(T, \mathbf{p}^*(c), \varrho, h))_{(q)}(d) \leq \Gamma_{(8)} \mathcal{Q} \big( (\mathscr{L}^m \sqcup \mathbf{B}(c, \varrho) \cap X_1)_{(q)}(g) + \mathscr{L}^m (\mathbf{B}(c, \varrho) \sim X_1)^{1/q + 1/m} \big)$$

whenever  $1 \leq q \leq \infty$ , where  $\Gamma_{(8)}$  is a positive, finite number depending only on *m*.

(9) If  $a, \rho, C_{a,\rho}, D_{a,\rho}$  are as in (6),

graph<sub>Q</sub> 
$$f | \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{p}(a), \varrho) \subset \mathbf{C}(T, a, \varrho, \delta_4 \varrho/2),$$

 $g: \mathbf{R}^m \to \mathbf{R}^{n-m}, \text{Lip } g < \infty, g | X_1 = \eta_Q \circ f, \tau \in \text{Hom}(\mathbf{R}^m, \mathbf{R}^{n-m}), \\ \theta \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbf{R}^m, \mathbf{R}^{n-m}), \eta \in \mathcal{D}^0(\mathbf{R}^{n-m}),$ 

spt 
$$\theta \subset \mathbf{U}(\mathbf{p}(a), \varrho), \quad 0 \leq \eta(y) \leq 1 \text{ for } y \in \mathbf{R}^{n-m},$$
  
spt  $\eta \subset \mathbf{U}(\mathbf{q}(a), \delta_4 \varrho), \quad \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{q}(a), \delta_4 \varrho/2) \subset \operatorname{Int}(\mathbf{R}^{n-m} \cap \{y : \eta(y) = 1\}),$ 

and  $\Psi^{\$}$  denotes the nonparametric integrand associated to the area integrand  $\Psi,$  then

$$\begin{split} \left| \mathcal{Q} \int \langle D\theta(x), D\Psi_0^{\$}(Dg(x)) \rangle \mathrm{d}\mathscr{L}^m x - (\delta V)((\eta \circ \mathbf{q}) \cdot (\mathbf{q}^* \circ \theta \circ \mathbf{p})) \right| \\ & \leq \gamma_1 \mathcal{Q} m^{1/2} \operatorname{Lip} g \int_{C_{a,\varrho}} |D\theta| \, \mathrm{d}\mathscr{L}^m \\ &+ \gamma_2 \int_{E_{a,\varrho}} \sim_{C_{a,\varrho}} |D\theta(x)|| \operatorname{ap} Af(x) \, (+)(-\tau)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\mathscr{L}^m x \\ &+ m^{1/2} \int_{D_{a,\varrho}} |D((\eta \circ \mathbf{q}) \cdot (\mathbf{q}^* \circ \theta \circ \mathbf{p}))| \, \mathrm{d} \|V\|, \end{split}$$

where

$$\gamma_{1} = \sup \|D^{2}\Psi_{0}^{\$}\|[\mathbf{B}(0, m^{1/2} \operatorname{Lip} g)],$$
  

$$\gamma_{2} = \operatorname{Lip}\left(D^{2}\Psi_{0}^{\$}|\mathbf{B}(0, m^{1/2}(L+2\|\tau\|))\right),$$
  

$$E_{a,\rho} = \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{p}(a), \rho) \cap X_{1} \cap \{x : \mathbf{\Theta}^{0}(\|f(x)\|, g(x)) \neq Q\}.$$

**Choice of constants.** One can assume  $2L \leq \delta_4$  and  $\delta_5 \leq (2\gamma(m)m)^{-m}/\alpha(m)$  whenever  $m \in \mathscr{P}$  with m < n.

Choose  $0 < s_0 < 1$ , 0 < s < 1 close to 1 satisfying

$$(s_0^{-2} - 1)^{1/2} \leq \delta_4/2, \quad (s^{-2} - 1)^{1/2} \leq \min\{\delta_4/4, L\}$$

and define  $\varepsilon > 0$  so small that

$$1 - n\varepsilon^2 \ge 1/2, \quad (1 - n\varepsilon^2)(Q - 1/4) \ge Q - 1/2$$

and not larger than the infimum of the following numbers corresponding to  $m \in \mathcal{P}$  with m < n

$$\varepsilon_{3.14}(m, n, Q, L, M, \delta_1, \delta_2, \delta_3, \delta_4, \delta_5), \quad (2\boldsymbol{\gamma}(m))^{-1}, \\ \varepsilon_{3.10}(n, Q+1, M, \inf\{\delta_2/2, (2\boldsymbol{\gamma}(m)m)^{-m}/\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)\}, s) \quad \varepsilon_{3.10}(n, Q, M, 1/4, s), \\ \varepsilon_{3.12}(m, n, 1, \delta_2, 0, s_0, M).$$

Clearly,  $\delta$  satisfies the same inequalities as  $\varepsilon$  and one can assume r = 1.  $\Box$ 

**Proof of** (1)(2)(4)(5). By 3.14(2), 5.2(2) and 5.5 the sets  $X_1$  and  $X_2$  are universally measurable. Hence the assertion follows from 3.14(1)(2)(3)(4).

**Proof of** (3). Let  $\eta = \inf\{\delta_2/2, (2\gamma(m)m)^{-m}/\alpha(m)\}$ , consider  $z \in A$  with  $\Theta^m(||V||, z) = Q, Z = A(\mathbf{p}(z))$ , note, using (2), that

$$\mathbf{U}(\xi - \mathbf{p}^*(\mathbf{p}(z)), 1) \cap \{\kappa : |T_{\natural}(\kappa - \xi) > s | \kappa - \xi|\} \subset \mathbf{C}(T, 0, 1, h)$$

for  $\xi \in A(\mathbf{p}(z))$  and apply 3.10 with

$$Q, \delta, d, r, t$$
, and  $f$   
replaced by  $Q + 1, \eta, 1, 2, 1$ , and  $\tau_{-\mathbf{p}^*(\mathbf{p}(Z))}|Z$ 

to obtain  $\sum_{\xi \in A(\mathbf{p}(z))} \Theta_*^m(\|V\|, \xi) < Q + \eta$ , hence 3.4 implies (3).  $\Box$ 

**Proof of** (6). Recalling (2), the set  $\mathbf{p}[B_{a,\varrho}]$  is universally measurable by 5.2(4), hence  $C_{a,\varrho}$ ,  $D_{a,\varrho}$  are universally measurable sets by (1) and 5.2(1)(3).  $\Box$ 

**Proof of** (7). Let v denote the Radon measure characterised by

$$\nu(Z) = \int_{Z} \|\bigwedge_{m}(\mathbf{p}|S)\| \, \mathrm{d}V(z,S)$$

whenever Z is a Borel subset of U, and note

$$|S_{\natural} - T_{\natural}| \leq \varepsilon$$
 for *V* almost all  $(z, S) \in A \times \mathbf{G}(n, m)$ ,

hence  $1 - \|\bigwedge_m(\mathbf{p}|S)\| \leq 1 - \|\bigwedge_m(T_{\natural}|S)\|^2 \leq m\varepsilon^2$  for those (z, S) by 3.13. Therefore

$$(1 - m\varepsilon^2) \|V\| \llcorner A \leq \nu \llcorner A.$$

This implies the *coarea estimate* 

$$(1 - m\varepsilon^{2}) \|V\| (\mathbf{C}(T, a, \varrho, \delta_{4}\varrho) \cap \mathbf{p}^{-1}[W])$$
  
$$\leq \|V\| (B_{a,\varrho} \cap \mathbf{p}^{-1}[W]) + Q\mathscr{L}^{m}(X_{1} \cap W) + (Q - 1)\mathscr{L}^{m}(X_{2} \cap W)$$

for every subset *W* of  $\mathbf{R}^m$ ; in fact the estimate holds for every Borel set by the coarea formula, see for example [14, 3.2.22(3)] or [31, 12.7], and  $\mathbf{p}_{\#}(||V|| \sqcup B_{a,\varrho})$  is a Radon measure by [14, 2.2.17]. In particular, taking  $W = \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{p}(a), \varrho)$  yields

$$(1 - m\varepsilon^2) \|V\|(\mathbb{C}(T, a, \varrho, \delta_4 \varrho)) \leq \|V\|(B_{a,\varrho}) + Q\alpha(m)\varrho^m,$$

thus one can assume, since  $8Q + 6 \leq \Gamma_{(7)}$ , that

$$\|V\|(B_{a,\varrho}) \leq \frac{1}{4} \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m) \varrho^m.$$

Next, it will be shown that this assumption implies

$$\mathscr{L}^m(X_1 \cap \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{p}(a), \varrho)) > 0;$$

in fact, using the coarea estimate with  $W = \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{p}(a), \varrho)$ , one obtains

$$\begin{aligned} (Q-1/2)\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)\varrho^m \\ &\leq (1-m\varepsilon^2) \|V\|(\mathbf{C}(T,a,\varrho,\delta_4\varrho)) \\ &\leq \|V\|(B_{a,\varrho}) + \mathcal{Q}\mathcal{L}^m(X_1 \cap \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{p}(a),\varrho)) + (Q-1)\mathcal{L}^m(X_2 \cap \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{p}(a),\varrho)) \\ &\leq (Q-1/2)\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)\varrho^m + \mathcal{L}^m(X_1 \cap \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{p}(a),\varrho)) - \frac{1}{4}\mathcal{L}^m(X_2 \cap \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{p}(a),\varrho)), \\ \mathcal{L}^m(X_2 \cap \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{p}(a),\varrho)) &\leq 4 \mathcal{L}^m(X_1 \cap \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{p}(a),\varrho)), \quad \mathcal{L}^m(X_1 \cap \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{p}(a),\varrho)) > 0. \end{aligned}$$

In order to estimate  $\mathscr{L}^m(X_2 \cap \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{p}(a), \varrho))$ , the following assertion will be proven. If  $x \in X_2 \cap \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{p}(a), \varrho)$  and  $\Theta^m(\mathscr{L}^m \sqcup \mathbf{R}^m \sim X_2, x) = 0$ , then there exist  $\zeta \in \mathbf{R}^m$  and  $0 < t < \infty$  with

$$x \in \mathbf{B}(\zeta, t) \subset \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{p}(a), \varrho), \quad \mathscr{L}^m \mathbf{B}(\zeta, 5t) \leq 6 \cdot 5^m \|V\| (B_{a,\varrho} \cap \mathbf{p}^{-1}[\mathbf{B}(\zeta, t)]).$$

Since  $\mathscr{L}^m(X_1 \cap \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{p}(a), \varrho)) > 0$ , some element  $\mathbf{B}(\zeta, t)$  of the family of balls

{**B**
$$((1 - \theta)x + \theta \mathbf{p}(a), \theta \varrho) : 0 < \theta \leq 1$$
}

will satisfy

$$x \in \mathbf{B}(\zeta, t) \subset \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{p}(a), \varrho), \quad 0 < \mathscr{L}^m(X_1 \cap \mathbf{B}(\zeta, t)) \leq \frac{1}{2} \mathscr{L}^m(X_2 \cap \mathbf{B}(\zeta, t)).$$

Hence there exists  $\eta \in X_1 \cap \mathbf{U}(\zeta, t)$ . Noting for  $\xi \in A(\eta)$  with  $\Theta^m(||V||, \xi) > 0$ 

$$\mathbf{U}(\boldsymbol{\tau}_{\mathbf{p}^*(\zeta-\eta)}(\xi), t) \subset \mathbf{p}^{-1}[\mathbf{B}(\zeta, t)], \quad \xi \in \operatorname{spt} f(\eta) \subset \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{q}(a), \delta_4 \varrho/2),$$
  
$$(s^{-2}-1)^{1/2}|\mathbf{p}(\kappa-\xi)| \leq \delta_4 t/2 \leq \delta_4 \varrho/2 \quad \text{for } \kappa \in \mathbf{p}^{-1}[\mathbf{B}(\zeta, t)],$$

the inclusion

$$\mathbf{U}(\boldsymbol{\tau}_{\mathbf{p}^*(\zeta-\eta)}(\xi),t) \cap \{\kappa : |\mathbf{p}(\kappa-\xi)| > s|\kappa-\xi|\} \subset \mathbf{C}(T,a,\varrho,\delta_4\varrho) \cap \mathbf{p}^{-1}[\mathbf{B}(\zeta,t)]$$

is valid for such  $\xi$  and 3.10 can be applied with

$$\delta, Z, d, r, \text{ and } f \text{ replaced by}$$
  
1/4,  $A(\eta) \cap \{\xi : \Theta^m(||V||, \xi) > 0\}, t, 2,$   
and  $\tau_{\mathbf{p}^*(\zeta - \eta)} | A(\eta) \cap \{\xi : \Theta^m(||V||, \xi) > 0\}$ 

to obtain

$$(Q-1/4)\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)t^{m} \leq \|V\| \big( \mathbf{C}(T, a, \varrho, \delta_{4}\varrho) \cap \mathbf{p}^{-1}[\mathbf{B}(\zeta, t)] \big).$$

The coarea estimate with  $W = \mathbf{B}(\zeta, t)$  now implies

$$(Q - 1/2)\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)t^m - \|V\|(B_{a,\varrho} \cap \mathbf{p}^{-1}[\mathbf{B}(\zeta, t)])$$
  

$$\leq Q\mathcal{L}^m(X_1 \cap \mathbf{B}(\zeta, t)) + (Q - 1)\mathcal{L}^m(X_2 \cap \mathbf{B}(\zeta, t))$$
  

$$= (Q - 1/2)\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)t^m + \frac{1}{2}\mathcal{L}^m(X_1 \cap \mathbf{B}(\zeta, t)) - \frac{1}{2}\mathcal{L}^m(X_2 \cap \mathbf{B}(\zeta, t)),$$

hence, recalling  $\mathscr{L}^m(X_1 \cap \mathbf{B}(\zeta, t)) \leq \frac{1}{2} \mathscr{L}^m(X_2 \cap \mathbf{B}(\zeta, t)),$ 

$$\frac{2}{3}\mathscr{L}^m(\mathbf{B}(\zeta,t)) \leq \mathscr{L}^m(X_2 \cap \mathbf{B}(\zeta,t)) \leq 4 \|V\| (B_{a,\varrho} \cap \mathbf{p}^{-1}[\mathbf{B}(\zeta,t)])$$

and the assertion follows.

The assumption of the last assertion is satisfied for  $\mathscr{L}^m$  almost all  $x \in X_2 \cap$ **B**(**p**(*a*),  $\varrho$ ) by [14, 2.9.11] or [1, 3.65] and Vitali's covering theorem, see for example [14, 2.8.5] or [31, 3.3], implies

$$\mathscr{L}^m(X_2 \cap \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{p}(a), \varrho)) \leq 6 \cdot 5^m \|V\|(B_{a, \varrho}).$$

Clearly,

$$\mathscr{L}^{m}(\mathbf{p}[B_{a,\varrho}]) \leq \mathscr{H}^{m}(B_{a,\varrho}) \leq ||V||(B_{a,\varrho}).$$

Since  $C_{a,\varrho} \sim N \subset (X_2 \cap \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{p}(a), \varrho)) \cup \mathbf{p}[B_{a,\varrho}]$ , it follows

$$\mathscr{C}^m(C_{a,\varrho}) \leq (1+6\cdot 5^m) \|V\|(B_{a,\varrho}).$$

Finally, applying the coarea estimate with  $W = C_{a,\varrho}$  yields

$$(1 - m\varepsilon^{2}) \|V\|(D_{a,\varrho}) \leq \|V\|(B_{a,\varrho}) + Q\mathscr{L}^{m}(C_{a,\varrho})$$
$$\leq (1 + Q + 6Q \cdot 5^{m}) \|V\|(B_{a,\varrho})$$

and the conclusion follows.  $\Box$ 

**Proof of (8).** Choose  $0 < \lambda \leq 1$  such that

$$\lambda \leq \inf \{ \lambda_{3.14(5)}(m, \delta_2, \delta_4), \lambda_{3.12}(m, \delta_2, s_0)/2 \}$$

and define  $\varepsilon_{(8)} = (1/2)(\lambda/6)^m \leq 1$ .

Suppose  $z_1, z_2 \in \mathbf{C}(T, \mathbf{p}^*(c), \varrho, h)$  and  $\xi_1 \in P$  with  $\mathbf{p}(\xi_1) = \mathbf{p}(z_1)$ . Then there exists  $\xi_2 \in P$  such that  $\mathbf{p}(\xi_2) = z_2$  and  $|\mathbf{q}(\xi_1 - \xi_2)| \leq |\mathbf{p}(\xi_1 - \xi_2)|$ , hence

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathbf{q}(\xi_2 - z_2)| &\leq |\mathbf{q}(\xi_2 - \xi_1)| + |\mathbf{q}(\xi_1 - z_1)| + |\mathbf{q}(z_1 - z_2)| \\ &\leq 2^{1/2} |z_1 - z_2| + |\mathbf{q}(\xi_1 - z_1)| \end{aligned}$$

and Lip  $d \leq 2^{1/2}$ .

Suppose  $x_1, x_2 \in X_1 \cap \mathbf{B}(c, \varrho), y_1 \in \text{spt } f(x_1)$ . Then there exists  $y_2 \in \text{spt } f(x_2)$  with  $|y_1 - y_2| \leq L|x_1 - x_2|$ , hence

 $d(x_1, y_1) \leq 2^{1/2} |(x_1, y_1) - (x_2, y_2)| + d(x_2, y_2) \leq 2^{1/2} (1+L) |x_1 - x_2| + g(x_2)$ and Lip  $g \leq 2^{1/2} (1+L)$ .

First, the case  $q < \infty$  will be treated. Note  $A \cap \text{spt } ||V|| \subset H$  and  $H \cap \mathbf{p}^{-1}[X_1] = \text{graph}_O f$  by 3.14(5), let  $\psi = ||V|| \sqcup H \cap \mathbf{C}(T, \mathbf{p}^*(c), \varrho, h)$  and recall

$$(\mathbf{p}_{\#}\psi) \llcorner X_{1} \leq 2(\mathbf{p}_{\#}(\nu \llcorner H)) \llcorner X_{1} \leq 2Q\mathscr{L}^{m} \llcorner X_{1}$$

with  $\nu$  as in the proof of (7). Using

$$H \cap \mathbf{C}(T, \mathbf{p}^*(c), \varrho, h) \cap \mathbf{p}^{-1}[X_1] \cap \{z : d(z) > \gamma\}$$
  
$$\subset H \cap \mathbf{p}^{-1}[X_1 \cap \mathbf{B}(c, \varrho) \cap \{x : g(x) > \gamma\}]$$

for  $0 < \gamma < \infty$ , one infers

$$(\psi \llcorner \mathbf{p}^{-1}[X_1])_{(q)}(d) \leq 2Q(\mathscr{L}^m \llcorner X_1 \cap \mathbf{B}(c,\varrho))_{(q)}(g).$$

Therefore it remains to estimate  $(\psi \sqcup U \sim \mathbf{p}^{-1}[X_1])_{(a)}(d)$ .

Whenever  $x \in \mathbf{B}(c, \varrho) \sim \operatorname{Clos} X_1$  there exist  $\zeta \in \mathbf{R}^m$ ,  $0 < t \leq (2\varepsilon_{(8)})^{1/m} \varrho = \lambda \varrho/6$  such that

$$x \in \mathbf{B}(\zeta, t) \subset \mathbf{B}(c, \varrho), \quad \mathscr{L}^m(\mathbf{B}(\zeta, t) \cap X_1) = \mathscr{L}^m(\mathbf{B}(\zeta, t) \sim X_1),$$

as may be verified by consideration of the family of closed balls

$$\{\mathbf{B}(\theta c + (1 - \theta)x, \theta \varrho) : 0 < \theta \leq (2\varepsilon_{(8)})^{1/m}\}.$$

Therefore Vitali's covering theorem, see for example [14, 2.8.5] or [31, 3.3], yields a countable set I and  $\zeta_i \in \mathbf{R}^m$ ,  $0 < t_i \leq \lambda \varrho/6$  and  $x_i \in X_1 \cap \mathbf{B}(\zeta_i, t_i)$  for each  $i \in I$  such that

$$\mathbf{B}(\zeta_i, t_i) \subset \mathbf{B}(c, \varrho), \quad \mathscr{L}^m(\mathbf{B}(\zeta_i, t_i) \cap X_1) = \mathscr{L}^m(\mathbf{B}(\zeta_i, t_i) \sim X_1), \\ \mathbf{B}(\zeta_i, t_i) \cap \mathbf{B}(\zeta_j, t_j) = \emptyset \quad \text{whenever } i, j \in I \text{ with } i \neq j, \\ \mathbf{B}(c, \varrho) \sim \operatorname{Clos} X_1 \subset \bigcup \{E_i : i \in I\} \subset \mathbf{B}(c, \varrho), \end{cases}$$

where  $E_i = \mathbf{B}(\zeta_i, 5t_i) \cap \mathbf{B}(c, \varrho)$  for  $i \in I$ . Let

$$h_i = g(x_i), \quad Z_i = A(x_i) \cap \{\xi : \Theta^m(||V||, \xi) \in \mathscr{P}\}$$

for  $i \in I$ ,  $J = I \cap \{i : h_i \ge 24t_i\}$ , and  $K = I \sim J$ .

In view of 3.14(6) there holds

$$(\psi \llcorner U \sim \mathbf{p}^{-1}[X_1])_{(q)}(d) \\ \leq (\psi \llcorner \mathbf{p}^{-1}[\bigcup \{E_j : j \in J\}])_{(q)}(d) + (\psi \llcorner \mathbf{p}^{-1}[\bigcup \{E_k : k \in K\}])_{(q)}(d).$$

In order to estimate the terms on the right-hand side, two observations will be useful. Firstly, if  $i \in I$ ,  $z \in H \cap \mathbb{C}(T, \mathbf{p}^*(c), \varrho, h) \cap \mathbf{p}^{-1}[E_i]$ , then

$$d(z) \leq 24t_i + h_i;$$

in fact  $|\mathbf{p}(z) - x_i| \leq 6t_i \leq \lambda \varrho \leq \lambda$  and 3.14(5) yields a point  $\xi \in Z_i$  with  $|\mathbf{q}(z-\xi)| \leq L|\mathbf{p}(z-\xi)|$ , hence

$$|z - \xi| \leq (1 + L)|\mathbf{p}(z - \xi)| = (1 + L)|\mathbf{p}(z) - x_i| \leq 12t_i,$$
  
$$d(z) \leq 2^{1/2}|z - \xi| + d(\xi) \leq 24t_i + h_i.$$

Moreover, since

$$H \cap \mathbf{C}(T, \mathbf{p}^*(c), \varrho, h) \cap \mathbf{p}^{-1}[E_i] \subset \bigcup \{\mathbf{B}(\xi, 12t_i) : \xi \in Z_i\},\$$

one may apply 3.12(1), verifying

$$\mathbf{U}(z - \mathbf{p}^*(x_i), 1) \cap \{\xi : |\mathbf{p}(\xi - z)| > s_0 |\xi - z|\} \subset \mathbf{C}(T, 0, 1, h)$$

whenever  $z \in A(x_i)$  with the help of (2), with

$$\delta_1$$
, *s*,  $\lambda$ , *Z*, *d*, *r*, *t*,  $\zeta$ , and  $\tau$  replaced by  
1, 0,  $\lambda_{3.12(1)}(m, \delta_2, s_0)$ , *Z<sub>i</sub>*, 1, 2, 1,  $-\mathbf{p}^*(x_i)$ , and  $12t_i$ 

to obtain the second observation, namely

$$\psi(\mathbf{p}^{-1}[E_i]) \leq (Q+1)\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)(12t_i)^m \text{ whenever } i \in I.$$

Now, the first term will be estimated. Note, if  $j \in J$ , then

$$d(z) \leq 2h_j \quad \text{whenever } z \in H \cap \mathbf{C}(T, \mathbf{p}^*(c), \varrho, h) \cap \mathbf{p}^{-1}[E_j],$$
  
$$2h_j \leq 3g(x) \quad \text{whenever } x \in X_1 \cap \mathbf{B}(\zeta_j, t_j),$$

because

$$g(x) \ge g(x_j) - 4|x_j - x| \ge h_j - 8t_j \ge 2h_j/3.$$

Using this fact and the preceding observations, one estimates with  $J(\gamma) = J \cap \{j : 2h_j > \gamma\}$  for  $0 < \gamma < \infty$ 

$$\psi \left( \mathbf{p}^{-1} [\bigcup \{ E_j : j \in J \} ] \cap \{ z : d(z) > \gamma \} \right) \leq \sum_{j \in J(\gamma)} \psi \left( \mathbf{p}^{-1} [E_j] \right)$$
  
$$\leq \sum_{j \in J(\gamma)} (Q+1) \alpha(m) (12t_j)^m$$
  
$$\leq (Q+1) (12)^m \mathscr{L}^m \left( \bigcup \{ \mathbf{B}(\zeta_j, t_j) : j \in J(\gamma) \} \right)$$
  
$$\leq 2(Q+1) (12)^m \mathscr{L}^m \left( \bigcup \{ X_1 \cap \mathbf{B}(\zeta_j, t_j) : j \in J(\gamma) \} \right)$$
  
$$\leq 2(Q+1) (12)^m \mathscr{L}^m (X_1 \cap \mathbf{B}(c, \varrho) \cap \{ x : g(x) > \gamma/3 \}),$$

hence

$$(\psi \llcorner \mathbf{p}^{-1}[\bigcup \{E_j : j \in J\}])_{(q)}(d) \leq Q(12)^{m+1}(\mathscr{L}^m \llcorner X_1 \cap \mathbf{B}(c, \varrho))_{(q)}(g).$$

To estimate the second term, one notes

$$d(z) < 48t_k$$
 whenever  $k \in K, z \in H \cap \mathbf{C}(T, \mathbf{p}^*(c), \varrho, h) \cap \mathbf{p}^{-1}[E_k]$ .

Therefore one estimates with  $K(\gamma) = K \cap \{k : 48t_k > \gamma\}$  for  $0 < \gamma < \infty$  and  $u : \mathbf{R}^m \to \mathbf{R}$  defined by  $u = \sum_{i \in I} t_i b_i$  where  $b_i$  is the characteristic function of  $\mathbf{B}(\zeta_i, t_i)$ 

$$\psi\left(\mathbf{p}^{-1}[\bigcup\{E_k:k\in K\}]\cap\{z:d(z)>\gamma\}\right) \leq \sum_{k\in K(\gamma)}\psi\left(\mathbf{p}^{-1}[E_k]\right)$$
$$\leq \sum_{k\in K(\gamma)}(Q+1)\alpha(m)(12t_k)^m$$
$$\leq (Q+1)(12)^m\mathscr{L}^m(\bigcup\{\mathbf{B}(\zeta_k,t_k):k\in K(\gamma)\})$$
$$\leq (Q+1)(12)^m\mathscr{L}^m(\mathbf{R}^m\cap\{x:u(x)>\gamma/(48)\}),$$

hence

$$(\psi \, \lfloor \, \mathbf{p}^{-1}[\bigcup \{E_k \, : \, k \in K\}])_{(q)}(d) \leq Q(12)^{m+2} \mathscr{L}^m_{(q)}(u).$$

Combining these two estimates and

$$\mathcal{L}^{m}(\bigcup \{\mathbf{B}(\zeta_{i},t_{i}):i \in I\}) \leq 2\mathcal{L}^{m}(\mathbf{B}(c,\varrho) \sim X_{1}),$$
  
$$\int |u|^{q} d\mathcal{L}^{m} = \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)^{-q/m} \sum_{i \in I} \mathcal{L}^{m}(\mathbf{B}(\zeta_{i},t_{i}))^{1+q/m}$$
  
$$\leq \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)^{-q/m} \left(\sum_{i \in I} \mathcal{L}^{m}(\mathbf{B}(\zeta_{i},t_{i}))\right)^{1+q/m},$$
  
$$(\mathcal{L}^{m})_{(q)}(u) \leq 4\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)^{-1/m} \mathcal{L}^{m}(\mathbf{B}(c,\varrho) \sim X_{1})^{1/q+1/m},$$

one obtains the conclusion for  $q < \infty$ .

The case  $q = \infty$  follows by taking the limit  $q \to \infty$  with the help of [14, 2.4.17].  $\Box$ 

**Proof of** (9). Let *I*,  $f_i$  be associated to *f* as in 2.3, and define  $C_i = \text{dmn } f_i$  for  $i \in I$  and  $G = \text{graph}_O f$ . Note

$$G \cap \mathbf{p}^{-1}[\mathbf{B}(\mathbf{p}(a),\varrho) \sim C_{a,\varrho}] = G \cap \mathbf{C}(T, a, \varrho, \delta_4 \varrho/2) \sim \mathbf{p}^{-1}[C_{a,\varrho}],$$
$$\mathbf{p}[B_{a,\varrho}] \subset C_{a,\varrho}, \quad \|V\| \left( \mathbf{C}(T, a, \varrho, \delta_4 \varrho) \sim (G \cup \mathbf{p}^{-1}[C_{a,\varrho}]) \right) = 0.$$

Therefore one computes using 2.6 and, recalling that  $C_{a,\varrho}$ ,  $D_{a,\varrho}$ , and, by 5.2(3), also  $\mathbf{p}^{-1}[C_{a,\varrho}]$  are universally measurable

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{i \in I} \int_{C_i \cap \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{p}(a),\varrho) \sim C_{a,\varrho}} \langle D\theta(x), D\Psi_0^{\S}(\mathrm{ap} \, Df_i(x)) \rangle \mathrm{d}\mathscr{L}^m x \\ &= \delta \big( V \llcorner (G \cap \mathbf{p}^{-1}[\mathbf{B}(\mathbf{p}(a),\varrho) \sim C_{a,\varrho}]) \times \mathbf{G}(n,m) \big) (\mathbf{q}^* \circ \theta \circ \mathbf{p}) \\ &= \delta \big( V \llcorner (G \cap \mathbf{C}(T,a,\varrho,\delta_4\varrho/2) \sim \mathbf{p}^{-1}[C_{a,\varrho}]) \times \mathbf{G}(n,m) \big) ((\eta \circ \mathbf{q}) \cdot (\mathbf{q}^* \circ \theta \circ \mathbf{p})) \\ &= \delta \big( V \llcorner (\mathbf{C}(T,a,\varrho,\delta_4\varrho) \sim \mathbf{p}^{-1}[C_{a,\varrho}]) \times \mathbf{G}(n,m) \big) ((\eta \circ \mathbf{q}) \cdot (\mathbf{q}^* \circ \theta \circ \mathbf{p})) \\ &= (\delta V) ((\eta \circ \mathbf{q}) \cdot (\mathbf{q}^* \circ \theta \circ \mathbf{p})) - \delta (V \llcorner (D_{a,\varrho} \times \mathbf{G}(n,m))) ((\eta \circ \mathbf{q}) \cdot (\mathbf{q}^* \circ \theta \circ \mathbf{p})), \end{split}$$

hence

$$\begin{split} & Q \int \left\langle D\theta(x), D\Psi_0^{\S}(Dg(x)) \right\rangle \mathrm{d}\mathscr{L}^m x - (\delta V)((\eta \circ \mathbf{q}) \cdot (\mathbf{q}^* \circ \theta \circ \mathbf{p})) \\ &= Q \int_{C_{a,\varrho}} \left\langle D\theta(x), D\Psi_0^{\S}(Dg(x)) \right\rangle \mathrm{d}\mathscr{L}^m x \\ &+ Q \left( \int_{\mathbf{B}(\mathbf{p}(a),\varrho) \sim C_{a,\varrho}} \left\langle D\theta(x), D\Psi_0^{\S}(Dg(x)) \right\rangle \mathrm{d}\mathscr{L}^m x \\ &\quad - \frac{1}{Q} \sum_{i \in I} \int_{C_i \cap \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{p}(a),\varrho) \sim C_{a,\varrho}} \left\langle D\theta(x), D\Psi_0^{\S}(\mathrm{ap} \, Df_i(x)) \right\rangle \mathrm{d}\mathscr{L}^m x \right) \\ &- \delta (V \sqcup (D_{a,\varrho} \times \mathbf{G}(n,m)))((\eta \circ \mathbf{q}) \cdot (\mathbf{q}^* \circ \theta \circ \mathbf{p})). \end{split}$$

The first summand may be estimated using

$$D\Psi_0^{\S}(0) = 0, \quad \|D\Psi_0^{\S}(\alpha)\| \leq \gamma_1 |\alpha| \leq \gamma_1 m^{1/2} \operatorname{Lip} g$$

for  $\alpha \in \text{Hom}(\mathbf{R}^m, \mathbf{R}^{n-m})$  with  $\|\alpha\| \leq \text{Lip } g$ . The second summand can be treated noting

$$Dg(x) = \frac{1}{Q} \sum_{i \in I(x)} \operatorname{ap} Df_i(x) \quad \text{where } I(x) = I \cap \{i : x \in \operatorname{dmn} \operatorname{ap} Df_i\}$$

for  $\mathscr{L}^m$  almost all  $x \in \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{p}(a), \varrho) \sim C_{a,\varrho}$  and applying 5.6 with

X, Y, f, a, r, and  $\{x_1, \ldots, x_Q\}$ replaced by Hom( $\mathbf{R}^m, \mathbf{R}^{n-m}$ ), Hom(Hom( $\mathbf{R}^m, \mathbf{R}^{n-m}$ ), **R**),  $D\Psi_0^{\$}, \tau$ ,  $Q^{-1/2}| \operatorname{ap} Af(x) (+)(-\tau)|$ , and  $\{\operatorname{ap} Df_i(x) : i \in I(x)\}$ 

for  $\mathscr{L}^m$  almost all  $x \in E_{a,\varrho} \sim C_{a,\varrho}$ . Finally, the third summand is estimated by use of

$$|S_{\natural} \bullet \beta| \leq m^{1/2} |\beta|$$
 for  $S \in \mathbf{G}(n, m), \beta \in \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbf{R}^n, \mathbf{R}^n).$ 

**Remark 5.8.** If a and  $\rho$  are as in (6),  $a \in A$ ,  $\Theta^m(||V||, a) = Q$ , 0 < s < 1,  $(s^{-2} - 1)^{1/2} \leq \delta_4, \delta \leq \varepsilon_{3.10}(n, Q, M, 1/4, s)$ , then

$$\mathbf{U}(a,\varrho) \cap \{\xi : |\mathbf{p}(\xi-a)| > s|\xi-a|\} \subset \mathbf{C}(T,a,\varrho,\delta_4\varrho)$$

and 3.10 applied with

$$\delta, Z, d, r, t, \text{ and } f \text{ replaced by}$$
  
1/4, {*a*}, 0, 2,  $\rho$ , and **1**<sub>{*a*}</sub>

yields

$$||V||(\mathbf{C}(T, a, \varrho, \delta_4 \varrho)) \ge (Q - 1/4)\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)\varrho^m.$$

Moreover, if additionally  $L \leq \delta_4/2$  then (3) implies  $a \in \operatorname{graph}_O f$  and

graph<sub>Q</sub> 
$$f | \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{p}(a), \varrho) \subset \mathbf{C}(T, a, \varrho, \delta_4 \varrho/2).$$

## 6. An Interpolation Inequality

In this section an interpolation inequality for weakly differentiable functions defined in a ball  $\mathbf{U}(a, r)$  with  $a \in \mathbf{R}^m$ ,  $0 < r < \infty$  with values in  $\mathbf{R}^{n-m}$  is proven (see 6.3), which states that the Lebesgue seminorm of a function can be controlled by a small multiple of a suitable Lebesgue seminorm of its weak derivative and a large multiple of the  $\mathbf{L}_1(\mathscr{L}^m \sqcup A, \mathbf{R}^{n-m})$  seminorm of the function, where *A* is subset of  $\mathbf{U}(a, r)$  which is large in  $\mathscr{L}^m$  measure. The possibility of neglecting a set of small  $\mathscr{L}^m$  measure will be important in Section 9. The proof is accomplished following essentially the usual lines (see for example [17, Theorem 7.27]). The case of Lipschitzian functions with values in  $\mathbf{Q}_Q(\mathbf{R}^{n-m})$  into  $\mathbf{R}^{PQ}$  for some *P*, see 6.4.

**Lemma 6.1.** Suppose  $m, n \in \mathcal{P}, 1 \leq \zeta \leq m < n$ , either  $\zeta = m = 1$  or  $\zeta < m$ ,  $q = \infty$  if  $m = 1, q = m\zeta/(m - \zeta)$  if m > 1, U is an open, bounded, convex subset of  $\mathbf{R}^m$ , A is an  $\mathcal{L}^m$  measurable subset of U with  $\mathcal{L}^m(A) > 0, u \in \mathbf{W}^{1,1}(U, \mathbf{R}^{n-m})$  and  $h = f_A u \, d\mathcal{L}^m$ .

Then

$$|u-h|_{q;U} \leq \Gamma \frac{(\operatorname{diam} U)^m}{\mathscr{L}^m(A)} |\mathbf{D}u|_{\zeta;U}$$

where  $\Gamma$  is a positive, finite number depending only on *m* and  $\zeta$ .

**Proof.** If  $\zeta = m = 1$  then *u* is  $\mathscr{L}^1 \sqcup \mathbf{U}(a, r)$  almost equal to an absolutely continuous function by [14, 4.5.9 (30), 4.5.16] and the assertion follows from [14, 2.9.20]; alternately one may use [1, p. 139].

If  $\zeta < m$  this fact can be obtained by combining the method of [17, Lemma 7.16] with estimates for convolutions, see for example O'NEIL [27].  $\Box$ 

**6.2** Suppose  $a, x \in \mathbf{R}^m$ ,  $0 < \varrho \leq 2r < \infty$ ,  $x \in \mathbf{U}(a, r)$  and b = a if  $|x-a| < \varrho/2$  and  $b = x + (\varrho/2)(a - x)/|a - x|$  else. Then one readily verifies  $\mathbf{U}(b, \varrho/2) \subset \mathbf{U}(a, r) \cap \mathbf{U}(x, \varrho)$ .

**Lemma 6.3.** Suppose  $m, n \in \mathcal{P}, 1 \leq \zeta \leq m < n$ , either  $\zeta = m = 1$  or  $\zeta < m$ ,  $q = \infty$  if  $m = 1, q = m\zeta/(m-\zeta)$  if  $m > 1, 1 \leq \xi \leq q, \zeta \leq s \leq q, 0 < \lambda < \infty$ ,  $a \in \mathbf{R}^m, 0 < r < \infty, u \in \mathbf{W}^{1,1}(\mathbf{U}(a, r), \mathbf{R}^{n-m})$ , A is an  $\mathscr{L}^m$  measurable subset of  $\mathbf{U}(a, r)$ , and  $\mathscr{L}^m(\mathbf{U}(a, r) \sim A) \leq \lambda \leq (1/2)\alpha(m)r^m$ .

Then

$$|u|_{q;a,r} \leq \Gamma \lambda^{1/\zeta - 1/s} |\mathbf{D}u|_{s;a,r} + 2^{5m+2} \lambda^{1/q - 1/\xi} |u|_{\xi;A}$$

where  $\Gamma$  is a positive, finite number depending only on *m* and  $\zeta$ .

**Proof.** Define  $\Delta_1 = \Gamma_{6.1}(m, \zeta) \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)^{-1} 2^{3m+2}$ ,  $\Delta_2 = 2^{m+1}$  and  $\Gamma = 2^{4m+1} \Delta_1$ . Let  $\varrho = \lambda^{1/m} \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)^{-1/m} 2^{1+1/m}$ , note  $\varrho \leq 2r$  and define

$$E(b, t) = \mathbf{U}(a, r) \cap \mathbf{U}(b, t)$$
 whenever  $b \in \mathbf{R}^m$ ,  $0 < t < \infty$ .

One estimates, using 6.2,

$$\mathscr{L}^{m}(E(b,\varrho) \sim A) \leq \lambda = 2^{-1-m} \alpha(m) \varrho^{m} \leq \mathscr{L}^{m}(E(b,\varrho))/2 \leq \mathscr{L}^{m}(A \cap E(b,\varrho)),$$
$$\mathscr{L}^{m}(E(b,\varrho)) \leq \alpha(m) \varrho^{m} = 2^{m+1}\lambda,$$

whenever  $b \in \mathbf{U}(a, r)$ . Therefore one applies 6.1 with  $h_b = \int_{A \cap E(b, \varrho)} u \, d\mathscr{L}^m$  to obtain

$$|u|_{q;E(b,\varrho)} \leq \Gamma_{6.1}(m,\zeta) 2^{2m+1} \alpha(m)^{-1} |\mathbf{D}u|_{\zeta;E(b,\varrho)} + 2^{(m+1)/q} \lambda^{1/q} |h_b|$$

for  $b \in U(a, r)$ . Using Hölder's inequality, this yields

$$|u|_{q;E(b,\varrho)} \leq \Delta_1 \lambda^{1/\zeta - 1/s} |\mathbf{D}u|_{s;E(b,\varrho)} + \Delta_2 \lambda^{1/q - 1/\xi} |u|_{\xi;A \cap E(b,\varrho)}$$

for  $b \in \mathbf{U}(a, r)$ . If  $q = \infty$ , the conclusion is now evident.

If  $q < \infty$ , choosing a maximal set B (with respect to inclusion) such that

 $B \subset \mathbf{U}(a, r), \{E(b, \varrho/2) : b \in B\}$  is disjointed,

one notes for  $x \in B$  and  $S_x = B \cap \{b : E(b, \varrho) \cap E(x, \varrho) \neq \emptyset\}$ 

$$\mathbf{U}(a,r) \subset \bigcup \{ E(b,\varrho) : b \in B \}, \text{ card } S_x \leq 2^{4m};$$

in fact, for the estimate one uses 6.2 to infer

$$E(b,\varrho) \subset E(x,3\varrho) \quad \text{whenever } b \in S_x,$$
  
(card  $S_x$ ) $\alpha(m)2^{-2m}\varrho^m \leq \sum_{b \in S_x} \mathscr{L}^m(E(b,\varrho/2))$   
 $\leq \mathscr{L}^m(E(x,3\varrho)) \leq \alpha(m)3^m\varrho^m.$ 

Therefore, as  $q \ge \sup\{s, \xi\}$ ,

$$\sum_{b\in B} |\mathbf{D}u|_{s;E(b,\varrho)}^{q} \leq \left(\sum_{b\in B} |\mathbf{D}u|_{s;E(b,\varrho)}^{s}\right)^{q/s} \leq \left(2^{4m} |\mathbf{D}u|_{s;a,r}\right)^{q},$$
$$\sum_{b\in B} |u|_{\xi;A\cap E(b,\varrho)}^{q} \leq \left(\sum_{b\in B} |u|_{\xi;A\cap E(b,\varrho)}^{\xi}\right)^{q/\xi} \leq \left(2^{4m} |u|_{\xi;A}\right)^{q},$$

hence one obtains from the estimate of the preceding paragraph

$$|u|_{q;a,r}^{q} \leq 2^{q-1} \sum_{b \in B} \left( \left( \Delta_{1} \lambda^{1/\zeta - 1/s} |\mathbf{D}u|_{s;E(b,\varrho)} \right)^{q} + \left( \Delta_{2} \lambda^{1/q - 1/\xi} |u|_{\xi;A \cap E(b,\varrho)} \right)^{q} \right)$$
  
$$\leq \left( 2^{4m+1} \Delta_{1} \lambda^{1/\zeta - 1/s} |\mathbf{D}u|_{s;a,r} \right)^{q} + \left( 2^{4m+1} \Delta_{2} \lambda^{1/q - 1/\xi} |u|_{\xi;A} \right)^{q},$$

and the conclusion follows.  $\hfill \Box$ 

**Lemma 6.4.** Suppose  $m, n, Q \in \mathcal{P}, m < n, q = \infty$  if  $m = 1, 2 \leq q < \infty$  if  $m = 2, 2 \leq q \leq 2m/(m-2)$  if  $m > 2, a \in \mathbb{R}^m, 0 < r < \infty, f : U(a, r) \rightarrow \mathbb{Q}_Q(\mathbb{R}^{n-m})$  is Lipschitzian,  $0 < \eta \leq 1/2$ , and A is an  $\mathscr{L}^m$  measurable subset of U(a, r) with  $\mathscr{L}^m(U(a, r) \sim A) \leq \eta \alpha(m)r^m$ , then

$$r^{-m/q} |f|_{q;a,r} \leq \Gamma \left( \eta^{1/q+1/m-1/2} r^{1-m/2} |Af|_{2;a,r} + \eta^{1/q-1} r^{-m} |f|_{1;A} \right),$$

where  $\Gamma$  is a positive, finite number depending only on n, Q, and q.

**Proof.** Suppose *P* and  $\xi : \mathbf{Q}_Q(\mathbf{R}^{n-m}) \to \mathbf{R}^{PQ}$  are as in 3.1. Define  $u = \xi \circ f$ ,  $\mu = 1/q + 1/m - 1/2 \ge 0$ ,  $\nu = 1 - 1/q \ge 1/2$ ,  $\zeta = 1$  if m = 1 and  $\zeta = qm/(m+q)$  if m > 1, hence  $1 \le \zeta < m$  and  $\zeta m/(m-\zeta) = q$  if m > 1. From 6.3 applied with  $\lambda$ , *s* and  $\xi$  replaced by  $\eta \alpha(m)r^m$ , 2, and 1 one obtains

$$r^{-m/q}|u|_{q;a,r} \leq \Delta \big(\eta^{\mu} r^{1-m/2} |Du|_{2;a,r} + \eta^{-\nu} r^{-m} |u|_{1;A}\big),$$

where  $\Delta = \sup \{ \Gamma_{6,3}(m,\zeta) \alpha(m)^{1/\zeta - 1/2}, 2^{5m+2} \alpha(m)^{1/q-1} \}$ . Since

$$\begin{aligned} (\operatorname{Lip} \xi)^{-1} |u(x)| &\leq \mathscr{G}(f(x), \mathcal{Q}\llbracket 0 \rrbracket) \leq \operatorname{Lip} \xi^{-1} |u(x)| \quad \text{for } x \in \mathbf{U}(a, r), \\ |Du(x)| &\leq \operatorname{Lip} \xi |Af(x)| \quad \text{for } x \in \operatorname{dmn} Du \end{aligned}$$

by 3.1, the conclusion follows.  $\Box$ 

## 7. Some Estimates Concerning Linear Second Order Elliptic Systems

The purpose of the present section is to gather some standard estimates precisely in the form needed in Section 9. Proofs are included for the convenience of the reader.

**7.1** The following situation will occur repeatedly:  $m, n \in \mathcal{P}, m < n, 0 < c \leq M < \infty$ , and  $\Upsilon \in \bigcirc^2 \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathbb{R}^{n-m})$  with  $\|\Upsilon\| \leq M$  is strongly elliptic with ellipticity bound *c*, that is  $\Upsilon$  is an  $\mathbb{R}$  valued bilinear form on  $\operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathbb{R}^{n-m})$  with  $\Upsilon(\sigma, \tau) \leq M |\sigma| |\tau|$  whenever  $\sigma, \tau \in \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathbb{R}^{n-m})$  and

$$\int \Upsilon(D\theta(x), D\theta(x)) - c |D\theta(x)|^2 \, d\mathscr{L}^m x \ge 0 \quad \text{whenever } \theta \in \mathscr{D}(\mathbf{R}^m, \mathbf{R}^{n-m}).$$

Following [14, 5.2.11], one associates to any  $\Upsilon \in \bigodot^2 \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathbb{R}^{n-m})$  a linear function  $S : \bigodot^2(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathbb{R}^{n-m}) \cong (\bigcirc^2 \mathbb{R}^m) \otimes \mathbb{R}^{n-m} \to \mathbb{R}^{n-m}$  characterised by

$$\langle (\xi \odot \psi) y, S \rangle \bullet \upsilon = \langle (\xi y, \psi \upsilon), \Upsilon \rangle + \langle (\psi y, \xi \upsilon), \Upsilon \rangle$$

whenever  $\xi, \psi \in \bigcirc^1 \mathbf{R}^m$ ,  $y, \upsilon \in \mathbf{R}^{n-m}$ ; here  $\xi y \in \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbf{R}^m, \mathbf{R}^{n-m})$  is given by  $(\xi y)(x) = \xi(x)y$  for  $x \in \mathbf{R}^m$ . Applying this construction with the area integrand  $\Psi$  to  $D^2 \Psi_0^{\S}(\sigma)$  for each  $\sigma \in \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbf{R}^m, \mathbf{R}^{n-m})$ , one obtains a function  $C : \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbf{R}^m, \mathbf{R}^{n-m}) \to \operatorname{Hom}(\bigcirc^2(\mathbf{R}^m, \mathbf{R}^{n-m}), \mathbf{R}^{n-m})$  which satisfies

$$\langle \phi, C(\sigma) \rangle = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{n-m} \sum_{k=1}^{m} \sum_{l=1}^{n-m} \left\langle (X_i \upsilon_j, X_k \upsilon_l), D^2 \Psi_0^{\$}(\sigma) \right\rangle (\phi(e_i, e_k) \bullet \upsilon_j) \upsilon_l$$

for  $\phi \in \bigcirc^2(\mathbf{R}^m, \mathbf{R}^{n-m})$  where  $e_1, \ldots, e_m$  and  $X_1, \ldots, X_m$  are dual orthonormal bases of  $\mathbf{R}^m$  and  $\bigcirc^1 \mathbf{R}^m$ , and  $\upsilon_1, \ldots, \upsilon_{n-m}$  form an orthonormal base of  $\mathbf{R}^{n-m}$ . Hence, whenever U is an open subset of  $\mathbf{R}^m, u \in \mathbf{W}^{2,1}(U, \mathbf{R}^{n-m})$  is Lipschitzian,  $v \in \mathbf{W}^{2,1}(U, \mathbf{R}^{n-m}), \sigma \in \text{Hom}(\mathbf{R}^m, \mathbf{R}^{n-m})$ , and  $\theta \in \mathscr{D}(U, \mathbf{R}^{n-m})$  one obtains by partial integration the formulae

$$-\int_{U} \langle D\theta(x), D\Psi_{0}^{\S}(Du(x)) \rangle d\mathscr{L}^{m}x = \int_{U} \theta(x) \bullet \langle \mathbf{D}^{2}u(x), C(Du(x)) \rangle d\mathscr{L}^{m}x, -\int_{U} \langle D\theta(x) \odot \mathbf{D}v(x), D^{2}\Psi_{0}^{\S}(\sigma) \rangle d\mathscr{L}^{m}x = \int_{U} \theta(x) \bullet \langle \mathbf{D}^{2}v(x), C(\sigma) \rangle d\mathscr{L}^{m}x,$$

where  $\odot$  denotes multiplication in  $\bigcirc_*$  Hom( $\mathbb{R}^m$ ,  $\mathbb{R}^{n-m}$ ), see [14, 1.9.1].

**Lemma 7.2.** Suppose  $m, n, c, M, and \Upsilon$  are as in 7.1,  $a \in \mathbb{R}^m$ ,  $0 < r < \infty$ ,  $v \in \mathbb{W}^{1,2}(\mathbb{U}(a, r), \mathbb{R}^{n-m})$ ,  $T \in \mathscr{D}'(\mathbb{U}(a, r), \mathbb{R}^{n-m})$  with  $|T|_{-1,2;a,r} < \infty$ .

Then there exists an  $\mathscr{L}^m \sqcup \mathbf{U}(a, r)$  almost unique  $u \in \mathbf{W}^{1,2}(\mathbf{U}(a, r), \mathbf{R}^{n-m})$ such that

$$-\int_{\mathbf{U}(a,r)} \langle D\theta(x) \odot \mathbf{D}u(x), \Upsilon \rangle \, \mathrm{d}\mathscr{L}^m x = T(\theta) \quad \text{for } \theta \in \mathscr{D}(\mathbf{U}(a,r), \mathbf{R}^{n-m}),$$
$$u - v \in \mathbf{W}_0^{1,2}(\mathbf{U}(a,r), \mathbf{R}^{n-m}).$$

*Moreover, for every affine function*  $P : \mathbf{R}^m \to \mathbf{R}^{n-m}$ 

$$|\mathbf{D}(u-v)|_{2;a,r} \leq c^{-1} (M |\mathbf{D}(v-P)|_{2;a,r} + |T|_{-1,2;a,r}).$$

**Proof.** To prove existence, assume v = 0, let *R* denote the extension of *T* to  $\mathbf{W}_0^{1,2}(\mathbf{U}(a, r), \mathbf{R}^{n-m})$  by continuity and observe that one can take *u* to be a minimiser of

$$\frac{1}{2}\int_{\mathbf{U}(a,r)} \langle \mathbf{D}u(x)\odot\mathbf{D}u(x),\Upsilon\rangle \,\,\mathrm{d}\mathcal{L}^m x + R(u)$$

in  $\mathbf{W}_0^{1,2}(\mathbf{U}(a,r),\mathbf{R}^{n-m})$ 

To prove the estimate, assuming P = 0 by possibly replacing u, v, P by u - P, v - P, 0, one lets  $\theta$  approximate u - v in  $\mathbf{W}_0^{1,2}(\mathbf{U}(a, r), \mathbf{R}^{n-m})$  to obtain

$$c|\mathbf{D}(u-v)|_{2;a,r}^2 \leq \left(M|\mathbf{D}(v-P)|_{2;a,r} + |T|_{-1,2;a,r}\right)|\mathbf{D}(u-v)|_{2;a,r}$$

The uniqueness follows from the estimate.  $\Box$ 

**Remark 7.3.** If T = 0 then *u* is  $\mathscr{L}^m \sqcup U(a, r)$  almost equal to an analytic  $\Upsilon$  harmonic function by [14, 5.2.5, 6].

**Lemma 7.4.** Suppose  $m, n, c, M, \Upsilon$ , and S are as in 7.1,  $0 < \alpha < 1, a \in \mathbb{R}^m$ ,  $0 < r < \infty, u : \mathbf{U}(a, r) \to \mathbb{R}^{n-m}$  is of class 2,  $D^2u$  locally satisfies a Hölder condition with exponent  $\alpha, f : \mathbf{U}(a, r) \to \mathbb{R}^{n-m}$ , and  $S \circ D^2u = f$ .

Then

$$r^{-\alpha}|D^2u|_{\infty;a,r/2} + \mathbf{h}_{\alpha}(D^2u|\mathbf{B}(a,r/2)) \leq \Gamma\left(r^{-2-\alpha-m}|u|_{1;a,r} + \mathbf{h}_{\alpha}(f)\right)$$

where  $\Gamma$  is a positive, finite number depending only on n, c, M, and  $\alpha$ .

**Proof.** Interpolating by use of Ehring's lemma, see for example [35, Theorem I.7.3], and Arzelà's and Ascoli's theorem, it is enough to prove the assertion remaining when the term  $r^{-\alpha}|D^2u|_{\infty;a,r/2}$  is omitted.

Considering slightly smaller *r*, one may assume  $\mathbf{h}_{\alpha}(D^2 u) < \infty$ .

Applying [14, 5.2.14] to the partial derivatives of u and using Ehring's lemma as above, one infers the existence of a positive, finite number  $\Delta$  depending only on n, c, M, and  $\alpha$  such that

$$\mathbf{h}_{\alpha}(D^{2}u|\mathbf{B}(b,s)) \leq 2^{-6-m}\mathbf{h}_{\alpha}(D^{2}u|\mathbf{B}(b,2s)) \\ +\Delta\left(s^{-2-\alpha-m}|u|_{1;b,2s} + \mathbf{h}_{\alpha}(f|\mathbf{B}(b,2s))\right)$$

whenever  $b \in \mathbf{R}^m$ ,  $0 < s < \infty$  and  $\mathbf{B}(b, 2s) \subset \mathbf{U}(a, r)$ .

Defining  $h : \mathbf{U}(a, r) \to \mathbf{R}$  by  $h(x) = \frac{1}{4} \operatorname{dist}(x, \mathbf{R}^m \sim \mathbf{U}(a, r))$  for  $x \in \mathbf{U}(a, r)$ ,

$$\mu = \sup\left\{h(b)^{2+\alpha+m}\mathbf{h}_{\alpha}(D^{2}u|\mathbf{B}(b,h(b))): b \in \mathbf{U}(a,r)\right\}$$

and noting  $\mu \leq r^{2+\alpha+m} \mathbf{h}_{\alpha}(D^2 u) < \infty$ , one estimates for  $b \in \mathbf{U}(a, r)$ 

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{h}_{\alpha}(D^{2}u|\mathbf{B}(b,h(b))) &\leq 2^{-6-m}\mathbf{h}_{\alpha}(D^{2}u|\mathbf{B}(b,2h(b))) \\ &+\Delta\big(h(b)^{-2-\alpha-m}|u|_{1;a,r} + \mathbf{h}_{\alpha}(f)\big), \\ |h(b) - h(c)| &\leq (\operatorname{Lip} h)|b - c| \leq h(b)/2, \ h(b) \leq 2h(c) \quad \text{for } c \in \mathbf{B}(b,2h(b)), \\ h(b)^{2+\alpha+m}\mathbf{h}_{\alpha}(D^{2}u|\mathbf{B}(b,2h(b))) &\leq 2^{4+\alpha+m}\mu, \\ h(b)^{2+\alpha+m}\mathbf{h}_{\alpha}(D^{2}u|\mathbf{B}(b,h(b))) &\leq \mu/2 + \Delta\big(|u|_{1;a,r} + r^{2+\alpha+m}\mathbf{h}_{\alpha}(f)\big), \end{aligned}$$

hence

$$(r/4)^{2+\alpha+m}\mathbf{h}_{\alpha}(D^{2}u|\mathbf{B}(a,r/2)) \leq 2^{5+m}\mu \leq 2^{6+m}\Delta(|u|_{1;a,r}+r^{2+\alpha+m}\mathbf{h}_{\alpha}(f))$$

and the remaining assertion is evident.  $\Box$ 

**Remark 7.5.** Similar absorption procedures can be found, for example, in [14, 5.2.14] or [17, Theorem 9.11].

**Lemma 7.6.** Suppose m, n, c, M, and  $\Upsilon$  are as in 7.1,  $2 \leq p < \infty$ ,  $a \in \mathbb{R}^m$ , and  $0 < r < \infty$ .

Then for every  $f \in \mathbf{L}_p(\mathscr{L}^m \sqcup \mathbf{U}(a, r), \mathbf{R}^{n-m})$  there exists an  $\mathscr{L}^m \sqcup \mathbf{U}(a, r)$ almost unique  $u \in \mathbf{W}_0^{1,p}(\mathbf{U}(a, r), \mathbf{R}^{n-m})$  such that

$$-\int_{\mathbf{U}(a,r)} \langle D\theta(x) \odot \mathbf{D}u(x), \Upsilon \rangle \, \mathrm{d}\mathscr{L}^m x = (\theta, f)_{a,r} \, \text{for } \theta \in \mathscr{D}(\mathbf{U}(a,r), \mathbf{R}^{n-m}).$$

*Moreover,*  $u \in \mathbf{W}^{2, p}(\mathbf{U}(a, r), \mathbf{R}^{n-m})$  and

$$\sum_{i=0}^{2} r^{i-2} |\mathbf{D}^{i}u|_{p;a,r} \leq \Gamma |f|_{p;a,r}$$

where  $\Gamma$  is a positive, finite number depending only on n, c, M, and p.

**Proof.** See [16, pp. 368–370]. □

**Remark 7.7.** The condition  $p \ge 2$  can, of course, be replaced by p > 1. For example [16, Theorem 10.15] extends to this case via duality and the estimate of the second order derivatives can be carried out by using the method of difference quotients starting from a suitably localised version of the theorem cited.

**Lemma 7.8.** Suppose *m*, *n*, *c*, *M*, and  $\Upsilon$  are as in 7.1,  $a \in \mathbb{R}^{m}$ ,  $0 < r < \infty$ ,  $u \in W_{0}^{1,1}(\mathbb{U}(a, r), \mathbb{R}^{n-m}), T \in \mathscr{D}'(\mathbb{U}(a, r), \mathbb{R}^{n-m})$ , and

$$-\int_{\mathbf{U}(a,r)} \langle D\theta(x) \odot \mathbf{D}u(x), \Upsilon \rangle \, \mathrm{d}\mathscr{L}^m x = T(\theta) \ \text{for } \theta \in \mathscr{D}(\mathbf{U}(a,r), \mathbf{R}^{n-m}).$$

Then

$$|u|_{1;a,r} \leq \Gamma r |T|_{-1,1;a,r}$$

where  $\Gamma$  is a positive, finite number depending only on *n*, *c*, and *M*.

**Proof.** Let p = 2m and q = p/(p-1) and assume r = 1.

Whenever  $\theta \in \mathscr{D}(\mathbf{U}(a, r), \mathbf{R}^{n-m})$  one obtains  $\eta \in \mathbf{W}_0^{1, p}(\mathbf{U}(a, r), \mathbf{R}^{n-m})$  from 7.6 such that with  $\Delta_1 = \Gamma_{7.6}(n, c, M, p)$ 

$$-\int_{\mathbf{U}(a,1)} \langle D\zeta(x) \odot \mathbf{D}\eta(x), \Upsilon \rangle \, \mathrm{d}\mathscr{L}^m x = (\zeta, \theta)_{a,1} \quad \text{for } \zeta \in \mathscr{D}(\mathbf{U}(a,1), \mathbf{R}^{n-m}),$$
$$\sum_{i=0}^2 |\mathbf{D}^i\eta|_{p;a,1} \leq \Delta_1 |\theta|_{p;a,1},$$

hence by [17, Theorem 7.26(ii)]

$$|\mathbf{D}\eta|_{\infty;a,1} \leq \Delta_2 (|\mathbf{D}\eta|_{p;a,1} + |\mathbf{D}^2\eta|_{p;a,1}) \leq \Delta_1 \Delta_2 |\theta|_{p;a,1},$$

where  $\Delta_2$  is a positive, finite number depending only on *n* and *p*. Approximating and *u* by  $\zeta_i \in \mathscr{D}(\mathbf{U}(a, 1), \mathbf{R}^{n-m})$  in  $\mathbf{W}_0^{1,1}(\mathbf{U}(a, 1), \mathbf{R}^{n-m})$  and  $\eta$  by a sequence  $\eta_i \in \mathscr{D}(\mathbf{U}(a, r), \mathbf{R}^{n-m})$  such that

$$\eta_i \to \eta$$
 in  $\mathbf{W}^{1,p}(\mathbf{U}(a,1), \mathbf{R}^{n-m})$  as  $i \to \infty$ ,  $\lim_{i \to \infty} |D\eta_i|_{\infty;a,1} = |\mathbf{D}\eta|_{\infty;a,1}$ ,

one obtains

$$(\theta, u)_{a,1} = -\int_{\mathbf{U}(a,1)} \langle \mathbf{D}\eta(x) \odot \mathbf{D}u(x), \Upsilon \rangle \ \mathrm{d}\mathscr{L}^m x \leq |T|_{-1,1;a,1} |\mathbf{D}\eta|_{\infty;a,1}.$$

Therefore (compare [14, 2.4.16])

$$|u|_{1;a,1} \leq \alpha(m)^{1/p} |u|_{q;a,1} \leq \alpha(m)^{1/p} \Delta_1 \Delta_2 |T|_{-1,1;a,1}$$

and one may take  $\Gamma = \sup\{\alpha(i)^{1/p} \Delta_1 \Delta_2 : n > i \in \mathscr{P}\}.$ 

**Remark 7.9.** If m > 1 the estimate may be sharpened to

$$\sup \left\{ t \mathcal{L}^m(\mathbf{U}(a,r) \cap \{x : |u(x)| > t\})^{1-1/m} : 0 < t < \infty \right\} \leq \Gamma |T|_{-1,1;a,r};$$

in fact, one may follow the same line of argument with the Lorentz space  $L_{m,1}$  replacing  $L_p$ .

# 8. A Model Case of Partial Regularity

The present section uses the new iteration technique in the setting of pointwise decay estimates for the Euler Lagrange differential operator associated to an integrand satisfying a quadratic growth condition. Its purpose is to indicate applications in the study of partial regularity for elliptic systems as well as to outline some of the techniques used in Section 9 in a significantly simpler setting. However, the results of this section are not needed in the remaining sections. They depend only on Section 7 and 3.15, 3.16.

**8.1** Suppose  $m, n \in \mathcal{P}, m < n, 0 < c \leq M < \infty, and F : Hom(\mathbf{R}^m, \mathbf{R}^{n-m}) \rightarrow \mathbf{R}$  is of class 2 such that for  $\sigma, \tau \in Hom(\mathbf{R}^m, \mathbf{R}^{n-m})$ 

$$\left\langle \sigma \odot \sigma, D^2 F(\tau) \right\rangle \ge c |\sigma|^2, \quad \|D^2 F(\tau)\| \le M.$$

**Lemma 8.2.** Suppose *m*, *n*, *c*, *M*, and *F* are as in 8.1,  $a \in \mathbf{R}^{m}$ ,  $0 < r < \infty$ ,  $u \in \mathbf{W}^{1,2}(\mathbf{U}(a, r), \mathbf{R}^{n-m})$ ,  $T \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbf{U}(a, r), \mathbf{R}^{n-m})$ , and

$$-\int_{\mathbf{U}(a,r)} \left\langle D\theta(x), DF(\mathbf{D}u(x)) \right\rangle \, \mathrm{d}\mathscr{L}^m x = T(\theta) \ \text{for } \theta \in \mathscr{D}(\mathbf{U}(a,r), \mathbf{R}^{n-m}).$$

Then there holds for every affine function  $P : \mathbf{R}^m \to \mathbf{R}^{n-m}$ 

$$r^{-m/2} |\mathbf{D}(u-P)|_{2;a,r/2} \leq \Gamma \left( r^{-1-m} |u-P|_{1;a,r} + r^{-m/2} |T|_{-1,2;a,r} \right),$$

where  $\Gamma$  is a positive, finite number depending only on *m*, *n*, *c*, and *M*.

**Proof.** Assume r = 1 and abbreviate v = u - P. Observing

$$-\int_{\mathbf{U}(a,r)} \langle D\theta(x) \odot \mathbf{D}v(x), A(x) \rangle \, \mathrm{d}\mathscr{L}^m x = T(\theta) \quad \text{for } \theta \in \mathscr{D}(\mathbf{U}(a,1), \mathbf{R}^{n-m})$$
  
where  $A(x) = \int_0^1 D^2 F(t\mathbf{D}u(x) + (1-t)DP(x)) \, \mathrm{d}\mathscr{L}^1 t$ ,

one may infer, for example as in [14, 5.2.3], that

$$|\mathbf{D}v|_{2;b,\varrho} \leq c^{-1/2} M^{1/2} \varrho^{-1} |v|_{2;b,2\varrho} + c^{-1} |T|_{-1,2;b,2\varrho}$$

whenever  $b \in \mathbf{R}^m$ ,  $0 < \rho < \infty$  with  $\mathbf{U}(b, 2\rho) \subset \mathbf{U}(a, 1)$ .

From [17, Theorem 7.26(i)] and Ehring's lemma, see for example [35, Theorem I.7.3], it follows that for every  $0 < \kappa < \infty$  there exists a positive, finite number  $\Delta$  depending only on *n* and  $\kappa$  such that

$$\varrho^{-1} |v|_{2;b,2\varrho} \leq \delta |\mathbf{D}v|_{2;b,2\varrho} + \Delta \varrho^{-1-m/2} |v|_{1;b,2\varrho}$$

whenever  $b \in \mathbf{R}^m$ ,  $0 < \rho < \infty$  with  $\mathbf{U}(b, 2\rho) \subset \mathbf{U}(a, 1)$ . Therefore, one readily verifies the conclusion by use of Simon's absorption lemma [32, p. 398].  $\Box$ 

**8.3** If *m*, *n*, *c*, *M*, and *F* are as in 8.1 then  $D^2F$  is uniformly continuous if and only if there exists  $\Omega : \{t: 0 \leq t < \infty\} \rightarrow \{t: 0 \leq t \leq 2M\}$  such that

 $\Omega$  is continuous at 0 with  $\Omega(0) = 0$ ,  $\Omega^2$  is concave,

 $\|D^2 F(\sigma) - D^2 F(\tau)\| \leq \Omega(|\sigma - \tau|) \text{ for } \sigma, \tau \in \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbf{R}^m, \mathbf{R}^{n-m}).$ 

Observe that such  $\Omega$  is nondecreasing and satisfies  $\Omega(st) \leq s^{1/2}\Omega(t)$  for  $1 \leq s < \infty$  and  $0 \leq t < \infty$ .

Moreover, let  $0 < \alpha \leq 1$  and define  $\omega : \{t : 0 < t \leq 1\} \rightarrow \{t : 0 \leq t \leq 1\}$  by

$$\omega(t) = t^{\alpha}$$
 if  $\alpha < 1$ ,  $\omega(t) = t(1 + \log(1/t))$  if  $\alpha = 1$ 

whenever  $0 < t \leq 1$ .

**Theorem 8.4.** Suppose  $m, n \in \mathcal{P}, m < n, 0 < c \leq M < \infty$ , and  $0 < \alpha \leq 1$ . Then there exists a positive, finite number  $\varepsilon$  with the following property.

If  $a \in \mathbf{R}^m$ ,  $0 < r < \infty$ , F,  $\Omega$ ,  $\omega$  are related to m, n, c, M,  $\alpha$  as in 8.1 and 8.3,  $u \in \mathbf{W}^{1,2}(\mathbf{U}(a,r), \mathbf{R}^{n-m})$ ,  $T \in \mathscr{D}'(\mathbf{U}(a,r), \mathbf{R}^{n-m})$ ,  $\sigma \in \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbf{R}^m, \mathbf{R}^{n-m})$ ,  $0 \leq \gamma < \infty$ , and

$$\begin{split} \Omega(\gamma) &\leq \varepsilon \quad if \, \alpha < 1, \qquad \Omega(t) \leq \varepsilon (1 + \log(\gamma/t))^{-1} \quad for \, 0 < t \leq \gamma \ if \, \alpha = 1, \\ -\int_{\mathbf{U}(a,r)} \langle D\theta(x), DF(\mathbf{D}u(x)) \rangle \ \mathrm{d}\mathscr{L}^m x = T(\theta) \quad for \, \theta \in \mathscr{D}(\mathbf{U}(a,r), \mathbf{R}^{n-m}), \\ \left( \int_{\mathbf{U}(a,r)} |\mathbf{D}(u-\sigma)|^2 \ \mathrm{d}\mathscr{L}^m \right)^{1/2} \leq \gamma, \\ \varrho^{-m/2} |T|_{-1,2;a,\varrho} \leq \gamma (\varrho/r)^\alpha \quad for \, 0 < \varrho \leq r, \end{split}$$

*then*  $a \in \operatorname{dmn} \mathbf{D} u$  *and* 

$$\left(\int_{\mathbf{U}(a,\varrho)} |\mathbf{D}(u - \mathbf{D}u(a))|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\mathcal{L}^m\right)^{1/2} \leq \Gamma \omega(\varrho/r) \gamma \quad for \, 0 < \varrho \leq r,$$

where  $\Gamma$  is a positive, finite number depending only on m, n, c, M, and  $\alpha$ .

Proof. Define

$$\begin{split} &\Delta_1 = \sup\{\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m), \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)^{1/2}\}\Gamma_{7.8}(n, c, M), \quad \Delta_2 = 2^{m+5}(m+1)^{m+2}(M/c)^{m+1}, \\ &\Delta_3 = \sup\{2^{4+2m}, n(n-m)\}\Gamma_{7.4}(n, c, M, 1/2), \quad \Delta_4 = 2\Delta_3 \sup\{\Delta_1, 2^m \Delta_2\}, \\ &\Delta_5 = \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)^{-1/2}2^{1+2m}\Gamma_{8.2}(m, n, c, M), \quad \Delta_6 = \Delta_5 \sup\{1 + \Delta_1, \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)\}, \\ &\Delta_7 = \Gamma_{7.4}(n, c, M, 1/2)(\Delta_1(2M+1) + \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)\Gamma_{3.16}(n)). \end{split}$$

Moreover, define

$$\begin{split} &\Delta_8 = 1 - 4^{\alpha - 1} \quad \text{if } \alpha < 1, \qquad \Delta_8 = \log 4 \quad \text{if } \alpha = 1, \\ &\Delta_9 = \sup\{2^{m + 3}\Delta_7, 2\Delta_4\Delta_8^{-1}\}, \quad \Delta_{10} = \sup\{2^{m + 2}, 8\Delta_6\}, \\ &\Delta_{11} = \sup\{s^{1/2}(1 + \log(1/s)): 0 < s \leq 1\}, \quad \Delta_{12} = \left(8\Delta_6\left(1 + 2\Delta_{11}^{1/2}\right)\right)^{-1}, \\ &\Delta_{13} = \inf\left\{\Delta_{12}, \left(\Delta_4(2\Delta_{11}^{1/2})(1 + \Delta_{12}^{-1})\right)^{-1}\Delta_8/2\right\}, \\ &\gamma_1 = \sup\{\Delta_9, \Delta_{10}\Delta_{12}\}, \quad \gamma_2 = \Delta_{12}^{-1}\gamma_1, \quad \varepsilon = \Delta_{13}\gamma_2^{-1/2}, \\ &\Delta_{14} = (1 + 4^{-\alpha})^{-1} \quad \text{if } \alpha < 1, \qquad \Delta_{14} = (4/3) + (4/9)\log 4 \quad \text{if } \alpha = 1, \\ &\Delta_{15} = \gamma_2\Delta_{14}, \quad \Gamma = \gamma_2 + 2^{m + 1}\Delta_{15}. \end{split}$$

Suppose *a*, *r*, *F*,  $\Omega$ ,  $\omega$ , *u*, *T*,  $\sigma$ , and  $\gamma$  satisfy the hypotheses in the body of the theorem with  $\varepsilon$ .

Assume 
$$r = 1$$
.  
Define  $\sigma_{\varrho} = \int_{\mathbf{U}(a,\varrho)} \mathbf{D}u \, \mathrm{d}\mathscr{L}^m \in \mathrm{Hom}(\mathbf{R}^m, \mathbf{R}^{n-m})$  for  $0 < \varrho \leq 1$  and note  
 $\int_{\mathbf{U}(a,\varrho)} |\mathbf{D}(u - \sigma_{\varrho})|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\mathscr{L}^m \leq \int_{\mathbf{U}(a,\varrho)} |\mathbf{D}(u - \tau)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\mathscr{L}^m$ 

whenever  $0 < \rho \leq 1$  and  $\tau \in \text{Hom}(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathbb{R}^{n-m})$ . Denote by  $u_{\rho}$  the unique function such that, see 7.2, 7.3,

$$\begin{split} u_{\varrho} &\in \mathscr{E}(\mathbf{U}(a,\varrho),\mathbf{R}^{n-m}), \quad u - u_{\varrho} \in \mathbf{W}_{0}^{1,2}(\mathbf{U}(a,\varrho),\mathbf{R}^{n-m}), \\ &\int_{\mathbf{U}(a,\varrho)} \left\langle D\theta(x) \odot \mathbf{D}u_{\varrho}(x), D^{2}F(\sigma_{\varrho}) \right\rangle \mathrm{d}\mathscr{L}^{m}x = 0 \quad \text{for } \theta \in \mathscr{D}(\mathbf{U}(a,\varrho),\mathbf{R}^{n-m}) \end{split}$$

whenever  $0 < \rho \leq 1$ . Define  $\phi_i : \{\rho : 0 < \rho \leq 1\} \rightarrow \mathbf{R}$  for  $i \in \{1, 2, 3\}$  and  $S_{\rho}, R_{\rho} \in \mathscr{D}'(\mathbf{U}(a, \rho), \mathbf{R}^{n-m})$  by

$$\begin{split} \phi_{1}(\varrho) &= |D^{2}u_{\varrho}|_{\infty;a,\varrho/2}, \quad \phi_{2}(\varrho) = \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)^{-1/2} \varrho^{-m/2} |\mathbf{D}(u - \sigma_{\varrho})|_{2;a,\varrho}, \\ \phi_{3}(\varrho) &= \varrho^{-m/2} |T|_{-1,2;a,\varrho}, \\ R_{\varrho}(\theta) &= -\int_{\mathbf{U}(a,\varrho)} \left\langle D\theta(x) \odot \mathbf{D}(u - u_{\varrho})(x), D^{2}F(\sigma_{\varrho}) \right\rangle \, \mathrm{d}\mathscr{L}^{m}x, \\ S_{\varrho}(\theta) &= -\int_{\mathbf{U}(a,\varrho)} \left\langle D\theta(x), DF(\mathbf{D}u(x)) \right\rangle \, \mathrm{d}\mathscr{L}^{m}x \end{split}$$

whenever  $\theta \in \mathscr{D}(\mathbf{U}(a, \varrho), \mathbf{R}^{n-m})$  and  $0 < \varrho \leq 1$ . Moreover, define  $P_{\varrho} : \mathbf{R}^m \to \mathbf{R}^{n-m}$  by  $P_{\varrho}(x) = u_{\varrho}(a) + \langle x - a, Du_{\varrho}(a) \rangle$  for  $x \in \mathbf{R}^m$ .

Next, the following four inequalities valid for  $0 < \rho \leq 1$  will be established.

$$\varrho^{-1-m} | u - u_{\varrho} |_{1;a,\varrho} \leq \Delta_1 \big( \Omega(\phi_2(\varrho))\phi_2(\varrho) + \phi_3(\varrho) \big), \tag{I}$$

$$\phi_1(\varrho) \leq \Delta_7 \varrho^{-1}(\phi_2(\varrho) + \phi_3(\varrho)),\tag{II}$$

$$\phi_1(\varrho/4) \leq \phi_1(\varrho) + \Delta_4 \left( \Omega(\phi_2(\varrho))(\phi_1(\varrho) + \varrho^{-1}\phi_2(\varrho)) + \varrho^{-1}\phi_3(\varrho) \right),$$
(III)

$$\phi_2(\varrho/4) \leq \Delta_6 \big( \varrho \phi_1(\varrho) + \Omega(\phi_2(\varrho)) \phi_2(\varrho) + \phi_3(\varrho) \big).$$
 (IV)

To prove (I), compute for  $\mathscr{L}^m$  almost all  $x \in \mathbf{U}(a, \varrho)$  by means of Taylor's formula

$$DF(\mathbf{D}u(x)) = DF(\sigma_{\varrho}) + (\mathbf{D}u(x) - \sigma_{\varrho}) \,\lrcorner\, D^{2}F(\sigma_{\varrho}) + (\mathbf{D}u(x) - \sigma_{\varrho}) \,\lrcorner\, \int_{0}^{1} D^{2}F(t\mathbf{D}u(x) + (1 - t)\sigma_{\varrho}) - D^{2}F(\sigma_{\varrho}) \,\mathrm{d}\mathscr{L}^{1}t$$

and observe for  $\theta \in \mathscr{D}(\mathbf{U}(a, \varrho), \mathbf{R}^{n-m})$ 

$$(S_{\varrho} - R_{\varrho})(\theta) = -\int_{\mathbf{U}(a,\varrho)} \langle D\theta(x) \odot \mathbf{D}(u - \sigma_{\varrho})(x), A(x) \rangle \, \mathrm{d}\mathscr{L}^m x$$
  
where  $A(x) = \int_0^1 D^2 F(t \mathbf{D}u(x) + (1 - t)\sigma_{\varrho}) - D^2 F(\sigma_{\varrho}) \, \mathrm{d}\mathscr{L}^1 t$ ,

hence, one readily estimates by use Hölder's inequality and Jensen's inequality

$$\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)^{-1} \varrho^{-m} |R_{\varrho} - S_{\varrho}|_{-1,1;a,\varrho} \leq \int_{\mathbf{U}(a,\varrho)} |\mathbf{D}(u - \sigma_{\varrho})| (\Omega \circ |\mathbf{D}(u - \sigma_{\varrho})|) \, \mathrm{d}\mathscr{L}^{m}$$
$$\leq \Omega(\phi_{2}(\varrho))\phi_{2}(\varrho),$$
$$\varrho^{-m} |R_{\varrho}|_{-1,1;a,\varrho} \leq \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)\Omega(\phi_{2}(\varrho))\phi_{2}(\varrho) + \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)^{1/2}\phi_{3}(\varrho)$$

for  $0 < \rho \leq 1$ . Consequently, one infers (I) by 7.8.

To prove (II), note for every affine function  $Q : \mathbf{R}^m \to \mathbf{R}^{n-m}$ 

$$\phi_1(\varrho) \leq \Gamma_{7,4}(n, c, M, 1/2) \varrho^{-2-m} (|u_{\varrho} - u|_{1;a,\varrho} + |u - \varrho|_{1;a,\varrho})$$

by 7.4, hence (I) and 3.16 imply (II).

To prove (III), first compute

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbf{U}(a,\varrho/4)} \left\langle D\theta(x) \odot D(u_{\varrho} - u_{\varrho/4})(x), D^{2}F(\sigma_{\varrho/4}) \right\rangle \, \mathrm{d}\mathscr{L}^{m}x \\ &= \int_{\mathbf{U}(a,\varrho/4)} \left\langle D\theta(x) \odot Du_{\varrho}(x), D^{2}F(\sigma_{\varrho/4}) - D^{2}F(\sigma_{\varrho}) \right\rangle \, \mathrm{d}\mathscr{L}^{m}x \end{split}$$

for  $\theta \in \mathscr{D}(\mathbf{U}(a, \varrho/4), \mathbf{R}^{n-m})$ . Therefore, noting

$$\begin{aligned} |\sigma_{\varrho/4} - \sigma_{\varrho}| &\leq 2^{m+1}\phi_2(\varrho), \quad \phi_2(\varrho/4) \leq 2^m\phi_2(\varrho), \quad \phi_3(\varrho/4) \leq 2^m\phi_3(\varrho), \\ \varrho^{1/2}\mathbf{h}_{1/2}(D^2u_{\varrho}|\mathbf{B}(a,\varrho/4)) \leq \Delta_2\phi_1(\varrho) \end{aligned}$$

by [14, 5.2.5], one uses 7.4 and (I) to infer

$$\begin{aligned} |D^{2}(u_{\varrho} - u_{\varrho/4})|_{\infty;a,\varrho/8} \\ &\leq \Delta_{3}(\varrho^{-2-m}|u_{\varrho} - u_{\varrho/4}|_{1;a,\varrho/4} + \Omega(|\sigma_{\varrho/4} - \sigma_{\varrho}|)\varrho^{1/2}\mathbf{h}_{1/2}(D^{2}u_{\varrho}|\mathbf{B}(a,\varrho/4))) \\ &\leq \Delta_{4}\left(\Omega(\phi_{2}(\varrho))(\phi_{1}(\varrho) + \varrho^{-1}\phi_{2}(\varrho)) + \varrho^{-1}\phi_{3}(\varrho)\right) \end{aligned}$$

and (III) follows.

To prove (IV), apply 8.2 with r, u, T, and P replaced by  $\rho/2, u | \mathbf{U}(a, \rho/2), S_{\rho/2}$  and  $P_{\rho}$  to infer

$$\phi_2(\varrho/4) \leq \Delta_5 \left( \varrho^{-1-m} (|u - u_{\varrho}|_{1;a,\varrho} + |u_{\varrho} - P_{\varrho}|_{1;a,\varrho/2}) + \phi_3(\varrho) \right)$$

and use (I) and Taylor's formula to verify (IV).

Next, it will be shown

$$\phi_1(\varrho) \leq \gamma \gamma_1 \varrho^{-1} \omega(\varrho), \quad \phi_2(\varrho) \leq \gamma \gamma_2 \omega(\varrho)$$
 (V)

for  $0 < \rho \leq 1$ . If  $1/4 \leq \rho \leq 1$  then (V) holds for  $\rho$  since by (II)

$$\phi_1(\varrho) \leq 2^{m+2} \Delta_7(\phi_2(1) + \phi_3(1)) \leq \gamma \gamma_1 \leq \gamma \gamma_1 \varrho^{-1} \omega(\varrho),$$
  
$$\phi_2(\varrho) \leq 2^m \phi_2(1) \leq \gamma 2^{m+2} \varrho^{\alpha} \leq \gamma \gamma_2 \omega(\varrho).$$

Suppose now (V) holds for some  $0 < \rho \leq 1$ . In *case*  $\alpha < 1$ , noting  $\Omega(\gamma \gamma_2) \leq \gamma_2^{1/2} \Omega(\gamma) \leq \Delta_{13} \leq \Delta_{12}$ , (III) and (IV) imply

$$\phi_1(\varrho/4) \leq \gamma \gamma_1(\varrho/4)^{\alpha-1} \left( 4^{\alpha-1} + \Delta_4 \Omega(\gamma \gamma_2) (1 + \Delta_{12}^{-1}) + \Delta_4 \gamma_1^{-1} \right) \leq \gamma \gamma_1(\varrho/4)^{\alpha-1},$$
  

$$\phi_2(\varrho/4) \leq \gamma \gamma_2(\varrho/4)^{\alpha} \left( 4 \Delta_6 (2\Delta_{12} + \gamma_2^{-1}) \right) \leq \gamma \gamma_2(\varrho/4)^{\alpha}$$

and (V) holds for  $\rho/4$ . In case  $\alpha = 1$ , noting

$$\begin{split} \Omega\big(\gamma\gamma_{2}\varrho(1+\log(1/\varrho))\big) &\leq (\gamma_{2}\Delta_{11})^{1/2}\Omega\big(\gamma\varrho^{1/2}\big) \\ &\leq 2\Delta_{11}^{1/2}\Delta_{13}(1+\log(1/\varrho))^{-1} \leq 2\Delta_{11}^{1/2}\Delta_{12}, \end{split}$$

(III) and (IV) imply

$$\begin{split} \phi_{1}(\varrho/4) &\leq \gamma \gamma_{1} \Big( (1 + \log(1/\varrho)) \Big( 1 + \Delta_{4} \Omega(\gamma \gamma_{2} \varrho(1 + \log(1/\varrho))) (1 + \Delta_{12}^{-1}) \Big) \\ &+ \Delta_{4} \gamma_{1}^{-1} \Big) \\ &\leq \gamma \gamma_{1} \Big( (1 + \log(1/\varrho)) + 2\Delta_{4} \Delta_{11}^{1/2} (1 + \Delta_{12}^{-1}) \Delta_{13} + \Delta_{4} \Delta_{9}^{-1} \Big) \\ &\leq \gamma \gamma_{1} (1 + \log(4/\varrho)), \\ \phi_{2}(\varrho/4) &\leq \gamma \gamma_{2} \varrho(1 + \log(1/\varrho)) \Delta_{6} \Big( \Delta_{12} + \Omega(\gamma \gamma_{2} \varrho(1 + \log(1/\varrho))) + \gamma_{2}^{-1} \Big), \\ &\leq \gamma \gamma_{2} \omega(\varrho/4) \Big( 4\Delta_{6} \Delta_{12} (1 + 2\Delta_{11}^{1/2}) + 4\Delta_{6} \Delta_{10}^{-1} \Big) \\ &\leq \gamma \gamma_{2} \omega(\varrho/4) \Big( 4\Delta_{6} \Delta_{12} (1 + 2\Delta_{11}^{1/2}) + 4\Delta_{6} \Delta_{10}^{-1} \Big) \end{split}$$

and (V) holds for  $\rho/4$ . Hence the assertion follows in both cases.

One readily estimates by use of (V)

$$\sum_{\nu=0}^{\infty} \phi_2(4^{-\nu}\varrho) \leq \Delta_{15}\gamma\omega(\varrho) \quad \text{for } 0 < \varrho \leq 1$$

hence, noting  $|\sigma_{\varrho} - \sigma_s| \leq 2^{m+1} \phi_2(\varrho)$  if  $\varrho/4 \leq s \leq \varrho$ , one infers the existence of  $\tau \in \text{Hom}(\mathbf{R}^m, \mathbf{R}^{n-m})$  such that

$$|\tau - \sigma_{\varrho}| \leq 2^{m+1} \Delta_{15} \gamma \omega(\varrho) \text{ for } 0 < \varrho \leq 1.$$

Therefore, noting (V),

$$\left(\int_{\mathbf{U}(a,\varrho)} |\mathbf{D}(u-\tau)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\mathcal{L}^m\right)^{1/2} \leq \Gamma \gamma \omega(\varrho) \quad \text{for } 0 < \varrho \leq 1,$$

in particular  $a \in \operatorname{dmn} \mathbf{D} u$  with  $\tau = \mathbf{D} u(a)$ .  $\Box$ 

**Remark 8.5.** A similar but simpler argument shows the following proposition: If  $n \in \mathscr{P}$  and  $0 < c \leq M < \infty$ , then there exist positive, finite numbers  $\varepsilon$  and  $\Gamma$  such that if  $n > m \in \mathscr{P}$ ,  $a \in \mathbf{R}^m$ ,  $0 < r < \infty$ ,  $A : \mathbf{U}(a, r) \to \bigcirc^2 \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbf{R}^m, \mathbf{R}^{n-m})$  is  $\mathscr{L}^m \sqcup \mathbf{U}(a, r)$  measurable,

$$\begin{split} \|A(a)\| &\leq M, \quad A(a) \text{ is strongly elliptic with ellipticity bound } c,\\ \sup\{(1 + \log(r/|x - a|))\|A(x) - A(a)\| : x \in \mathbf{U}(a, r) \sim \{a\}\} &\leq \varepsilon, \\ u \in \mathbf{W}^{1,2}(\mathbf{U}(a, r), \mathbf{R}^{n-m}), \ T \in \mathscr{D}'(\mathbf{U}(a, r), \mathbf{R}^{n-m}), \ 0 &\leq \gamma < \infty, \\ \int_{\mathbf{U}(a, r)} \langle D\theta(x) \odot \mathbf{D}u(x), A(x) \rangle \ d\mathscr{L}^m x = T(\theta) \quad for \ \theta \in \mathscr{D}(\mathbf{U}(a, r), \mathbf{R}^{n-m}), \\ \varrho^{-m/2} |T|_{-1,2;a,\varrho} &\leq \gamma \quad for \ 0 < \varrho \leq r, \end{split}$$

then with  $\sigma_{\varrho} = \int_{\mathbf{U}(a,\varrho)} \mathbf{D} u \, \mathrm{d} \mathscr{L}^m$ 

$$\varrho^{-m/2} |\mathbf{D}(u - \sigma_{\varrho})|_{2;a,\varrho} \leq \Gamma \left( r^{-m/2} |\mathbf{D}u|_{2;a,r} + \gamma \right) \text{ for } 0 < \varrho \leq r.$$

One may use the example exhibited by JIN et al. in [19, Proposition 1.6] to verify that " $\leq \varepsilon$ " cannot be replaced by " $\leq M$ " even if n - m = 1 and T = 0. Moreover, if  $F : \text{Hom}(\mathbf{R}^m, \mathbf{R}^{n-m}) \to \mathbf{R}$  is of class 2,  $\Omega$  is related to F as in 8.3,  $0 < \beta < 1, 0 < \delta < \infty, 1 \leq \Delta < \infty, v \in \mathbf{W}^{2,2}(\mathbf{U}(a, r), \mathbf{R}^{n-m}), v$  is of class 1,  $\mathbf{h}_{\beta}(Dv) \leq \Delta \delta r^{-\beta}, \sigma = Dv(a),$ 

$$\begin{split} \|D^2 F(\sigma)\| &\leq M, \quad D^2 F(\sigma) \text{ is strongly elliptic with ellipticity bound } c, \\ \Omega(t) &\leq \Delta^{-1/2} \beta \varepsilon (1 + \log(\delta/t))^{-1} \quad \text{for } 0 < t \leq \delta, \\ \int_{\mathbf{U}(a,r)} \langle D\theta(x), DF(Dv(x)) \rangle \, \mathrm{d}\mathscr{L}^m x = 0 \quad \text{for } \theta \in \mathscr{D}(\mathbf{U}(a,r), \mathbf{R}^{n-m}), \end{split}$$

then the preceding proposition applies with A, u, T, and  $\gamma$  replaced by  $D^2 F \circ Dv$ ,  $D_i v, 0$ , and 0 whenever  $i \in \{1, ..., m\}$ .

**Remark 8.6.** More information and references on the regularity questions for elliptic systems may be found in the surveys of MINGIONE [26] and DUZAAR and MINGIONE [12]. The latter specifically describes the approximation techniques originating from DE GIORGI [10] which are used also in the present paper in modified form.

#### 9. Estimates Concerning the Quadratic Tilt-Excess

The estimates of the present section constitute the core of the proof of the pointwise regularity theorem, Theorem 10.2, in Section 10. All constructions are based on the approximation by a  $\mathbf{Q}_Q(\mathbf{R}^{n-m})$  valued function of Section 5. First, in 9.1 and 9.2 some lower mass bounds are derived by a simple adaption of [31, 17.7] and a straightforward use of Allard's compactness theorem for integral varifolds, see [2, 6.4] or [31, 42.8]. Then, in 9.3 several auxiliary estimates concerning the approximation by a  $\mathbf{Q}_Q(\mathbf{R}^{n-m})$  valued function in 5.7 are carried out. In 9.4 the main elliptic estimates are established, see below for a more detailed description. Finally, a reformulation of a special case of 9.4(9) replacing any reference to the specific approximating functions used there by quantities more tightly connected to the varifold is provided in 9.5 for use in [25].

Next, an overview of the constructions in 9.4 in comparison to the estimates (I)–(V) in the proof of the model case 8.4 is given. One considers cylinders centred at a fixed point  $a \in \mathbb{R}^n$  with projection  $c \in \mathbb{R}^m$ . For any radius  $\rho$  functions  $u_\rho$  solving a Dirichlet problem in  $\mathbf{U}(c, \rho)$  for a suitable linear elliptic system with constant coefficients with the "average" g of the approximating  $\mathbf{Q}_Q(\mathbb{R}^{n-m})$  valued function f as boundary values are defined. It is readily seen in 9.4(6) that  $\phi_1(\rho) = |D^2 u_\rho|_{\infty;c,\rho/2}$ , the leading quantity in the iteration, is controlled by the tilt-excess of the varifold and mean curvature, compare 8.4(II). More importantly, an estimate of  $|u - g|_{1;c,\rho}$ , compare 8.4(I), mainly in terms of mean curvature is established in 9.4(7) by use of 7.8. Using this estimate, the iteration inequality for  $\phi_1$ , compare 8.4(II), follows in 9.4(8). In order to derive an iteration inequality for the tilt-excess of the varifold, that is controlling the tilt-excess basically by  $\phi_1$  and mean curvature, the estimate 9.4(9) is established. It asserts that  $|f(+)(-P)|_{1;X}$ 

with  $P : \mathbf{R}^m \to \mathbf{R}^{n-m}$  an affine function and X a large (with respect to  $\mathscr{L}^m$ ) subset of  $\mathbf{U}(c, \varrho/2)$  together with mean curvature essentially controls the tilt-excess. Here the coercive estimates of Section 4, the interpolation procedure of Section 6 and the adaptions of the Sobolev Poincaré type estimates of [24] in 5.7 (8) are used. Assuming that f agrees with its "average" g on a large set, for example because the density of the varifold is at least Q on a large set, the iteration inequality for the tilt-excess, compare 8.4 (IV), is then primarily a consequence of Taylor's expansion, see 9.4 (10). Finally, both iteration inequalities are iterated in 9.4 (11) as long as the aforementioned density condition is satisfied on the scales involved, compare 8.4 (V). As all the preceding estimates hold only under various side conditions which have to be checked at each iteration step and the interdependence of the various constants occurring is not entirely straightforward, the iteration procedure is presented in some detail to ease verification.

Finally, it should be mentioned that the current iteration procedure has to be carried out within a fixed coordinate systems as differences of functions corresponding to different iteration steps have to be computed, see the Introduction and 9.4(8). Though this fact does not pose a serious difficulty, it nevertheless contributes significantly to the level of technicality, see for example the definition of  $J_4$  and 9.3(8).

**Lemma 9.1.** Suppose  $m, n \in \mathcal{P}, m \leq n, 1 \leq p < \infty, 0 < \alpha \leq 1, 0 \leq M < \infty, a \in \mathbb{R}^n, 0 < r < \infty, V \in \mathbb{V}_m(\mathbb{U}(a, r)), a \in \operatorname{spt} ||V||, and$ 

$$\|\delta V\| \mathbf{B}(a,\varrho) \leq M \|V\| (\mathbf{B}(a,\varrho))^{1-1/p} \varrho^{m/p+\alpha-1} r^{-\alpha} \quad for \ 0 < \varrho < r.$$

Then

$$\left(\varrho^{-m} \|V\| \mathbf{U}(a,\varrho)\right)^{1/p} + Mp^{-1}\alpha^{-1}\varrho^{\alpha}r^{-\alpha}$$

is monotone increasing in  $\varrho$  for  $0 < \varrho < r$ . In particular,  $0 \leq \Theta^m(||V||, a) < \infty$ .

**Proof.** Suppose  $0 < \lambda < 1$  and  $\phi \in \mathscr{E}^0(\mathbf{R})$  with  $\phi' \leq 0$  and  $\phi(t) = 1$  for  $-\infty < t \leq \lambda$  and  $\phi(t) = 0$  for  $1 \leq t < \infty$  and  $f : \mathbf{R} \cap \{\varrho : 0 < \varrho < r\} \rightarrow \mathbf{R}$  is defined by  $f(\varrho) = \varrho^{-m} \int \phi(\varrho^{-1}|z-a|) d \|V\| z$  for  $0 < \varrho < r$ . Then one obtains, as in [31, 17.7], that

$$f'(\varrho) \ge \varrho^{-m-1}(\delta V)_z \big( \phi(\varrho^{-1}|z-a|)(z-a) \big)$$
  
$$\ge -M(\varrho^{-m} \|V\| \mathbf{U}(z,\varrho))^{1-1/p} \varrho^{\alpha-1} r^{-\alpha} \ge -M \big( \lambda^{-m} f(\lambda^{-1}\varrho) \big)^{1-1/p} \varrho^{\alpha-1} r^{-\alpha}$$

for  $0 < \rho < \lambda r$ , hence multiplying by  $p^{-1} f(\rho)^{1/p-1}$  and integrating yields

$$f(t)^{1/p} - f(s)^{1/p} \ge -Mp^{-1}r^{-\alpha} \int_s^t (\lambda^{-m} f(\varrho/\lambda)/f(\varrho))^{1-1/p} \varrho^{\alpha-1} \,\mathrm{d}\mathscr{L}^1 \varrho$$

for  $0 < s < t < \lambda r$ . Thus, approximating the characteristic function of  $\mathbf{R} \cap \{t : t < 1\}$  by such  $\phi$  and letting  $\lambda$  tend to 1 implies the conclusion.  $\Box$ 

**Lemma 9.2.** Suppose  $n, Q \in \mathcal{P}, 0 < \alpha \leq 1, 1 \leq p < \infty$ , and  $0 < \delta \leq 1$ . Then there exists a positive, finite number  $\varepsilon$  with the following property.

If  $n > m \in \mathscr{P}$ ,  $a \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $0 < r < \infty$ ,  $U = \mathbb{U}(a, r) \cap \{z : |T_{\natural}^{\perp}(z-a)| < \delta r\}$ ,  $V \in \mathbb{IV}_m(U)$ ,  $\psi$  is related to V and p as in 4.3,  $T \in \mathbb{G}(n, m)$ ,

$$\Theta^{*m}(||V||, a) \ge Q - 1 + \delta, \quad \int |S_{\natural} - T_{\natural}| \, \mathrm{d}V(z, S) \le \varepsilon r^m,$$
  
$$\varrho^{1 - m/p} \psi(U \cap \mathbf{B}(a, \varrho))^{1/p} \le \varepsilon (\varrho/r)^{\alpha} \quad \text{whenever } 0 < \varrho < r,$$

then

$$||V||(U) \ge (Q - \delta)\alpha(m)r^m.$$

**Proof.** If the lemma were false for some n, Q,  $\alpha$ , p, and  $\delta$ , there would exist a sequence  $\varepsilon_i$  with  $\varepsilon_i \downarrow 0$  as  $i \rightarrow \infty$  and sequences  $m_i$ ,  $a_i$ ,  $r_i$ ,  $U_i$ ,  $V_i$ ,  $\psi_i$ , and  $T_i$  showing that  $\varepsilon = \varepsilon_i$  does not have the asserted property.

One could assume for some  $m \in \mathscr{P}$ ,  $a \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $T \in \mathbb{G}(n, m)$ 

$$m_i = m, \quad a_i = a, \quad r_i = 1, \quad T_i = T$$

whenever  $i \in \mathscr{P}$ . Abbreviating  $U = \mathbf{U}(a, 1) \cap \{z : |T_{\natural}^{\perp}(z-a)| < \delta\}$  one would deduce for large *i* 

$$\|V_i\|(U \cap \mathbf{U}(a, \varrho)) \ge (Q - 1 + \delta/2)\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)\varrho^m \text{ whenever } 0 < \varrho < \delta$$

from 9.1 in conjunction with Hölder's inequality. Clearly, also

$$||V_i||(U) \leq (Q - \delta) \alpha(m) \text{ for } i \in \mathscr{P}.$$

By Allard's compactness theorem for integral varifolds, see for example [2, 6.4] or [31, 42.8], possibly passing to a subsequence, there would exist  $V \in IV_m(U)$  such that  $\delta V = 0$  and

$$V_i(f) \to V(f)$$
 as  $i \to \infty$  for  $f \in \mathcal{K}(U \times \mathbf{G}(n, m))$ ,  
 $S = T$  for V almost all  $(z, S) \in U \times \mathbf{G}(n, m)$ ,

hence, noting 3.6,

$$\Theta^m(\|V\|, a) \ge Q, \quad \alpha(m)Q \le \|V\|(U) \le \alpha(m)(Q-\delta),$$

a contradiction. □

**Lemma 9.3.** Suppose the hypotheses of 5.7 are satisfied with h = 3r, that is, suppose  $m, n, Q \in \mathcal{P}, m < n, 0 < L < \infty, 1 \leq M < \infty, and 0 < \delta_i \leq 1$  for  $i \in \{1, 2, 3, 4, 5\}, \varepsilon = \varepsilon_{5.7}(n, Q, L, M, \delta_1, \delta_2, \delta_3, \delta_4, \delta_5), 0 < r < \infty, T = im \mathbf{p}^*$ ,

$$U = (\mathbf{R}^m \times \mathbf{R}^{n-m}) \cap \{(x, y) : \text{dist}((x, y), \mathbf{C}(T, 0, r, 3r)) < 2r\},\$$

 $V \in \mathbf{IV}_m(U)$ ,  $\|\delta V\|$  is a Radon measure,

$$(Q-1+\delta_1)\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)r^m \leq \|V\|(\mathbf{C}(T,0,r,3r)) \leq (Q+1-\delta_2)\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)r^m, \\ \|V\|(\mathbf{C}(T,0,r,3r+\delta_4r) \sim \mathbf{C}(T,0,r,3r-2\delta_4r)) \leq (1-\delta_3)\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)r^m, \\ \|V\|(U) \leq M\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)r^m, \end{cases}$$

 $0 < \delta \leq \varepsilon$ , B denotes the set of all  $z \in \mathbb{C}(T, 0, r, 3r)$  with  $\Theta^{*m}(||V||, z) > 0$  such that

either 
$$\|\delta V\| \mathbf{B}(z,\varrho) > \delta \|V\| (\mathbf{B}(z,\varrho))^{1-1/m}$$
 for some  $0 < \varrho < 2r$ ,

or  $\int_{\mathbf{B}(z,\varrho)\times\mathbf{G}(n,m)} |S_{\natural} - T_{\natural}| \, \mathrm{d}V(\xi,S) > \delta \, \|V\| \, \mathbf{B}(z,\varrho)$  for some  $0 < \varrho < 2r$ ,

 $A = \mathbf{C}(T, 0, r, 3r) \sim B$ ,  $A(x) = A \cap \{z : \mathbf{p}(z) = x\}$  for  $x \in \mathbf{R}^m$ ,  $X_1$  is the set of all  $x \in \mathbf{R}^m \cap \mathbf{B}(0, r)$  such that

$$\sum_{z \in A(x)} \Theta^m(\|V\|, z) = Q \quad and \quad \Theta^m(\|V\|, z) \in \mathscr{P} \cup \{0\} \text{ for } z \in A(x),$$

and  $f: X_1 \rightarrow \mathbf{Q}_Q(\mathbf{R}^{n-m})$  is characterised by the requirement

$$\Theta^m(||V||, z) = \Theta^0(||f(x)||, \mathbf{q}(z)) \text{ whenever } x \in X_1 \text{ and } z \in A(x).$$

Suppose additionally:

- (1) Suppose  $L \leq \delta_4/8$ ,  $\delta \leq \inf\{1, (2\gamma(m))^{-1}\}$ ,  $a \in \operatorname{Int} \mathbb{C}(T, 0, r, 3r)$ ,  $c = \mathbf{p}(a)$ , and  $0 < \kappa < \infty$ .
- (2) Suppose  $F : \mathbf{R}^m \to \mathbf{Q}_Q(\mathbf{R}^{n-m})$  with  $F|X_1 = f$  and  $\operatorname{Lip} F \leq \Gamma_{(2)} \operatorname{Lip} f$ , where  $\Gamma_{(2)}$  is a positive, finite number depending only on n m and Q, see 3.1. Moreover, let  $g = \eta_Q \circ F$ .
- (3) Suppose either p = m = 1 or  $1 \leq p < m$  and  $p, \psi$  are related to V as in 4.3.
- (4) Define  $J = \{ \varrho : 0 < \varrho < \infty \}$  and  $\phi_2 : J \times \mathbf{G}(n, m) \to \mathbf{R}$  and  $\phi_3 : J \to \mathbf{R}$ ,  $\phi_4 : J \to \mathbf{R}$  by

$$\begin{split} \phi_2(\varrho, R) &= \left( \varrho^{-m} \int_{(U \cap \mathbf{C}(T, a, \varrho, \delta_4 \varrho)) \times \mathbf{G}(n, m)} |S_{\natural} - R_{\natural}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}V(z, S) \right)^{1/2} \\ \phi_3(\varrho) &= \varrho^{1 - m/p} \psi(U \cap \mathbf{C}(T, a, \varrho, \delta_4 \varrho))^{1/p} \\ \phi_4(\varrho) &= \delta^{-mp/(m-p)} \phi_3(\varrho)^{mp/(m-p)} \quad if \, m > 1, \\ \phi_4(\varrho) &= 0 \qquad if \, m = 1, \end{split}$$

whenever  $\varrho \in J$ ,  $R \in \mathbf{G}(n, m)$ .<sup>1</sup>

(5) For  $0 < \rho < \infty$  suppose  $T_{\rho} \in \mathbf{G}(n, m)$  is defined such that

$$\phi_2(\varrho, T_\varrho) \leq \phi_2(\varrho, R)$$
 whenever  $R \in \mathbf{G}(n, m)$ .

(6) Define

$$J_{0} = J \cap \{ \varrho : 0 < \varrho \leq r - |\mathbf{p}(a)|, |\mathbf{q}(a)| + \delta_{4}\varrho \leq 3r \},$$
  

$$J_{1} = J \cap \{ \varrho : \mathbf{p}[T_{\varrho}] = \mathbf{R}^{m} \}$$
  

$$J_{2} = J \cap \{ \varrho : \|\delta V\| (U \cap \mathbf{C}(T, a, \varrho, \delta_{4}\varrho)) \leq \kappa \varrho^{m-1} \},$$
  

$$J_{3} = J \cap \{ \varrho : \int_{(U \cap \mathbf{C}(T, a, \varrho, \delta_{4}\varrho)) \times \mathbf{G}(n,m)} |S_{\natural} - T_{\natural}| \, \mathrm{d}V(z, S) \leq \kappa \varrho^{m} \},$$
  

$$J_{4} = J \cap \{ \varrho : \varrho + t/\delta_{4} \in J_{2} \cap J_{3} \text{ for } 0 \leq t < 2r \},$$
  

$$J_{5} = J_{0} \cap \{ \varrho : \|V\| (\mathbf{C}(T, a, \varrho, \delta_{4}\varrho/4)) \geq \alpha(m)(\varrho - 1/4)\varrho^{m} \}.$$
  
and 
$$T_{\varrho} = \sigma_{\varrho} \in \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbf{R}^{m}, \mathbf{R}^{n-m}) \text{ for } \varrho \in J_{1}.$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The symbol  $\phi_1$  will denote the leading iteration quantity introduced in 9.4(3).

(7) Define  $B_{a,\varrho}$ , and  $C_{a,\varrho}$  for  $\varrho \in J_0$  as in 5.7(6), that is,

$$B_{a,\varrho} = \mathbf{C}(T, a, \varrho, \delta_4 \varrho) \cap B, \quad C_{a,\varrho} = \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{p}(a), \varrho) \sim (X_1 \sim \mathbf{p}[B_{a,\varrho}]),$$

and H as in 5.7(8), that is, H denotes the set of all  $z \in \mathbb{C}(T, 0, r, 3r)$  such that

$$\begin{split} \|\delta V\| \mathbf{U}(z,2r) &\leq \varepsilon \|V\| (\mathbf{U}(z,2r))^{1-1/m}, \\ \int_{\mathbf{U}(z,2r)\times \mathbf{G}(n,m)} |S_{\natural} - T_{\natural}| \, dV(z,S) \leq \varepsilon \|V\| \mathbf{U}(z,2r), \\ \|V\| \mathbf{B}(z,\varrho) &\geq \delta_{5} \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m) \varrho^{m} \quad for \ 0 < \varrho < 2r. \end{split}$$

Then the following six conclusions hold:

(8) There exists a positive finite number  $\varepsilon_{(8)}$  depending only on m,  $\delta_4$ , and  $\delta$  with the following property.

If  $R \in \mathbf{G}(n, m)$ ,  $|R_{\natural} - T_{\natural}| \leq \delta/2$ ,  $\varrho \in J_0 \cap J_4$ ,  $\kappa \leq \varepsilon_{(8)}$ , then

$$\varrho^{-m} \|V\|(B_{a,\varrho}) \leq 2^m \boldsymbol{\beta}(n) \left(4\delta^{-2} \phi_2(2\varrho, R)^2 + \phi_4(2\varrho)\right).$$

*Moreover*,  $4\delta^{-2}\phi_2(2\varrho, R)^2$  may be replaced by  $\delta^{-1}\kappa$ .

(9) There exists a positive, finite number ε<sub>(9)</sub> depending only on m, δ<sub>4</sub>, δ<sub>5</sub>, and ε with the following property.
If 8r/δ<sub>4</sub> ∈ J<sub>2</sub> ∩ J<sub>3</sub> and κ ≤ ε<sub>(9)</sub>, then H is the set of all z ∈ C(T, 0, r, 3r) such that

$$\|V\| \mathbf{B}(z,t) \geq \delta_5 \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m) t^m$$
 whenever  $0 < t < 2r$ .

(10) If  $0 < \alpha \leq 1$  and  $0 < \delta_6 \leq 1$ , then there exists a positive, finite number  $\varepsilon_{(10)}$ depending only on n, Q,  $\delta_4$ , p,  $\alpha$ , and  $\delta_6$  with the following property. If  $\Theta^{*m}(||V||, a) \geq Q - 1 + \delta_6$ ,  $\varrho \in J_0 \cap J_3$ ,  $\kappa \leq \varepsilon_{(10)}$ , and

$$\phi_3(t) \leq \varepsilon_{(10)}(t/\varrho)^{\alpha} \text{ for } 0 < t < \varrho,$$

then  $\varrho \in J_5$ .

- (11) There exists a positive, finite number  $\varepsilon_{(11)}$  depending only on n,  $\delta_4$ , and  $\delta$  with the following three properties.
  - (a) If  $\varrho \in J_0 \cap J_4$ ,  $\kappa \leq \varepsilon_{(11)}$ , and  $\phi_4(2\varrho) \leq 2^{-m} \beta(n)^{-1} \alpha(m)(1/8)$ , then

 $\|V\|(\mathbb{C}(T, a, \varrho, \delta_4 \varrho)) \leq (Q + 1/2)\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)\varrho^m.$ 

(b) If, additionally to the conditions of (11a),  $\varrho \in J_5$ , then

graph<sub>O</sub> 
$$f | \mathbf{B}(c, \varrho) \subset \mathbf{C}(T, a, \varrho, \delta_4 \varrho/2).$$

(c) If, additionally to the conditions of (11a) and (11b),  $0 < \lambda < \infty$ ,

$$\kappa \leq 2^{-m} \boldsymbol{\beta}(n)^{-1} \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m) \lambda (2\Gamma_{5.7(7)}(Q,m))^{-1} \delta,$$
  
$$\phi_4(2\varrho) \leq 2^{-m} \boldsymbol{\beta}(n)^{-1} \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m) \lambda (2\Gamma_{5.7(7)}(Q,m))^{-1},$$

then

$$\mathscr{L}^m(C_{a,\rho}) \leq \lambda \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m) \varrho^m.$$

(12) If  $\rho \in J_4 \cap J_5$ ,  $\kappa \leq \min\{\varepsilon_{(8)}(m, \delta_4, \delta), \varepsilon_{(11)}(n, \delta_4, \delta)\}$ , and

$$\sigma \in \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbf{R}^m, \mathbf{R}^{n-m}), \quad \|\sigma\| \leq n^{-1/2}\delta/2, \quad \sigma = R \in \mathbf{G}(n, m),$$

then

$$\varrho^{-m} \int_{\mathbf{U}(c,\varrho)} |AF(x)(+)(-\sigma)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\mathscr{L}^m x \leq \Gamma_{(12)} \big( \phi_2(2\varrho, R)^2 + \phi_4(2\varrho) \big),$$

where  $\Gamma_{(12)}$  is a positive, finite number depending only on n, Q, and  $\delta$ . (13) If  $\varrho \in J_0 \cap J_1$ ,  $\varrho/8 \leq s \leq t \leq \varrho$ ,  $0 < \lambda \leq 1$ , and

$$\begin{aligned} \|\sigma_{\varrho}\| &\leq n^{-1/2}/4, \quad \phi_{2}(\varrho, T_{\varrho}) \leq \lambda^{1/2} 2^{-2m-3} \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)^{1/2}, \\ \|V\|(\mathbf{C}(T, a, s, \delta_{4}s)) \geq \lambda \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)s^{m}, \end{aligned}$$

*then*  $t \in J_1$  *and* 

$$\|\sigma_{\varrho}-\sigma_t\| \leq \lambda^{-1/2} 2^{2m+2} \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)^{-1/2} \phi_2(\varrho, T_{\varrho}).$$

**Proof of (8).** Let

$$\varepsilon_{(8)} = \inf \left\{ (1/2) (4 \boldsymbol{\gamma}(m) m)^{1-m} (\delta_4)^{m-1} \delta, (4 \boldsymbol{\gamma}(m) m)^{-m} (\delta_4)^m \delta \right\}.$$

Define the sets  $B'_{a,\rho}$  and  $B''_{a,\rho}$  by

$$B_{a,\varrho}' = B_{a,\varrho} \cap \{z : \|\delta V\| \mathbf{B}(z,t) > \delta \|V\| (\mathbf{B}(z,t))^{1-1/m} \text{ for some } 0 < t < 2r\},\$$
  
$$B_{a,\varrho}'' = B_{a,\varrho} \sim B_{a,\varrho}'$$

and D to be the set of all  $z \in \operatorname{spt} ||V||$  such that

$$\limsup_{t \to 0+} \frac{\|\delta V\| \mathbf{B}(z,t)}{\|V\| (\mathbf{B}(z,t))^{1-1/m}} > 0.$$

Note ||V||(D) = 0 by [14, 2.9.5] or [31, 4.7].

First, the following assertion will be shown. If m = 1, then  $B'_{a,\varrho} \sim D = \emptyset$  and if m > 1, then for  $z \in B'_{a,\varrho} \sim D$  there exists  $0 < t < \delta_{4\varrho}$  such that

$$\|V\| \mathbf{B}(z,t) \leq \delta^{-mp/(m-p)} \psi(\mathbf{B}(z,t))^{m/(m-p)}$$

For this purpose assume  $z \in B'_{a,\rho} \sim D$  and define

$$t = \inf \{ s : \|\delta V\| \mathbf{B}(z, s) > \delta \|V\| (\mathbf{B}(z, s))^{1-1/m} \}.$$

One infers 0 < t < 2r and

$$\|\delta V\| \mathbf{B}(z,t) \ge \delta \|V\| (\mathbf{B}(z,t))^{1-1/m} \ge (\delta/\Delta_1)t^{m-1}$$

by 3.4, where  $\Delta_1 = (2\boldsymbol{\gamma}(m)m)^{m-1}$ , since  $\delta \leq (2\boldsymbol{\gamma}(m))^{-1}$ . Noting

$$\varrho + t/\delta_4 \in J_2$$
,  $\mathbf{B}(z,t) \subset U \cap \mathbf{C}(T, a, \varrho + t/\delta_4, \delta_4(\varrho + t/\delta_4))$ ,

one obtains

$$\begin{aligned} &(\delta/\Delta_1)t^{m-1} \leq \kappa (\varrho + t/\delta_4)^{m-1}, \quad m > 1, \\ &t \leq (\varrho + t/\delta_4)(\kappa \Delta_1/\delta)^{1/(m-1)} < (\varrho + t/\delta_4)\delta_4/2, \quad t < \delta_4\varrho. \end{aligned}$$

The assertion now follows from the definition of t in conjunction with Hölder's inequality.

The preceding assertion yields

$$\begin{split} \|V\|(B'_{a,\varrho}) &= 0 \quad \text{if } m = 1, \\ \|V\|(B'_{a,\varrho}) &\leq \delta^{-mp/(m-p)} \boldsymbol{\beta}(n) \psi(U \cap \mathbf{C}(T, a, 2\varrho, 2\delta_4 \varrho))^{m/(m-p)} \quad \text{if } m > 1; \end{split}$$

in fact, if m > 1 there exist countable disjointed families  $F_1, \ldots, F_{\beta(n)}$  of closed balls such that

$$B'_{a,\varrho} \sim D \subset \bigcup \bigcup \{F_i : i = 1, \dots, \beta(n)\},\$$
$$\|V\|(S) \leq \Delta_2 \psi(S)^{m/(m-p)}, \quad S \subset U \cap \mathbf{C}(T, a, 2\varrho, 2\delta_4 \varrho)$$

whenever  $S \in \bigcup \{F_i : i = 1, ..., \beta(n)\}$ , where  $\Delta_2 = \delta^{-mp/(m-p)}$ , hence

$$\|V\|(B'_{a,\varrho}) = \|V\|(B'_{a,\varrho} \sim D) \leq \Delta_2 \sum_{i=1}^{\boldsymbol{\beta}(n)} \sum_{S \in F_i} \psi(S)^{m/(m-p)}$$
$$\leq \Delta_2 \sum_{i=1}^{\boldsymbol{\beta}(n)} \left(\sum_{S \in F_i} \psi(S)\right)^{m/(m-p)} \leq \Delta_2 \boldsymbol{\beta}(n) \psi(U \cap \mathbf{C}(T, a, 2\varrho, 2\delta_4 \varrho))^{m/(m-p)}.$$

Next, it will be shown that for  $z \in B''_{a,\rho}$  there exists  $0 < t \leq \delta_4 \rho$  such that

$$\|V\| \mathbf{B}(z,t) \leq 4\delta^{-2} \int_{\mathbf{B}(z,t)\times\mathbf{G}(n,m)} |S_{\natural} - R_{\natural}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}V(z,S),$$
  
$$\|V\| \mathbf{B}(z,t) < \delta^{-1} \int_{\mathbf{B}(z,t)\times\mathbf{G}(n,m)} |S_{\natural} - T_{\natural}| \, \mathrm{d}V(z,S).$$

In fact, one can take any 0 < t < 2r satisfying the last inequality since this firstly implies, using 3.4,  $\delta \leq (2\gamma(m))^{-1}$  and  $\rho + t/\delta_4 \in J_3$ ,

$$(2\boldsymbol{\gamma}(m)m)^{-m}t^{m} \leq \|V\| \mathbf{B}(z,t) < \delta^{-1} \int_{\mathbf{B}(z,t)\times\mathbf{G}(n,m)} |S_{\natural} - T_{\natural}| \, \mathrm{d}V(z,S)$$
  
$$\leq \delta^{-1} \int_{(U\cap\mathbf{C}(T,a,\varrho+t/\delta_{4},\delta_{4}(\varrho+t/\delta_{4})))\times\mathbf{G}(n,m)} |S_{\natural} - T_{\natural}| \, \mathrm{d}V(z,S) \leq (\kappa/\delta)(\varrho+t/\delta_{4})^{m},$$
  
$$t \leq (2\boldsymbol{\gamma}(m)m)(\kappa/\delta)^{1/m}(\varrho+t/\delta_{4}) \leq (\varrho+t/\delta_{4})\delta_{4}/2, \quad t \leq \delta_{4}\varrho,$$

and secondly, using  $|R_{\natural} - T_{\natural}| \leq \delta/2$  and Hölder's inequality,

$$\|V\| \mathbf{B}(z,t) \leq 2\delta^{-1} \int_{\mathbf{B}(z,t)\times\mathbf{G}(n,m)} |S_{\natural} - R_{\natural}| \, \mathrm{d}V(z,S),$$
  
$$\|V\| \mathbf{B}(z,t) \leq 4\delta^{-2} \int_{\mathbf{B}(z,t)\times\mathbf{G}(n,m)} |S_{\natural} - R_{\natural}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}V(z,S).$$

Since  $2\varrho \in J_3$  and

**B**(z, t) ⊂ U ∩**C**(T, a, 2ρ, 2δ<sub>4</sub>ρ) whenever z ∈ B''<sub>a,ρ</sub>, 0 < t ≤ δ<sub>4</sub>ρ,the assertion implies

$$\begin{aligned} \|V\|(B_{a,\varrho}'') &\leq 4\delta^{-2}\boldsymbol{\beta}(n) \int_{(U\cap \mathbf{C}(T,a,2\varrho,2\delta_{4\varrho}))\times\mathbf{G}(n,m)} |S_{\natural} - R_{\natural}|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}V(z,S), \\ \|V\|(B_{a,\varrho}'') &\leq \boldsymbol{\beta}(n)\delta^{-1}\kappa(2\varrho)^{m}, \end{aligned}$$

and the conclusion follows.  $\Box$ 

**Proof of (9).** Defining

$$\varepsilon_{(9)} = \varepsilon \inf\{4^{1-m}(\delta_4)^{m-1}(\delta_5 \alpha(m))^{1-1/m}, 4^{-m}(\delta_4)^m \delta_5 \alpha(m)\},\$$

one estimates for  $z \in \mathbf{C}(T, 0, r, 3r)$ 

$$\begin{split} \|\delta V\| \mathbf{U}(z,2r) &\leq \|\delta V\| (U \cap \mathbf{C}(T,a,4r,8r)) \\ &\leq \kappa (8r/\delta_4)^{m-1} \leq \varepsilon \left(\delta_5 \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)(2r)^m\right)^{1-1/m}, \\ \int_{\mathbf{U}(z,2r)\times\mathbf{G}(n,m)} |S_{\natural} - T_{\natural}| \, \mathrm{d}V(z,S) &\leq \int_{(U \cap \mathbf{C}(T,a,4r,8r))\times\mathbf{G}(n,m)} |S_{\natural} - T_{\natural}| \, \mathrm{d}V(z,S) \\ &\leq \kappa (8r/\delta_4)^m \leq \varepsilon \delta_5 \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)(2r)^m, \end{split}$$

and the conclusion follows.  $\hfill \Box$ 

**Proof of (10).** Defining  $\varepsilon_{(10)} = (\delta_4)^n \varepsilon_{9,2}(n, Q, \alpha, p, \inf\{\delta_6, \delta_4/4\})$  and noting

$$\psi(\mathbf{B}(a,t) \cap \{z: \operatorname{dist}(z-a,T) < \delta_4 \varrho/4\})^{1/p} \leq \psi(\mathbf{C}(T,a,t,\delta_4 \inf\{t/\delta_4,\varrho/4\}))^{1/p}$$
$$\leq \varepsilon_{(10)}(t/\delta_4)^{m/p+\alpha-1} \varrho^{-\alpha} \leq \varepsilon_{(10)}(\delta_4)^{-m/p} t^{m/p+\alpha-1} \varrho^{-\alpha}$$

for  $0 < t < \rho$ , the assertion follows from 9.2 with  $\delta$  and r replaced by  $\inf{\{\delta_6, \delta_4/4\}}$  and  $\rho$ .  $\Box$ 

**Proof of** (11). Define  $\varepsilon_{(11)}$  to be the infimum of all numbers

$$\inf\left\{2^{-n}\boldsymbol{\beta}(n)^{-1}\boldsymbol{\alpha}(i)(1/8)\delta, 2^{-3}n^{-1}\boldsymbol{\alpha}(i), \varepsilon_{(8)}(i,\delta_4,\delta)\right\}$$

corresponding to  $n > i \in \mathscr{P}$ .

If the conclusion of (11b) were not true, one would infer

spt 
$$f(x) \sim \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{q}(a), \delta_4 \varrho/4) \neq \emptyset$$
,  
 $\sum_{y \in \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{q}(a), \delta_4 \varrho/4) \cap \text{spt } f(x)} \mathbf{\Theta}^0(\|f(x)\|, y) \leq Q - 1$ 

whenever  $x \in \text{dmn } f | \mathbf{B}(c, \varrho)$  by (1) and 5.7 (4) and therefore by 5.7 (1) (2) and the coarea formula, see for example [14, 3.2.22 (3)] or [31, 12.7], one would obtain

$$\int_{\mathbf{C}(T,a,\varrho,\delta_4\varrho/4)\cap A} \|\bigwedge_m(\mathbf{p}|S)\| \,\mathrm{d}V(z,S) \leq (Q-1)\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)\varrho^m$$

hence by 3.13 and (8) with R replaced by T, noting  $\varrho \in J_4 \subset J_3$ ,

$$\|V\|(\mathbf{C}(T, a, \varrho, \delta_{4}\varrho/4)) - (Q-1)\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)\varrho^{m} \\ \leq \|V\|(B_{a,\varrho}) + 2m \int_{\mathbf{C}(T, a, \varrho, \delta_{4}\varrho/4)} |S_{\natural} - T_{\natural}| \, \mathrm{d}V(z, S) \leq (1/2)\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)\varrho^{m},$$

in contradiction to  $\varrho \in J_5$ .

Similarly, using

$$\sum_{y \in A(x)} \mathbf{\Theta}^0(\|V\|, (x, y)) \leq Q \quad \text{for } x \in X_1 \cup X_2,$$

one obtains (11a).

To prove (11c), one estimates with 5.7(7) and (8) with R replaced by T

$$\mathscr{L}^{m}(C_{a,\varrho}) \leq \Gamma_{5.7(7)}(Q,m) \|V\|(B_{a,\varrho}) \leq \lambda \alpha(m) \varrho^{m}.$$

**Proof of (12).** Denote by  $X'_1$  the set of all  $x \in X_1$  such that 5.7(5) is true for x and note  $\mathscr{L}^m(X_1 \sim X'_1) = 0$ . Since

$$|\operatorname{ap} AF(x)(+)(-\sigma)| \leq (1 + \operatorname{Lip} F)(Qm)^{1/2} \leq (1 + \Gamma_{(2)}(n - m, Q))(Qm)^{1/2}$$

for  $x \in \operatorname{dmn} \operatorname{ap} AF$ , one may assume

$$\phi_4(2\varrho) \leq 2^{-m} \boldsymbol{\beta}(n)^{-1} \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)(1/8).$$

Next, it will shown with  $G = \operatorname{graph}_O f$ 

$$\mathbf{B}(c, \varrho) \cap X'_1 \cap \{x : |\operatorname{ap} Af(x) (+)(-\sigma)| > \gamma\} \\ \subset \mathbf{p} \Big[ \mathbf{C}(T, a, \varrho, \delta_4 \varrho) \cap G \cap \{z : |\operatorname{Tan}^m(||V||, z)_{\natural} - R_{\natural}| > 2^{-1}(\varrho m)^{-1/2} \gamma\} \Big]$$

whenever  $0 < \gamma < \infty$ . In fact, if x is a member of the first set, there exist  $y \in \text{spt } f(x)$  and  $\tau \in \text{Hom}(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathbb{R}^{n-m})$  such that

$$\tau = \operatorname{Tan}^{m}(\|V\|, (x, y)), \quad |\tau - \sigma| > Q^{-1/2}\gamma,$$

hence, noting  $\|\sigma\| \leq 1$  and  $\|\operatorname{Tan}^m(\|V\|, (x, y))_{\natural} - T_{\natural}\| \leq \|\tau\| \leq L \leq 1/2$  by 4.1,

$$\|\sigma - \tau\| \leq 2 \|\operatorname{Tan}^{m}(\|V\|, (x, y))_{\natural} - R_{\natural}\|$$

by 4.1, and the inclusion follows, since  $(x, y) \in \mathbf{C}(T, a, \varrho, \delta_4 \varrho)$  by (11b). Therefore, since  $\mathbf{\Theta}^m(||V||, z) \ge 1$  for  $z \in G$ ,

$$||V||(\mathbf{C}(T, a, \varrho, \delta_4 \varrho) \cap \{z : |\operatorname{Tan}^m(||V||, z)_{\natural} - R_{\natural}| > 2^{-1}(Qm)^{-1/2}\gamma\})$$
  

$$\geq \mathscr{H}^m(\mathbf{C}(T, a, \varrho, \delta_4 \varrho) \cap G \cap \{z : |\operatorname{Tan}^m(||V||, z)_{\natural} - R_{\natural}| > 2^{-1}(Qm)^{-1/2}\gamma\})$$
  

$$\geq \mathscr{L}^m(\mathbf{B}(c, \varrho) \cap X_1 \cap \{x : |\operatorname{ap} Af(x)(+)(-\sigma)| > \gamma\})$$

and one obtains

$$\varrho^{-m} \int_{\mathbf{U}(c,\varrho)\cap X_1} |\operatorname{ap} Af(x)(+)(-\sigma)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\mathscr{L}^m x \leq 2^{m+2} \mathcal{Q}m \, \phi_2(2\varrho, R)^2.$$

Recalling the first paragraph of the proof, and noting

$$|R_{\natural} - T_{\natural}| \leq n^{1/2} ||R_{\natural} - T_{\natural}|| \leq n^{1/2} ||\sigma|| \leq \delta/2$$

by 4.1 and  $U(c, \varrho) \sim X_1 \subset C_{a,\varrho}$ , the conclusion follows combining (11b), (8) and 5.7 (7).  $\Box$ 

**Proof of (13).** Using Hölder's inequality, one obtains

$$|(T_t)_{\natural} - (T_{\varrho})_{\natural}| \leq ||V|| (\mathbf{C}(T, a, s, \delta_4 s))^{-1/2} (t^{m/2} \phi_2(t, T_t) + \varrho^{m/2} \phi_2(\varrho, T_{\varrho}))$$
$$\leq \lambda^{-1/2} 2^{2m+1} \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)^{-1/2} \phi_2(\varrho, T_{\varrho}),$$

since  $t^{m/2}\phi_2(t, T_t) \leq \varrho^{m/2}\phi_2(\varrho, T_\varrho)$ . Noting by 4.1

$$\begin{aligned} |(T_t)_{\natural} - T_{\natural}| &\leq |(T_t)_{\natural} - (T_{\varrho})_{\natural}| + |(T_{\varrho})_{\natural} - T_{\natural}| \\ &\leq \lambda^{-1/2} 2^{2m+1} \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)^{-1/2} \phi_2(\varrho, T_{\varrho}) + n^{1/2} \|\sigma_{\varrho}\| \leq 1/2, \\ \|(T_t)_{\natural} - T_{\natural}\| &\leq 1/2, \quad T_t \cap \ker \mathbf{p} = \{0\}, \quad t \in J_1, \end{aligned}$$

one applies 4.1 with S,  $S_1$ ,  $S_2$  replaced by T, T,  $T_t$  to infer

$$\begin{aligned} \|\sigma_t\|^2 &\leq (1 + \|\sigma_t\|^2) \|(T_t)_{\natural} - T_{\natural}\|^2, \\ \|\sigma_t\|^2 &\leq \|(T_t)_{\natural} - T_{\natural}\|^2 / (1 - \|(T_t)_{\natural} - T_{\natural}\|^2) \leq 2\|(T_t)_{\natural} - T_{\natural}\|^2 \leq 1/2, \end{aligned}$$

Now, 4.1 with S,  $S_1$ ,  $S_2$  replaced by T,  $T_t$ ,  $T_\rho$  implies

$$\|\sigma_t - \sigma_{\varrho}\| \leq 2|(T_t)_{\natural} - (T_{\varrho})_{\natural}|.$$

**Lemma 9.4.** Suppose m, n, Q, L, M,  $\delta_1$ ,  $\delta_2$ ,  $\delta_3$ ,  $\delta_4$ ,  $\delta_5$ ,  $\varepsilon$ , r, T, U, V,  $\delta$ ,  $X_1$ , f, a, c,  $\kappa$ , F, p,  $\psi$ , J,  $\phi_2$ ,  $\phi_3$ ,  $\phi_4$ ,  $T_{\rho}$ ,  $J_0$ ,  $J_1$ ,  $J_2$ ,  $J_3$ ,  $J_4$ ,  $J_5$ , and  $\sigma_{\rho}$  are as in 9.3. Suppose additionally:

- (1) Suppose  $\Psi$  and C are as in 7.1.
- (2) Whenever  $\varrho \in J_1$  suppose  $u_{\varrho}$  denotes the unique analytic function in  $\mathbf{W}^{1,2}(\mathbf{U}(c,\rho),\mathbf{R}^{n-m})$  such that

$$\left\langle D^2 u_{\varrho}(x), C(\sigma_{\varrho}) \right\rangle = 0 \quad for \ x \in \mathbf{U}(c, \varrho),$$
$$u_{\varrho} - g \in \mathbf{W}_0^{1,2}(\mathbf{U}(c, \varrho), \mathbf{R}^{n-m}),$$

see 7.1-7.3 and [14, 5.1.2, 10].

- (3) Define the function  $\phi_1 : J_1 \to \mathbf{R}$  by  $\phi_1(\varrho) = |D^2 u_{\varrho}|_{\infty; c, \varrho/2}$  for  $\varrho \in J_1$ . (4) Suppose  $0 < \tau \leq 1$  and  $\tau = 1$  if m = 1,  $p/2 \leq \tau < \frac{mp}{2(m-p)}$  if m = 2 and  $\tau = \frac{mp}{2(m-p)} \text{ if } m > 2.$

Then the following seven conclusions hold:

(5) There exists a positive, finite number  $\Gamma_{(5)}$  depending only on n such that

 $D^2 \Psi_0^{\S}(\sigma)$  is strongly elliptic with ellipticity bound  $(\Gamma_{(5)})^{-1}$ ,  $\|D^2 \Psi_0^{\S}(\sigma)\| \leq \Gamma_{(5)}$ 

whenever  $\sigma \in \text{Hom}(\mathbf{R}^m, \mathbf{R}^{n-m})$  with  $\|\sigma\| \leq 1$ . (6) If  $\varrho \in J_4 \cap J_5$ ,  $2\varrho \in J_0 \cap J_1$ ,  $\|\sigma_{2\varrho}\| \leq n^{-1/2} \inf\{\delta/2, 1/4\}$ , and

$$\begin{split} \phi_2(2\varrho, T_{2\varrho}) &\leq 2^{-2m-4} \alpha(m)^{1/2}, \\ \kappa &\leq \inf\{\varepsilon_{9,3(8)}(m, \delta_4, \delta), \varepsilon_{9,3(11)}(n, \delta_4, \delta)\}, \end{split}$$

then

$$\phi_1(\varrho) \leq \Gamma_{(6)} \varrho^{-1} (\phi_2(2\varrho, T_{2\varrho}) + \phi_4(2\varrho)^{1/2}),$$

where  $\Gamma_{(6)}$  is a positive, finite number depending only on n, Q, and  $\delta$ .

(7) If 
$$\varrho \in J_1 \cap J_4 \cap J_5$$
,  $\|\sigma_{\varrho}\| \leq 1$ ,  $2\varrho \in J_1$ ,  $\|\sigma_{2\varrho}\| \leq n^{-1/2}\delta/2$ ,

$$\kappa \leq \inf \{ \varepsilon_{9,3(8)}(m, \delta_4, \delta), \varepsilon_{9,3(11)}(n, \delta_4, \delta) \}, \phi_4(2\varrho) \leq 2^{-m} \boldsymbol{\beta}(n)^{-1} \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)(1/8),$$

then

$$\varrho^{-m-1} |u_{\varrho} - g|_{1;c,\varrho} \leq \Gamma_{(7)} (\phi_2(2\varrho, T_{2\varrho})^2 + \phi_3(2\varrho)),$$

where  $\Gamma_{(7)}$  is a positive, finite number depending only on *m*, *n*, *Q*,  $\delta_4$ ,  $\delta$ , and *p*.

(8) There exists a positive, finite number  $\varepsilon_{(8)}$  depending only on n,  $\delta_4$ , and  $\delta$  with the following property.

If  $\varrho \in J$ ,  $2\varrho \in J_0 \cap J_1$ ,  $\|\sigma_{2\varrho}\| \leq n^{-1/2}\delta/4$ ,  $\kappa \leq \varepsilon_{(8)}$ , and for  $s \in \{\varrho/4, \varrho\}$ 

$$s \in J_4 \cap J_5, \quad \phi_4(2s) \leq 2^{-m} \beta(n)^{-1} \alpha(m)(1/8),$$

then

$$\phi_1(\varrho/4) \leq \phi_1(\varrho) + \Gamma_{(8)}(\phi_1(\varrho)\phi_2(\varrho, T_\varrho) + \varrho^{-1}(\phi_2(2\varrho, T_{2\varrho})^2 + \phi_3(2\varrho))),$$

where  $\Gamma_{(8)}$  is a positive, finite number depending only on *m*, *n*, *Q*,  $\delta_4$ ,  $\delta$  and *p*.

(9) There exists a positive, finite number  $\varepsilon_{(9)}$  depending only on m, n, Q,  $\delta_2$ ,  $\varepsilon$ ,  $\delta$ , and p with the following property.

If  $\delta_4 = 1$ ,  $\delta_5 = (40)^{-m} (\boldsymbol{\gamma}(m)m)^{-m} / \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)$ ,  $0 < \eta < 2^{-m}$ ,  $P : \mathbf{R}^m \to \mathbf{R}^{n-m}$ is affine, Lip  $P \leq n^{-1/2} \delta/2$ ,  $R = \operatorname{im} D(\mathbf{p}^* + \mathbf{q}^* \circ P)(0)$ ,  $\varrho \in J$ , X is an  $\mathscr{L}^m$ measurable subset of  $\mathbf{U}(c, \varrho/2) \cap X_1$ ,

$$\mu = 1/2 \quad \text{if } m = 1, \quad \mu = 1/m \quad \text{if } m > 1,$$
  
$$\varrho/2 \in J_4 \cap J_5, \quad 8r \in J_2 \cap J_3, \quad \varrho \in J_1, \quad \|\sigma_\varrho\| \leq n^{-1/2} \delta/2,$$
  
$$\kappa \leq \varepsilon_{(9)}, \quad \phi_3(\varrho) \leq \varepsilon_{(9)}, \quad \mathscr{L}^m(\mathbf{U}(c, \varrho/2) \sim X) \leq \eta \alpha(m)(\varrho/2)^m,$$

then for  $0<\lambda\leqq 1$ 

$$\phi_{2}(\varrho/4, R) \leq \Gamma_{(9)} \Big( \big( \lambda + \phi_{2}(\varrho, T_{\varrho})^{2/m} \big) \phi_{2}(\varrho, T_{\varrho}) + (\lambda + \eta^{\mu}) \phi_{2}(\varrho, R)$$
  
 
$$+ \eta^{-1} \varrho^{-m-1} |f(+)(-P)|_{1;X} + \lambda^{-\tau} \phi_{3}(\varrho)^{\tau} \Big),$$

where  $\Gamma_{(9)}$  is a positive, finite number depending only on *m*, *n*, *Q*,  $\delta$ , *p*, and  $\tau$ .

(10) There exists a positive, finite number  $\varepsilon_{(10)}$  depending only on m, n, Q,  $\delta_2$ ,  $\varepsilon$ ,  $\delta$ , and p with the following property. If  $\delta_4 = 1$ ,  $\delta_5 = (40)^{-m} (\boldsymbol{\gamma}(m)m)^{-m} / \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)$ ,  $0 < \eta < 2^{-m}$ ,  $\varrho \in J$ ,

$$\mu = 1/2 \quad if m = 1, \quad \mu = 1/m \quad if m > 1,$$
  

$$\{\varrho/2, \varrho\} \subset J_4 \cap J_5, \quad 2\varrho \in J_0 \cap J_1, \quad \|\sigma_{2\varrho}\| \leq n^{-1/2} \delta/4,$$
  

$$8r \in J_2 \cap J_3, \quad \kappa \leq \varepsilon_{(10)}, \quad \phi_3(2\varrho) \leq \varepsilon_{(10)},$$
  

$$\mathscr{L}^m(\mathbf{U}(c, \varrho/2) \sim \{x : \mathbf{\Theta}^0(\|f(x)\|, g(x)) = Q\}) \leq \eta \alpha(m)(\varrho/2)^m,$$

then for  $0 < \lambda \leq 1$ 

$$\begin{split} \phi_2(\varrho/4, T_{\varrho/4}) &\leq \Gamma_{(10)} \Big( \big(\lambda + \eta^{\mu} + \eta^{-1} \phi_2(2\varrho, T_{2\varrho})^{\inf\{1, 2/m\}} \big) \phi_2(2\varrho, T_{2\varrho}) \\ &+ \eta^{-1} \varrho \phi_1(\varrho) + (\eta^{-1} + \lambda^{-\tau}) \phi_3(2\varrho)^{\tau} \Big), \end{split}$$

where  $\Gamma_{(10)}$  is a positive, finite number depending only on *m*, *n*, *Q*,  $\delta$ , *p*, and  $\tau$ .

(11) Let 
$$\delta_4 = 1$$
,  $\delta_5 = (40)^{-m} (\boldsymbol{\gamma}(m)m)^{-m} / \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)$ ,  $\delta = \inf\{1, \varepsilon, (2\boldsymbol{\gamma}(m))^{-1}\}, 0 < \alpha \leq 1$ , and  $0 < \delta_6 \leq 1$ .

Then there are positive, finite numbers  $\gamma_i$  for  $i \in \{1, 2, 3\}$  and a positive, finite number  $\varepsilon_{(11)}$  both depending only on m, n, Q, L, M,  $\delta_1$ ,  $\delta_2$ ,  $\delta_3$ , p,  $\tau$ ,  $\alpha$ , and  $\delta_6$  with the following property.

If 
$$a \in \mathbf{C}(T, 0, r/2, 2r)$$
,  $\Theta^{*m}(||V||, a) \ge Q - 1 + \delta_6$ ,  $0 < t \le \frac{r}{64}$ ,  $0 < \gamma \le 1$ ,

$$\phi_2(8r, T) \leq \varepsilon_{(11)}, \quad \phi_2(8r, T_{8r}) \leq \varepsilon_{(11)}\gamma, \\ \|V\|(\mathbb{C}(T, a, \varrho, \varrho) \cap \{z : \Theta^m(\|V\|, z) \leq Q - 1\}) \leq \varepsilon_{(11)}\alpha(m)\varrho^m$$

whenever  $t \leq \varrho \leq r/8$ , and

$$\phi_3(\varrho)^{\tau} \leq \gamma \gamma_3(\varrho/r)^{\alpha \tau} \quad whenever \ 0 < \varrho \leq 8r,$$

then, in case  $\alpha \tau < 1$ ,

$$\varrho \in J_1 \quad and \quad \varrho \phi_1(\varrho) \leq \gamma \gamma_1(\varrho/r)^{\alpha \tau} \quad for \ t \leq \varrho \leq r/4, 
\phi_2(\varrho, T_\varrho) \leq \gamma \gamma_2(\varrho/r)^{\alpha \tau} \quad for \ t \leq \varrho \leq r$$

and, in case  $\alpha \tau = 1$ ,

$$\varrho \in J_1 \quad and \quad \varrho \phi_1(\varrho) \leq \gamma \gamma_1(\varrho/r)(1 + \log(r/\varrho)) \quad for \ t \leq \varrho \leq r/4, \\
\phi_2(\varrho, T_\varrho) \leq \gamma \gamma_2(\varrho/r)(1 + \log(r/\varrho)) \quad for \ t \leq \varrho \leq r.$$

**Proof of** (5). This follows from [14, 5.1.2, 10]. □

**Proof of (6).** Note by 9.3(13) applied with  $\rho$ , *s*, *t*,  $\lambda$  replaced by  $2\rho$ ,  $\rho$ ,  $\rho$ , 1/2

$$\varrho \in J_1, \quad \|\sigma_{\varrho}\| \leq \|\sigma_{2\varrho}\| + 2^{2m+3} \alpha(m)^{-1/2} \phi_2(2\varrho, T_{2\varrho}) \leq 1.$$

Since  $u_{\varrho} - \sigma_{2\varrho}$  is  $D^2 \Psi_0^{\S}(\sigma_{\varrho})$  harmonic, applying [14, 5.2.5] yields, noting (5),

$$|D^2 u_{\varrho}|_{\infty;c,\varrho/2} \leq \Delta_1 \varrho^{-1-m/2} |D(u_{\varrho} - \sigma_{2\varrho})|_{2;c,\varrho},$$

where  $\Delta_1 = 2^{n+5} n^{n+1} \Gamma_{(5)}(n)^n \sup\{\alpha(i)^{-1/2} : n > i \in \mathscr{P}\}$ . Using 7.2, one obtains

$$\begin{aligned} |D(u_{\varrho} - \sigma_{2\varrho})|_{2;c,\varrho} &\leq |D(u_{\varrho} - g)|_{2;c,\varrho} + |D(g - \sigma_{2\varrho})|_{2;c,\varrho} \\ &\leq \Delta_2 |D(g - \sigma_{2\varrho})|_{2;c,\varrho}, \end{aligned}$$

where  $\Delta_2 = 1 + \Gamma_{(5)}(n)^2$ . Taking  $\Gamma_{(6)} = \Delta_1 \Delta_2 \Gamma_{9.3(12)}(n, Q, \delta)^{1/2}$ , the conclusion now follows from 9.3 (12) with  $\sigma$  replaced by  $\sigma_{2\varrho}$ .  $\Box$ 

**Proof of** (7). Suppose *B*, and  $B_{a,t}$ ,  $C_{a,t}$  for  $t \in J_0$  are as in 9.3. Define *S*,  $R \in \mathscr{D}'(\mathbf{U}(c, \varrho), \mathbf{R}^{n-m})$  by

$$S(\theta) = -\int_{\mathbf{U}(c,\varrho)} \langle D\theta(x), D\Psi_0^{\S}(Dg(x)) \rangle d\mathscr{L}^m x,$$
  

$$R(\theta) = -\int_{\mathbf{U}(c,\varrho)} \langle D\theta(x) \odot Dg(x), D^2 \Psi_0^{\S}(\sigma_{\varrho}) \rangle d\mathscr{L}^m x$$

whenever  $\theta \in \mathscr{D}(\mathbf{U}(c, \varrho), \mathbf{R}^{n-m})$ . Since  $u_{\varrho}$  is  $D^2 \Psi_0^{\S}(\sigma_{\varrho})$  harmonic,

$$|u_{\varrho} - g|_{1;c,\varrho} \leq \Delta_1 \varrho |R|_{-1,1;c,\varrho}$$
(VI)

by 7.8 and (5) where  $\Delta_1 = \Gamma_{7.8}(n, \Gamma_{(5)}, (n)^{-1}, \Gamma_{(5)}(n))$ . One computes for  $x \in \text{dmn } Dg$ 

$$\begin{aligned} D\Psi_{0}^{\S}(Dg(x)) &- D\Psi_{0}^{\S}(\sigma_{\varrho}) - (Dg(x) - \sigma_{\varrho}) \,\lrcorner\, D^{2}\Psi_{0}^{\S}(\sigma_{\varrho}) \\ &= (Dg(x) - \sigma_{\varrho}) \,\lrcorner\, \int_{0}^{1} D^{2}\Psi_{0}^{\S}(tDg(x) + (1 - t)\sigma_{\varrho}) - D^{2}\Psi_{0}^{\S}(\sigma_{\varrho}) \,\mathrm{d}\mathscr{L}^{1}t, \\ \|D^{2}\Psi_{0}^{\S}(tDg(x) + (1 - t)\sigma_{\varrho}) - D^{2}\Psi_{0}^{\S}(\sigma_{\varrho})\| \\ &\leq \mathrm{Lip}(D^{2}\Psi_{0}^{\S}|\mathbf{B}(0,\gamma)) \,t|Dg(x) - \sigma_{\varrho}| \quad \text{for } 0 \leq t \leq 1, \end{aligned}$$

where  $\gamma = m^{1/2} \sup\{1, \Gamma_{9.3(2)}(n - m, Q)\}$ , hence, since

$$\int_{\mathbf{U}(c,\rho)} \left\langle D\theta(x), \beta \right\rangle \, \mathrm{d}\mathscr{L}^m x = 0$$

for  $\theta \in \mathscr{D}(\mathbf{U}(c,\varrho), \mathbf{R}^{n-m})$  and  $\beta \in \{D\Psi_0^{\S}(\sigma_{\varrho}), \sigma_{\varrho} \,\lrcorner\, D^2 \Psi_0^{\S}(\sigma_{\varrho})\},\$ 

$$\varrho^{-m}|S-R|_{-1,1;c,\varrho} \leq \Delta_2 \varrho^{-m} \int_{\mathbf{U}(c,\varrho)} |Dg(x) - \sigma_{\varrho}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\mathscr{L}^m x,$$

where  $\Delta_2$  is a positive, finite number depending only on *n* and *Q*. Therefore by 9.3(12) with  $\sigma$  replaced by  $\sigma_{2\varrho}$ 

$$\varrho^{-m} |S - R|_{-1,1;c,\varrho} \le \Delta_3 \big( \phi_2(2\varrho, T_{2\varrho})^2 + \phi_4(2\varrho) \big), \tag{VII}$$

where  $\Delta_3 = \Delta_2 \Gamma_{9.3(12)}(n, Q, \delta)$ .

Let 
$$\theta \in \mathscr{D}(\mathbf{U}(c,\varrho), \mathbf{R}^{n-m})$$
 with  $|D\theta|_{\infty;c,\varrho} \leq 1$  and  $\eta \in \mathscr{D}^0(\mathbf{R}^{n-m})$  with

spt 
$$\eta \subset \mathbf{U}(\mathbf{q}(a), \delta_4 \varrho)$$
,  $\mathbf{B}(\mathbf{q}(a), \delta_4 \varrho/2) \subset \operatorname{Int}(\mathbf{R}^{n-m} \cap \{y : \eta(y) = 1\})$ ,  
 $0 \leq \eta(y) \leq 1$ ,  $|D\eta(y)| \leq 4(\delta_4)^{-1} \varrho^{-1}$  for  $y \in \mathbf{R}^{n-m}$ .

From 5.7(9) with  $\tau$  replaced by  $\sigma_{2\varrho}$  one infers with  $D_{a,\varrho} = \mathbb{C}(T, a, \varrho, \delta_4 \varrho) \cap \mathbf{p}^{-1}[C_{a,\varrho}]$ , noting 9.3(11b) and  $|\theta|_{\infty;c,\varrho} \leq \varrho$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} |QS(\theta) + (\delta V)((\eta \circ \mathbf{q}) \cdot (\mathbf{q}^* \circ \theta \circ \mathbf{p}))| \\ &\leq \Delta_4 \Big( \mathscr{L}^m(C_{a,\varrho}) + \int_{\mathbf{U}(c,\varrho)} |AF(x)(+)(-\sigma_{2\varrho})|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\mathscr{L}^m x + \|V\|(D_{a,\varrho}) \Big), \end{aligned}$$

where  $\Delta_4$  is a positive, finite number depending only on *n*, *Q*, and  $\delta_4$ . By 5.7(7), noting 9.3(11b), and 9.3(12) with  $\sigma$  replaced by  $\sigma_{2Q}$  it follows

$$\begin{split} \varrho^{-m} |QS(\theta) + (\delta V)((\eta \circ \mathbf{q}) \cdot (\mathbf{q}^* \circ \theta \circ \mathbf{p}))| &\leq \Delta_4 \Gamma_{5.7(7)}(Q, m) \varrho^{-m} ||V|| (B_{a,\varrho}) \\ + \Delta_4 \Gamma_{9.3(12)}(n, Q, \delta) (\phi_2(2\varrho, T_{2\varrho})^2 + \phi_4(2\varrho)). \end{split}$$

Therefore one obtains, in view of 9.3 (8), since  $|(T_{\varrho})_{\natural} - T_{\natural}| \leq n^{1/2} ||(T_{2\varrho})_{\natural} - T_{\natural}|| \leq n^{1/2} ||\sigma_{2\varrho}|| \leq \delta/2$  by 4.1,

$$\varrho^{-m} |QS(\theta) + (\delta V)((\eta \circ \mathbf{q}) \cdot (\mathbf{q}^* \circ \theta \circ \mathbf{p}))| \leq \Delta_5 (\phi_2(2\varrho, T_{2\varrho})^2 + \phi_4(2\varrho)), \quad \text{(VIII)}$$

where  $\Delta_5$  is a positive, finite number depending only on n, Q,  $\delta_4$ , and  $\delta$ . Also, using 9.3 (11a) and Hölder's inequality, recalling  $|\theta|_{\infty;c,\rho} \leq \rho$ ,

$$\varrho^{-m}|(\delta V)((\eta \circ \mathbf{q}) \cdot (\mathbf{q}^* \circ \theta \circ \mathbf{p}))| \leq (\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)(Q+1/2))^{1-1/p}\phi_3(\varrho).$$
(IX)

Finally, noting

$$\phi_3(2\varrho) = \delta\phi_4(2\varrho)^{\frac{m-p}{mp}} \leq \delta\left(2^{-m}\boldsymbol{\beta}(n)^{-1}\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)(1/8)\right)^{\frac{m-p}{mp}} \text{ if } m > 1,$$
  
$$\phi_4(2\varrho) \leq \Delta_6\phi_3(2\varrho),$$

where  $\Delta_6 = \delta^{-1} (2^{-m} \boldsymbol{\beta}(n)^{-1} \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)(1/8))^{1 - \frac{m-p}{mp}}$ , the conclusion may be obtained by combining (VI), (VII), (VIII) and (IX).  $\Box$ 

**Proof of (8).** Define  $\varepsilon_{(8)}$  to be the infimum of all numbers

$$\inf\left\{\varepsilon_{9.3(8)}(i,\delta_4,\delta),\varepsilon_{9.3(11)}(n,\delta_4,\delta),2^{-4n-5}n^{-2}\boldsymbol{\alpha}(i)\delta^2\right\}$$

corresponding to  $n > i \in \mathscr{P}$ .

Noting

$$\phi_1(\varrho/4) \leq \phi_1(\varrho) + |D^2(u_{\varrho/4} - u_{\varrho})|_{\infty; c, \varrho/8},$$

only  $|D^2(u_{\varrho/4} - u_{\varrho})|_{\infty;c,\varrho/8}$  needs to be estimated. Since  $\varrho < 2r$  as  $2\varrho \in J_0$  and  $\varrho \in J_4$ , one notes

$$2\varrho \in J_3, \quad \phi_2(2\varrho, T_{2\varrho}) \leq \phi_2(2\varrho, T) \leq (2m^{1/2}\kappa)^{1/2}$$

Therefore one may apply 9.3 (13) for each  $t \in \{\varrho/4, \varrho/2, \varrho\}$  with  $\varrho, s, \lambda$  replaced by  $2\varrho, \varrho/4, 1/2$  to obtain  $\{\varrho/4, \varrho/2, \varrho\} \subset J_1$  and

 $\sup\{\|\sigma_{\varrho/4}\|, \|\sigma_{\varrho/2}\|, \|\sigma_{\varrho}\|\} \leq \|\sigma_{2\varrho}\| + 2^{2m+3} \alpha(m)^{-1/2} \phi_2(2\varrho, T_{2\varrho}) \leq n^{-1/2} \delta/2.$ 

Computing for  $x \in \mathbf{U}(c, \varrho/4)$ 

$$\left\langle D^2(u_{\varrho} - u_{\varrho/4})(x), C(\sigma_{\varrho/4}) \right\rangle = \left\langle D^2 u_{\varrho}(x), C(\sigma_{\varrho/4}) - C(\sigma_{\varrho}) \right\rangle,$$

one infers from 7.4 with c, M,  $\Upsilon$ ,  $\alpha$ , a, r, and u replaced by  $\Gamma_{(5)}(n)^{-1}$ ,  $\Gamma_{(5)}(n) D^2 \Psi_0^{\S}(\sigma_{\varrho/4})$ , 1/2, c,  $\varrho/4$ , and  $u_{\varrho} - u_{\varrho/4}$  that

$$|D^{2}(u_{\varrho} - u_{\varrho/4})|_{\infty;c,\varrho/8} \leq \Delta_{1} \left( \varrho^{-2-m} |u_{\varrho} - u_{\varrho/4}|_{1;c,\varrho/4} + \varrho^{1/2} \mathbf{h}_{1/2} (D^{2} u_{\varrho} | \mathbf{B}(c, \varrho/4)) || \sigma_{\varrho/4} - \sigma_{\varrho} || \right),$$

where  $\Delta_1$  is a positive, finite number depending only on *n*. Since

$$\varrho^{1/2}\mathbf{h}_{1/2}(D^2u_{\varrho}|\mathbf{B}(c,\varrho/4)) \leq \Delta_2\phi_1(\varrho)$$

by [14, 5.2.5] and (5) for some positive, finite number  $\Delta_2$  depending only on *n*, the conclusion now follows, noting 9.3 (13), by applying (7) twice, once with  $\rho$  as given and once with  $\rho$  replaced by  $\rho/4$ .  $\Box$ 

**Proof of (9).** Define  $q = \infty$  if m = 1 and  $q = (\frac{1}{2\tau} + \frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p})^{-1}$  if m > 1 and note  $2 \le q < \infty$  if m = 2 and  $q = \frac{2m}{(m-2)}$  if m > 2 and

$$1/p + 1/q \ge 1$$
,  $\tau = (2(1/p + 1/q) - 1)^{-1}$ .

With  $\delta_4 = 1$  and  $\delta_5 = (40)^{-m} (\boldsymbol{\gamma}(m)m)^{-m} / \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)$  define

$$\Delta_{1} = \inf \left\{ \varepsilon_{9,3(8)}(m, \delta_{4}, \delta), \varepsilon_{9,3(9)}(m, \delta_{4}, \delta_{5}, \varepsilon), \varepsilon_{9,3(11)}(n, \delta_{4}, \delta), \\ 2^{-m} \boldsymbol{\beta}(n)^{-1} \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m) \varepsilon_{5,7(8)}(m, \delta_{2}, \delta_{4}) (2\Gamma_{5,7(7)}(Q, m))^{-1} \delta \right\},$$

$$\begin{split} &\Delta_2 = \inf \left\{ 1, (2\boldsymbol{\gamma}(1))^{-1} \right\}, \\ &\Delta_3 = \inf \left\{ 1, 2^{-m} \boldsymbol{\beta}(n)^{-1} \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m) \inf \{ \varepsilon_{5.7(8)}(m, \delta_2, \delta_4) (2\Gamma_{5.7(7)}(Q, m))^{-1}, 1/8 \} \right\}, \\ &\varepsilon_{(9)} = \inf \left\{ \Delta_1, 2^{-1} m^{-1/2}, \Delta_2, \delta(\Delta_3)^{1/p-1/m} \right\}, \\ &\Delta_4 = \sup \{ 2^m \Gamma_{6.4}(n, Q, q), 1 \}, \\ &\Delta_5 = \sup \left\{ 2\Gamma_{6.4}(n, Q, \infty), 2^m \Gamma_{6.4}(n, Q, 2), 1 \right\}, \\ &\Delta_6 = \Gamma_{9.3(12)}(n, Q, \delta)^{1/2} \delta^{-\tau}, \\ &\Delta_7 = \sup \{ Q\Gamma_{5.7(8)}(m), 1 \}, \quad \Delta_8 = 2^{m+2} \delta^{-2} \boldsymbol{\beta}(n), \\ &\Delta_9 = 19/(2^{1/2} \cdot 40 + 19), \quad \Delta_{10} = \Gamma_{4.14}(m, p, q) \quad \text{if } m = 1, \\ &\Delta_{10} = \Gamma_{4.10}(m, p, q) \quad \text{if } m > 1, \\ &\Delta_{11} = 2^m \sup \left\{ 2(\Delta_{10})^{1/2}, 2(16 + 4m)^{1/2} |\Delta_9 - 1/4|^{-1} \right\}, \\ &\Delta_{12} = \left( 4(\Delta_4 + \Delta_5) \Delta_7(\Delta_8)^2 \delta^{-\tau} + 1 \right) \Delta_{11}, \quad \Gamma_{(9)} = \Delta_{12}(2 + \Delta_6). \end{split}$$

It will be shown that  $\varepsilon_{(9)}$  and  $\Gamma_{(9)}$  have the asserted property.

Suppose *B*, *A*, *B*<sub>*a*,*t*</sub>, *C*<sub>*a*,*t*</sub>, and *H* for  $t \in J_0$  are as in 9.3. Since  $\rho/2 \in J_0 \cap J_4$ , it follows

$$\varrho/2 < 2r, \quad \varrho \in J_3, \quad \phi_2(\varrho, T_\varrho) \leqq \phi_2(\varrho, T) \leqq (2m^{1/2}\kappa)^{1/2}.$$

One therefore obtains

$$\kappa \leq \Delta_1, \quad \phi_2(\varrho, T_\varrho) \leq 1, \quad \phi_3(\varrho) \leq \Delta_2, \quad \phi_4(\varrho) \leq \Delta_3.$$
 (I)

Applying 6.4 with *a*, *r*, *f*, and *A* replaced by *c*,  $\rho/2$ , *F* (+)(-*P*)|**U**(*c*,  $\rho/2$ ), and *X*, noting 5.7(4), one obtains

$$\varrho^{-1-m/q} |F(+)(-P)|_{q;c,\varrho/2} \qquad (II)$$

$$\leq \Delta_4 \left( \varrho^{-m/2} |A(F(+)(-P))|_{2;c,\varrho/2} + \eta^{1/q-1} \varrho^{-m-1} |f(+)(-P)|_{1;X} \right).$$

Similarly, one obtains

$$\varrho^{-1-m/2} |F(+)(-P)|_{2;c,\varrho/2} \leq \Delta_5 \left( \eta^{\mu} \varrho^{-m/2} |A(F(+)(-P))|_{2;c,\varrho/2} + \eta^{-1} \varrho^{-m-1} |f(+)(-P)|_{1;X} \right).$$
(III)

Applying 9.3 (12) applied with  $\rho$ ,  $\sigma$  replaced by  $\rho/2$ , DP(0) yields, noting  $\phi_4(\rho) \leq 1$  by (I) and  $1/2 \geq \tau(1/p - 1/m)$ ,

$$\varrho^{-m/2} |A(F(+)(-P))|_{2;c,\varrho/2} \leq \Delta_6 \big( \phi_2(\varrho, R) + \phi_3(\varrho)^{\tau} \big).$$
(IV)

Define  $d : \mathbf{R}^n \to \mathbf{R}$  by

$$d(z) = \inf\{(|\mathbf{p}(z-\xi)|^2 + |\mathbf{q}(z-\xi)|^2)^{1/2} : \xi \in \mathbf{R}^n, P(\mathbf{p}(\xi)) = \mathbf{q}(\xi)\}$$

whenever  $z \in \mathbf{R}^n$  and note, taking  $\xi = (\mathbf{p}^* + \mathbf{q}^* \circ P)(\mathbf{p}(z))$ ,

$$d(z) \leq |P(\mathbf{p}(z)) - \mathbf{q}(z)| \text{ for } z \in \mathbf{R}^n.$$

Hence, defining  $d_{5.7(8)}$  and  $g_{5.7(8)}$  to be the functions defined in 5.7(8) under the names "*d*" and "*g*" with

$$\varrho$$
, *P* replaced by  $\varrho/2$ ,  $\mathbf{C}(T, \mathbf{p}^*(c), \varrho/2) \cap \{z : P(\mathbf{p}(z)) = \mathbf{q}(z)\},\$ 

one infers

$$d|\mathbf{C}(T, \mathbf{p}^{*}(c), \varrho/2, 3r) \leq d_{5.7(8)},$$
  
$$g_{5.7(8)}(x) \leq \mathscr{G}(f(x), \mathcal{Q}[\![P(x)]\!]) = \mathscr{G}((f(+)(-P))(x), \mathcal{Q}[\![0]\!])$$

for  $x \in X_1 \cap \mathbf{B}(c, \varrho/2)$ . Therefore 5.7(8) with  $\varrho$ , *P* replaced as in the definition of  $d_{5.7(8)}$  and  $g_{5.7(8)}$  yields, noting

$$\mathscr{L}^{m}(\mathbf{B}(c,\varrho/2)\sim X_{1}) \leq \mathscr{L}^{m}(C_{a,\varrho/2}) \leq \varepsilon_{5.7(8)}(m,\delta_{2},\delta_{4})\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)(\varrho/2)^{m}$$

by 9.3 (11c) with  $\rho$  replaced by  $\rho/2$  and (I),

$$(\|V\| \sqcup H \cap \mathbf{C}(T, \mathbf{p}^{*}(c), \varrho/2, 3r))_{(s)}(d) \leq \Delta_{7}(|F(+)(-P)|_{s;c,\varrho/2} + \mathscr{L}^{m}(\mathbf{B}(c, \varrho/2) \sim X_{1})^{1/s+1/m})$$
(V)

whenever  $1 \leq s \leq \infty$ . Using 5.7(7) with  $\rho$  replaced by  $\rho/2$  in conjunction with 9.3(11b) with  $\rho$  replaced by  $\rho/2$ , one estimates

$$\mathscr{L}^{m}(\mathbf{B}(c,\varrho/2) \sim X_{1}) \leq \mathscr{L}^{m}(C_{a,\varrho/2}) \leq \Gamma_{5.7(7)}(Q,m) \|V\|(B_{a,\varrho/2}),$$

hence by 9.3 (8) with  $\rho$  and R replaced by  $\rho/2$  and  $T_{\rho}$ , noting (I) and  $|(T_{\rho})_{\natural} - T_{\natural}| \leq n^{1/2} ||(T_{\rho})_{\natural} - T_{\natural}|| \leq n^{1/2} ||\sigma_{\rho}|| \leq \delta/2$  by 4.1,

$$\varrho^{-m} \mathscr{L}^m(\mathbf{B}(c,\varrho/2) \sim X_1) \leq \Delta_8 \big( \phi_2(\varrho, T_\varrho)^2 + \phi_4(\varrho) \big).$$
(VI)

In order to apply 4.10, first define  $K = \mathbb{C}(T, \mathbf{p}^*(c), \varrho, \varrho)$  and  $H_{4.10}$  to be the set defined in 4.10 under the name "*H*", that is, the set of all  $z \in \text{spt } ||V||$  such that

$$\|V\| \mathbf{B}(z,t) \ge (40)^{-m} (\boldsymbol{\gamma}(m)m)^{-m} t^m \text{ whenever } 0 < t < \infty, \mathbf{B}(z,t) \subset K.$$

One infers that

$$\mathbf{C}(T, a, \varrho, \varrho) \cap \text{spt} ||V|| \subset H_{4.10} \quad \text{if } m = 1,$$
  
$$H_{4.10} \cap \mathbf{C}(T, a, \Delta_9 \varrho, \Delta_9 \varrho) \subset H;$$

in fact, the first inclusion follows by 3.4 and (I), whereas concerning the second inclusion  $\eta < 2^{-m}$  implies by 9.3(11b) with  $\rho$  replaced by  $\rho/2$  the existence

of  $\xi \in A \cap \mathbb{C}(T, a, \varrho/4, \varrho/4)$  hence, verifying  $1/4 < \Delta_9 < 1/2$  and  $2^{3/2}\Delta_9/(1 - \Delta_9) \leq \frac{19}{20}$ , one obtains for  $z \in \mathbb{C}(T, a, \Delta_9 \varrho, \Delta_9 \varrho)$ ,  $(1 - \Delta_9)\varrho < t < 2r$ 

$$\begin{aligned} |\xi - z| &\leq 2^{3/2} \Delta_9 \varrho \leq 2^{3/2} \Delta_9 t / (1 - \Delta_9) \leq \frac{19}{20} t, \quad \mathbf{B}(\xi, t / (20)) \subset \mathbf{B}(z, t), \\ \|V\| \,\mathbf{B}(z, t) &\geq \|V\| \,\mathbf{B}(\xi, t / (20)) \geq (40)^{-m} (\boldsymbol{\gamma}(m)m)^{-m} t^m = \delta_5 \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m) t^m \end{aligned}$$

by 3.4 since  $\delta \leq (2\gamma(m))^{-1}$  and, noting (I), the inclusion follows from 9.3(9) as **B** $(z, (1 - \Delta_9)\varrho) \subset K$ . Choose  $\phi \in \mathscr{D}^0(U)$  such that

$$0 \leq \phi(x) \leq 1 \text{ and } |D\phi(x)| \leq 2 \cdot (\Delta_9 - 1/4)^{-1} \varrho^{-1} \text{ for } x \in U,$$
  

$$\phi(x) = 1 \text{ for } x \in \mathbf{C}(T, a, \varrho/4, \varrho/4),$$
  

$$\operatorname{spt} \phi \subset \mathbf{C}(T, a, \Delta_9 \varrho, \Delta_9 \varrho) \subset K \cap \operatorname{Int} \mathbf{C}(T, a, \varrho/2, \varrho/2).$$

One now applies 4.14 if m = 1 and 4.10 if m > 1 both with a and T replaced by  $(\mathbf{p}^* + \mathbf{q}^* \circ P)(0)$  and im  $D(\mathbf{p}^* + \mathbf{q}^* \circ P)(0)$  to obtain with  $\alpha_m = 0$  if m = 1 and  $\alpha_m = (\varrho^{1-m/p}\alpha)^{\frac{mp}{m-p}}$  if m > 1

$$\varrho^{-m}\beta^{2} \leq \Delta_{10} \left( \alpha_{m} + (\varrho^{1-m/p}\alpha \varrho^{-1-m/q}\gamma)^{1/(1/p+1/q)} \right) + (16+4m)\varrho^{-m}\xi^{2};$$

here  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\gamma$ , and  $\xi$  are as in 4.10 and 4.14 respectively. Noting  $(\alpha_m)^{1/2} \leq \phi_3(\varrho)^{\tau}$ , since  $\phi_3(\varrho) \leq 1$  by (I), and using the inequality relating arithmetic and geometric means as in 4.11, one infers

$$\phi_{2}(\varrho/4, R) \leq \Delta_{11} \big( \lambda \varrho^{-1-m/q} (\|V\| \sqcup H \cap \mathbf{C}(T, \mathbf{p}^{*}(c), \varrho/2, 3r))_{(q)}(d) + \lambda^{-\tau} \phi_{3}(\varrho)^{\tau} + \varrho^{-1-m/2} (\|V\| \sqcup H \cap \mathbf{C}(T, \mathbf{p}^{*}(c), \varrho/2, 3r))_{(2)}(d) \big).$$
(VII)

Finally, the estimates (II)–(VII) are combined as follows: Firstly,

$$\begin{split} \phi_{2}(\varrho/4, R) &\leq \Delta_{11} \lambda^{-\tau} \phi_{3}(\varrho)^{\tau} \\ &+ \Delta_{7} \Delta_{11} \lambda \varrho^{-1-m/q} \left( |F(+)(-P)|_{q;c,\varrho/2} + \mathscr{L}^{m}(\mathbf{B}(c, \varrho/2) \sim X_{1})^{1/q+1/m} \right) \\ &+ \Delta_{7} \Delta_{11} \varrho^{-1-m/2} \left( |F(+)(-P)|_{2;c,\varrho/2} + \mathscr{L}^{m}(\mathbf{B}(c, \varrho/2) \sim X_{1})^{1/2+1/m} \right), \end{split}$$

by (VII) and (V). Then, by (II), (III), and (VI)

$$\begin{split} \phi_{2}(\varrho/4, R) &\leq \Delta_{11}\lambda^{-\tau}\phi_{3}(\varrho)^{\tau} \\ &+ \Delta_{7}\Delta_{11}(\Delta_{4} + \Delta_{5})(\lambda + \eta^{\mu})\varrho^{-m/2} |A(F(+)(-P))|_{2;c,\varrho/2} \\ &+ \Delta_{7}\Delta_{11}(\Delta_{4} + \Delta_{5})(\eta^{1/q-1} + \eta^{-1})\varrho^{-1-m} |f(+)(-P)|_{1;X} \\ &+ 2\Delta_{7}(\Delta_{8})^{1/q+1/m}\Delta_{11}\lambda(\varphi_{2}(\varrho, T_{\varrho})^{2/q+2/m} + \phi_{4}(\varrho)^{1/q+1/m}) \\ &+ 2\Delta_{7}(\Delta_{8})^{1/2+1/m}\Delta_{11}(\phi_{2}(\varrho, T_{\varrho})^{1+2/m} + \phi_{4}(\varrho)^{1/2+1/m}). \end{split}$$

Finally, using  $\phi_2(\varrho, T_\varrho) \leq 1$  and  $\phi_4(\varrho) \leq 1$  by (I),  $q \geq 2$ , and  $\tau \leq \frac{mp}{2(m-p)} \leq (\frac{1}{q} + \frac{1}{m})\frac{mp}{m-p}$ , if m > 1 this simplifies to

$$\begin{split} \phi_2(\varrho/4, R) &\leq \Delta_{12} \Big( \lambda^{-\tau} \phi_3(\varrho)^{\tau} + \big( \lambda + \phi_2(\varrho, T_\varrho)^{2/m} \big) \phi_2(\varrho, T_\varrho) \\ &+ (\lambda + \eta^{\mu}) \varrho^{-m/2} |A(F(+)(-P))|_{2;c,\varrho/2} + \eta^{-1} \varrho^{-m-1} |f(+)(-P)|_{1;X} \Big), \end{split}$$

and the conclusion is a consequence of (IV).  $\Box$ 

**Proof of** (10). With  $\delta_4 = 1$  and  $\delta_5 = (40)^{-m} (\boldsymbol{\gamma}(m)m)^{-m} / \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)$ , define

$$\begin{split} &\Delta_{1} = \inf\{\epsilon_{9,3(8)}(m, \delta_{4}, \delta), \epsilon_{9,3(11)}(n, \delta_{4}, \delta), \epsilon_{(9)}(m, n, Q, \delta_{2}, \epsilon, \delta, p)\}, \\ &\Delta_{2} = 6(2m\Gamma_{(5)}(n))^{m+1} \alpha(m)^{-1/2}, \quad \Delta_{3} = \Delta_{2} \left(\Gamma_{(5)}(n)^{2} + 1\right), \\ &\Delta_{4} = \Delta_{3}\Gamma_{9,3(12)}(n, Q, \delta)^{1/2}, \\ &\Delta_{5} = \inf\left\{2^{-2m-5} \alpha(m)n^{-1/2} \delta, (\Delta_{4})^{-1}n^{-1/2} \delta/4, 1\right\}, \\ &\Delta_{6} = \inf\left\{1, 2^{-m} \epsilon_{(9)}(m, n, Q, \delta_{2}, \epsilon, \delta, p)\right\}, \\ &\Delta_{7} = \inf\left\{(\Delta_{4})^{-2}n^{-1} \delta^{2} 2^{-4}, 2^{-m} \beta(n)^{-1} \alpha(m)(1/8), 2^{-m}\right\}, \\ &\epsilon_{(10)} = \inf\left\{\Delta_{1}, 2^{-1}m^{-1/2} (\Delta_{5})^{2}, \Delta_{6}, \delta(\Delta_{7})^{1/p-1/m}\right\}. \end{split}$$

Moreover, define

$$\begin{split} \Delta_8 &= \Gamma_{(7)}(m, n, Q, \delta_4, \delta, p), \quad \Delta_9 &= \Gamma_{3.16}(n) \alpha(m)^{1/2}, \\ \Delta_{10} &= \Delta_9 \Gamma_{9.3(12)}(n, Q, \delta)^{1/2}, \quad \Delta_{11} = 2^{m+1} \Gamma_{3.15}(2, n), \\ \Delta_{12} &= \Delta_{11} \sup\{\alpha(m), \Delta_8 + 2^m \Delta_{10} \delta^{-\tau}\}, \\ \Delta_{13} &= (Q+1)^{1/2} \alpha(m)^{1/2} \Delta_{12} n^{1/2} + 2^m, \quad \Delta_{14} = Q^{1/2} \sup\{\alpha(m), \Delta_8\}, \\ \Gamma_{(10)} &= \Gamma_{(9)}(m, n, Q, \delta, p, \tau)(2^{m+1} + 2\Delta_{13} + \Delta_{14}). \end{split}$$

It will be shown that  $\varepsilon_{(10)}$  and  $\Gamma_{(10)}$  have the asserted property.

Since  $\rho \in J_4$  and  $2\rho \in J_0$ , it follows

$$\varrho < 2r, \quad 2\varrho \in J_3, \quad \phi_2(2\varrho, T) \leq (2m^{1/2}\kappa)^{1/2}.$$

One therefore obtains

$$\kappa \leq \Delta_1, \quad \phi_2(2\varrho, T) \leq \Delta_5, \quad \phi_3(2\varrho) \leq \Delta_6, \quad \phi_4(2\varrho) \leq \Delta_7,$$
  
$$\varrho \in J_1, \quad \|\sigma_\varrho\| \leq n^{-1/2} \delta/2;$$
 (I)

in fact, the first four inequalities are directly implied by the definition of  $\varepsilon_{(10)}$  and the last two statements follow from 9.3 (13) applied with  $\rho$ , *s*, *t*,  $\lambda$  replaced by  $2\rho$ ,  $\rho$ ,  $\rho$ , 1/2 since  $\phi_2(2\rho, T_{2\rho}) \leq 2^{-2m-5} \alpha(m) n^{-1/2} \delta$  by the second inequality.

Define  $P : \mathbf{R}^m \to \mathbf{R}^{n-m}$  by  $P(x) = u_{\varrho}(c) + \langle x - c, Du_{\varrho}(c) \rangle$  for  $x \in \mathbf{R}^m$ . One verifies

Lip 
$$P = \|DP(0)\| \le n^{-1/2}\delta/2;$$
 (II)

in fact, using [14, 5.2.5], 7.2, 9.3 (12) with  $\sigma$  replaced by 0, and (I)

$$\begin{split} \|DP(0)\| &= \|Du_{\varrho}(c)\| \leq \Delta_{2} \varrho^{-m/2} \|Du_{\varrho}\|_{2;c,\varrho} \\ &\leq \Delta_{2} \varrho^{-m/2} (\|D(u_{\varrho} - g)\|_{2;c,\varrho} + \|Dg\|_{2;c,\varrho}) \\ &\leq \Delta_{3} \varrho^{-m/2} \|Dg\|_{2;c,\varrho} \leq \Delta_{4} (\phi_{2}(2\varrho, T) + \phi_{4}(2\varrho)^{1/2}) \leq n^{-1/2} \delta/2. \end{split}$$

Taylor's expansion yields

$$\varrho^{-m-1}|u_{\varrho} - P|_{1;c,\varrho/2} \leq \alpha(m)\varrho|D^{2}u_{\varrho}|_{\infty;c,\varrho/2}.$$
 (III)

Noting (I), one obtains from (7) that

$$\varrho^{-m-1} | u_{\varrho} - g |_{1;c,\varrho} \leq \Delta_8 \big( \phi_2(2\varrho, T_{2\varrho})^2 + \phi_3(2\varrho)^\tau \big).$$
 (IV)

By 3.16 with *a*, *r*, *u* replaced by *c*,  $\rho/2$ ,  $(g - \sigma_{\rho})|\mathbf{U}(c, \rho/2)$  there exists an affine function  $R : \mathbf{R}^m \to \mathbf{R}^{n-m}$  with  $DR(0) = \sigma_{\rho}$  such that

$$\varrho^{-m-1}|g-R|_{1;c,\varrho/2} \leq \Delta_9 \varrho^{-m/2} |D(g-R)|_{2;c,\varrho/2},$$

hence by 9.3 (12) with  $\rho$ ,  $\sigma$  replaced by  $\rho/2$ ,  $\sigma_{\rho}$ , noting (I),

$$\varrho^{-m-1} |g - R|_{1;c,\varrho/2} \leq \Delta_{10} (\phi_2(\varrho, T_\varrho) + \phi_4(\varrho)^{1/2}).$$
(V)

Since by 3.15 with k, a, r, u replaced by 2, c,  $\varrho/2$ , P - R

$$|DP(0) - \sigma_{\varrho}| = |D(P - R)(0)| \leq \Delta_{11} \varrho^{-1-m} |P - R|_{1;c,\varrho/2}$$
$$\leq \Delta_{11} \varrho^{-1-m} (|P - u_{\varrho}|_{1;c,\varrho/2} + |u_{\varrho} - g|_{1;c,\varrho/2} + |g - R|_{1;c,\varrho/2}),$$

one obtains from (III)–(V), noting sup{ $\phi_2(2\varrho, T_{2\varrho}), \phi_3(2\varrho), \phi_4(\varrho)$ }  $\leq 1$  by (I) and  $1/2 \geq \tau (1/p - 1/m)$ ,

$$|DP(0) - \sigma_{\varrho}| \leq \Delta_{12} \big( \varrho \phi_1(\varrho) + \phi_2(2\varrho, T_{2\varrho}) + \phi_3(2\varrho)^{\tau} \big),$$

hence, using 9.3(11a) and 4.1

$$\phi_2(\varrho, S) \leq \Delta_{13} \big( \varrho \phi_1(\varrho) + \phi_2(2\varrho, T_{2\varrho}) + \phi_3(2\varrho)^\tau \big), \tag{VI}$$

where  $S = \operatorname{im} D(\mathbf{p}^* + \mathbf{q}^* \circ P)(0)$ .

Define  $X = \mathbf{U}(c, \varrho/2) \cap X_1 \cap \{x : \Theta^0(||f(x)||, g(x)) = Q\}$  and note

$$|f(+)(-P)|_{1;X} \leq Q^{1/2}(|g-u_{\varrho}|_{1;c,\varrho} + |u_{\varrho}-P|_{1;c,\varrho/2}).$$

Combining this with (III) and (IV) yields

$$\varrho^{-1-m} |f(+)(-P)|_{1;X} \leq \Delta_{14} \big( \varrho \phi_1(\varrho) + \phi_2(2\varrho, T_{2\varrho})^2 + \phi_3(2\varrho)^\tau \big).$$

Therefore noting (I), (II) and 5.7(1) and applying (9) with *R* replaced by *S*, one obtains in conjunction with (VI) the conclusion.  $\Box$ 

**Proof of (11).** As the assertion does not involve  $\kappa$  it may be restricted to a specific value. One defines

$$\begin{split} & \Delta_{1} = \sup\{\Gamma_{(8)}(m, n, Q, \delta_{4}, \delta, p), \Gamma_{(10)}(m, n, Q, \delta, p, \tau), 1\}, \\ & \eta = \inf\{(48\Delta_{1})^{-n}, 2^{-n}\}, \\ & \kappa = \inf\{\epsilon_{9,3(8)}(m, \delta_{4}, \delta), \epsilon_{9,3(10)}(n, Q, \delta_{4}, p, \alpha, \delta_{6}), \epsilon_{9,3(11)}(n, \delta_{4}, \delta), \\ & \epsilon_{(8)}(n, \delta_{4}, \delta), 2^{-m-2}\beta(n)^{-1}\alpha(m)\eta\Gamma_{5,7(7)}(Q, m)^{-1}, \\ & \epsilon_{(10)}(m, n, Q, \delta_{2}, \epsilon, \delta, p)\}, \\ & \Delta_{2} = \inf\{1, 2^{-m}\beta(n)^{-1}\alpha(m)\inf\{\eta(4\Gamma_{5,7(7)}(Q, m))^{-1}, 1/8\}\}, \\ & \Delta_{3} = \inf\{2^{-2m}\sup\{(Q+1)\alpha(m), 1\}^{-1}\kappa, 1, \epsilon_{(10)}(m, n, Q, \delta_{2}, \epsilon, \delta, p), \\ & (\Delta_{2})^{1/p-1/m}\delta, 2^{-9m}\sup\{M\alpha(m), 1\}^{-1}\kappa\}, \\ & \Delta_{4} = \inf\{(\Delta_{3}/8)^{\tau}, \epsilon_{9,3(10)}(n, Q, \delta_{4}, p, \alpha, \delta_{6})^{\tau}, \\ & (\alpha p\alpha(m)^{1/p}((Q-1+\delta_{6})^{1/p}-(Q-1+\delta_{6}/2)^{1/p}))^{\tau}\}, \\ & \Delta_{5} = \inf\{2^{-2m}(Q+1)^{-1/2}\alpha(m)^{-1/2}\kappa, 2^{-m-2}\alpha(m)^{1/2}\}, \\ & \Delta_{6} = n^{-1/2}\inf\{\delta/4, 2^{-m-1}\sup\{(Q+1)\alpha(m), 1\}^{-1}\Delta_{5}\}, \\ & \Delta_{7} = \inf\{n^{-1/2}\inf\{\delta/2, 1/4\}, \Delta_{6}/2\}, \\ & \Delta_{8} = 1 - 4^{\alpha\tau-1} \quad \text{if } \alpha\tau < 1, \\ & \Delta_{8} = \log 4 \quad \text{if } \alpha\tau = 1, \\ & \Delta_{9} = \inf\{2^{-2m-4}\alpha(m)^{1/2}, 2^{-2m-4}\alpha(m)^{1/2}(1-2^{-\alpha\tau})\Delta_{6}, 2^{-m-1}\Delta_{5}, 1, \\ & (3\Delta_{1})^{-1}\Delta_{8}, \frac{1}{576}(\Delta_{1})^{-2}\eta\Delta_{8}, (48\Delta_{1})^{-n}\eta^{n}\}, \\ & \Delta_{10} = \Gamma_{(6)}(n, Q, \delta), \\ & \Delta_{11} = \inf\{\delta^{\tau}2^{-7}(\Delta_{10})^{-1}, \frac{1}{24}\Delta_{8}(\Delta_{1})^{-1}\}, \\ & \lambda_{2} = (24\Delta_{1}(\eta^{-1}+\lambda^{-\tau}))^{-1}, \\ & \gamma_{2} = (e/4)\Delta_{9}, \\ & \gamma_{1} = \eta(24\Delta_{1})^{-1}\gamma_{2}, \\ & \gamma_{3} = \inf\{2^{-8m}\sup\{M\alpha(m), 1\}^{-1}\kappa, 2^{-6m-4}\alpha(m)^{1/2}, \\ & 2^{-5m-3}\alpha(m)^{1/2}\Delta_{7}, 2^{-5m}\Delta_{5}, 2^{-4m-7}(\Delta_{10})^{-1}\gamma_{1}, 2^{-5m-6}\gamma_{2}, \eta/2\}; \\ \end{array}$$

here *e* denotes Euler's number. It will be shown that  $\gamma_i$  and  $\varepsilon_{(11)}$  have the asserted property.

Suppose  $C_{a,t}$  for  $t \in J_0$  is as in 9.3. First, note that

$$\phi_3(\varrho)^\tau \leq \gamma \gamma_3(\varrho/r)^{\alpha \tau} \quad \text{for } 0 < t \leq 8r$$
 (I)

implies, noting  $\gamma_3 \leq \Delta_4$ ,

$$\phi_3(\varrho) \leq \Delta_3$$
 and  $\phi_4(\varrho) \leq \Delta_2$  whenever  $0 < \varrho \leq 8r$ . (I')

Next, some auxiliary assertions will be shown:

$$\begin{split} & \mathbf{R} \cap \{ \varrho : 0 < \varrho \leq r/2 \} \subset J_0, \\ & \mathbf{R} \cap \{ \varrho : \frac{r}{64} \leq \varrho \leq r \} \subset J_1, \\ & \mathbf{R} \cap \{ \varrho : \frac{r}{64} \leq \varrho \leq sr \} \subset J_2 \cap J_3, \\ & \mathbf{R} \cap \{ \varrho : \frac{r}{64} \leq \varrho \leq sr \} \subset J_4, \\ & \mathbf{R} \cap \{ \varrho : \frac{r}{64} \leq \varrho \leq r/2 \} \subset J_5, \\ & \| V \| (\mathbf{C}(T, a, \varrho, \varrho)) \geq (\varrho - 1 + \delta_4/2) \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m) \varrho^m \quad \text{whenever } 0 < \varrho \leq r/2, \quad (\text{VII}) \\ & \| \sigma_{\varrho} \| \leq \Delta_7 \quad \text{whenever } \frac{r}{64} \leq \varrho \leq r. \end{split}$$

**Proof of** (II). This follows from  $a \in C(T, 0, r/2, 2r)$ .

**Proof of (IV)**. For  $\frac{r}{64} \leq \varrho \leq 8r$  one computes, using Hölder's inequality and (I'),

$$\begin{split} \|\delta V\|(U \cap \mathbf{C}(T, a, \varrho, \varrho)) &\leq \|V\|(U)^{1-1/p} \psi(U \cap \mathbf{C}(T, a, 8r, 8r))^{1/p} \\ &\leq \sup\{M \alpha(m), 1\}r^{m-m/p}(8r)^{m/p-1}\phi_{3}(8r) \\ &\leq \Delta_{3} \sup\{M \alpha(m), 1\}2^{9m} (\frac{r}{64})^{m-1} \leq \kappa \varrho^{m-1}, \\ \int_{(U \cap \mathbf{C}(T, a, \varrho, \varrho)) \times \mathbf{G}(n, m)} |S_{\natural} - T_{\natural}| \, \mathrm{d}V(z, S) \leq \|V\|(U)^{1/2}(8r)^{m/2}\phi_{2}(8r, T) \\ &\leq \sup\{M \alpha(m), 1\}2^{8m} \varepsilon_{(11)} (\frac{r}{64})^{m} \leq \kappa \varrho^{m}. \end{split}$$

**Proof of (V)**. This follows from (**IV**).

**Proof of (VI).** Let  $\frac{r}{64} \leq \rho \leq r/2$ . One computes for  $0 < t < \rho$ , (I) and  $\gamma_3 \leq \Delta_4$ ,

$$\phi_3(t) \leq (\Delta_4)^{1/\tau} (t/r)^{\alpha} \leq \varepsilon_{9,3(10)}(n, Q, \delta_4, p, \alpha, \delta_6) (t/\varrho)^{\alpha}.$$

Therefore, noting (II) and (IV), (VI) is implied by 9.3(10).

**Proof of (VII).** Applying 9.1 with  $r, M, \rho$  replaced by  $\rho, (\Delta_4)^{1/\tau}, \rho$  in conjunction with Hölder's inequality, noting (I) and  $\gamma_3 \leq \Delta_4$ , yields

$$\left( \varrho^{-m} \| V \| (\mathbf{C}(T, a, \varrho, \varrho)) \right)^{1/p} \ge \left( (Q - 1 + \delta_6) \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m) \right)^{1/p} - (\Delta_4)^{1/\tau} \boldsymbol{\alpha}^{-1} p^{-1} \ge \left( (Q - 1 + \delta_6/2) \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m) \right)^{1/p}.$$

**Proof of (III) and (VIII)**. Let  $\frac{r}{64} \leq \rho \leq r$ . Using Hölder's inequality and  $\rho/2 \leq \inf\{\rho, r/2\} \in J_5$  by (VI), one estimates

$$\|(T_{\varrho})_{\natural} - T_{\natural}\| \leq \|V\| (U \cap \mathbf{C}(T, a, \varrho, \varrho))^{-1/2} \varrho^{m/2} (\phi_2(\varrho, T_{\varrho}) + \phi_2(\varrho, T))$$
  
$$\leq \alpha(m)^{-1/2} 2^{m/2+3/2} \phi_2(\varrho, T) \leq \alpha(m)^{-1/2} 2^{5m+2} \phi_2(8r, T)$$
  
$$\leq \alpha(m)^{-1/2} 2^{5m+2} \varepsilon_{(11)} \leq 1/2,$$

hence  $T_{\varrho} \cap \ker \mathbf{p} = \{0\}$  and  $\varrho \in J_1$ , that is (III). Now, 4.1 applied with S,  $S_1$ ,  $S_2$  replaced by T, T,  $T_{\rho}$  yields

$$\begin{split} \|\sigma_{\varrho}\|^{2} &\leq (1+\|\sigma_{\varrho}\|^{2})\|(T_{\varrho})_{\natural} - T_{\natural}\|^{2}, \\ \|\sigma_{\varrho}\|^{2} &\leq \|(T_{\varrho})_{\natural} - T_{\natural}\|^{2}/(1-\|(T_{\varrho})_{\natural} - T_{\natural}\|^{2}) \leq 2\|(T_{\varrho})_{\natural} - T_{\natural}\|^{2}, \\ \|\sigma_{\varrho}\| &\leq 2\|(T_{\varrho})_{\natural} - T_{\natural}\| \leq \alpha(m)^{-1/2}2^{5m+3}\varepsilon_{(11)} \leq \Delta_{7}. \end{split}$$

Having shown the auxiliary assertions (II)–(VIII), one chooses  $j \in \mathscr{P}$  such that  $\frac{r}{64} < 4^j t \leq \frac{r}{16}$  and defines  $t_i = 4^{j+1-i}t$  whenever  $i \in \mathscr{P}$ ,  $i \leq j+1$  in order to show inductively the following assertions whenever  $i \in \mathscr{P}$ ,  $i \leq j+1$ :

$$\mathbf{R} \cap \{\varrho : t_i \leq \varrho \leq r\} \subset J_4 \tag{IX}$$

$$\mathbf{R} \cap \{\varrho : t_i \leq \varrho \leq r/2\} \subset J_5,\tag{X}$$

$$\mathbf{R} \cap \{\varrho : t_i \leq \varrho \leq r\} \subset J_1,\tag{XI}$$

$$\|\sigma_{\varrho}\| \leq \Delta_6 \quad \text{for } t_i \leq \varrho \leq r, \tag{XII}$$

$$\phi_2(\varrho, T) \leq \Delta_5 \quad \text{for } t_i \leq \varrho \leq r,$$
 (XIII)

$$\phi_1(\varrho) \leq \gamma \gamma_1 \varrho^{-1+\alpha\tau} r^{-\alpha\tau} \quad \text{whenever } t_i \leq \varrho \leq r/4, \, \alpha\tau < 1,$$
(XIV)

$$\phi_1(\varrho) \leq \gamma \gamma_1 r^{-1} (1 + \log(r/\varrho)) \quad \text{whenever } t_i \leq \varrho \leq r/4, \, \alpha \tau = 1,$$

$$\phi_2(\varrho, T_i) \leq \gamma \gamma_2(\varrho/r)^{\alpha \tau} \quad \text{whenever } t_i \leq \varrho \leq r, \, \alpha \tau < 1$$

$$\psi_{2}(\varrho, T_{\varrho}) \leq \gamma \gamma_{2}(\varrho/r)(1 + \log(r/\varrho)) \quad \text{whenever } t_{i} \leq \varrho \leq r, \, \alpha\tau = 1.$$
(XV)

One verifies that  $(XV)_i$  implies

$$\phi_2(\varrho, T_{\varrho}) \leq \Delta_9(\varrho/r)^{\alpha \tau/2}$$
 whenever  $t_i \leq \varrho \leq r$ , (XV')

$$\phi_2(\varrho, T_\varrho) \leq \Delta_9 (1 + \log(r/\varrho))^{-1}$$
 whenever  $t_i \leq \varrho \leq r, \alpha \tau = 1;$  (XV")

here and in the remaining proof references to equations involving the inductive parameter will be supplemented by the value of this parameter as index.

**Proof of**  $(IX)_1$ ,  $(X)_1$  and  $(XI)_1$ . Since  $t_1 = 4^j t \ge \frac{r}{64}$  the assertions follow from (V), (III) and (VI).

**Proof of** (XII)<sub>1</sub>. Since  $t_1 \ge \frac{r}{64}$  and  $\Delta_7 \le \Delta_6$ , this follows from (VIII).

**Proof of** (XIII)<sub>1</sub>. For  $t_1 \leq \varrho \leq r$ 

$$\phi_2(\varrho, T) \leq 2^{5m} \phi_2(8r, T) \leq 2^{5m} \varepsilon_{(11)} \leq \Delta_5.$$

**Proof of** (XIV)<sub>1</sub>. Let  $\frac{r}{64} \leq \rho \leq r/4$  and note

$$\varrho \in J_4 \cap J_5 \text{ by (V) and (VI)}, \quad 2\varrho \in J_0 \cap J_1 \text{ by (II) and (III)}, 
\|\sigma_{2\varrho}\| \leq n^{-1/2} \inf\{\delta/2, 1/4\} \text{ by (VIII)}, 
\phi_2(2\varrho, T_{2\varrho}) \leq 2^{4m} \phi_2(8r, T) \leq 2^{4m} \varepsilon_{(11)} \leq 2^{-2m-4} \alpha(m)^{1/2}.$$

Therefore by (6), using  $\phi_4(2\varrho) \leq 1$  by (I'),  $1/2 \geq \tau(1/p - 1/m)$ , (I) and  $\gamma_3 \leq \Delta_{11}\gamma_1$ ,

$$\begin{split} \varrho\phi_1(\varrho) &\leq \Delta_{10} \Big( \phi_2(2\varrho, T_{2\varrho}) + \phi_4(2\varrho)^{1/2} \Big) \leq \Delta_{10} \Big( 2^{4m} \phi_2(8r, T_{8r}) + \delta^{-\tau} \phi_3(2\varrho)^{\tau} \Big) \\ &\leq \gamma \Delta_{10} \Big( 2^{4m} \varepsilon_{(11)} + \delta^{-\tau} \Delta_{11} \gamma_1 \Big) \leq \gamma \gamma_1 \frac{1}{64} \leq \gamma \gamma_1(\varrho/r)^{\alpha \tau}. \end{split}$$

**Proof of** (XV)<sub>1</sub>. For  $\frac{r}{64} \leq \rho \leq r$  one estimates

$$\phi_2(\varrho, T_\varrho) \leq 2^{5m} \phi_2(8r, T_{8r}) \leq 2^{5m} \varepsilon_{(11)} \gamma \leq \gamma \gamma_2 \frac{1}{64} \leq \gamma \gamma_2(\varrho/r)^{\alpha \tau}.$$

Therefore the assertions  $(IX)_1 - (XV)_1$  are proven in the case i = 1. Suppose now that the assertions  $(IX)_i - (XV)_i$  hold for some  $i \in \mathcal{P}$  with  $i \leq j$ . Note  $t_i \leq t_1 = 4^j t \leq \frac{r}{16}$ . Since  $t_i \in J_0 \cap J_4$  by (II) and  $(IX)_i$  and

$$\phi_4(2t_i) \leq \Delta_2 \leq 2^{-m} \boldsymbol{\beta}(n)^{-1} \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)(1/8)$$

by (I'), 9.3 (11a) with  $\rho$  replaced by  $t_i$  implies

$$\|V\|(\mathbb{C}(T, a, \varrho, \varrho)) \leq (Q+1)\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)4^{m}\varrho^{m} \text{ for } t_{i+1} \leq \varrho \leq t_{i}.$$
(XVI)

**Proof of**  $(IX)_{i+1}$ ,  $(X)_{i+1}$  and  $(XI)_{i+1}$ . Let  $t_{i+1} \leq \varrho \leq t_i$ . Note  $\varrho \in J_0$  by (II). One estimates, using Hölder's inequality, (XVI) and (I'),

$$\begin{aligned} \|\delta V\|(\mathbf{C}(T, a, \varrho, \varrho)) &\leq \|V\|(\mathbf{C}(T, a, \varrho, \varrho))^{1-1/p} \psi(\mathbf{C}(T, a, t_i, t_i))^{1/p} \\ &\leq \sup\{(Q+1)\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m), 1\}4^m \varrho^{m-1} \Delta_3 \leq \kappa \varrho^{m-1}, \end{aligned}$$

hence  $\rho \in J_2$ . Similarly, using  $(XIII)_i$ ,

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathbf{C}(T,a,\varrho,\varrho)\times\mathbf{G}(n,m)} |S_{\natural} - T_{\natural}| \, \mathrm{d}V(z,S) \\ &\leq \|V\|(\mathbf{C}(T,a,\varrho,\varrho))^{1/2} \big(\int_{\mathbf{C}(T,a,t_i,t_i)\times\mathbf{G}(n,m)} |S_{\natural} - T_{\natural}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}V(z,S) \big)^{1/2} \\ &\leq (Q+1)^{1/2} \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)^{1/2} 4^m \varrho^m \Delta_5 \leq \kappa \varrho^m \end{split}$$

and  $\rho \in J_3$ . Together with  $(IX)_i$  this implies

$$\mathbf{R} \cap \{s : t_{i+1} \leq s < 2r\} \subset J_2 \cap J_3, \quad \mathbf{R} \cap \{s : t_{i+1} \leq s \leq r\} \subset J_4,$$

hence  $(IX)_{i+1}$ . One computes for  $0 < t < \rho$ , using (II), (I) and  $\gamma_3 \leq \Delta_4$ ,

$$\phi_3(t) \leq (\Delta_4)^{1/\tau} (t/r)^{\alpha} \leq \varepsilon_{9,3(10)}(n, Q, \delta_4, p, \alpha, \delta_6) (t/\varrho)^{\alpha}.$$

Therefore, noting (II) and (IX)<sub>*i*+1</sub>, 9.3(10) implies (X)<sub>*i*+1</sub>. To prove  $\rho \in J_1$ , one estimates

$$\|(T_{\varrho})_{\natural} - T_{\natural}\| \leq \|V\|(\mathbf{C}(T, a, \varrho, \varrho))^{-1/2} \varrho^{m/2} (\phi_{2}(\varrho, T_{\varrho}) + \phi_{2}(\varrho, T))$$
  
$$\leq \|V\|(\mathbf{C}(T, a, t_{i+1}, t_{i+1}))^{-1/2} (t_{i})^{m/2} (\phi_{2}(t_{i}, T_{t_{i}}) + \phi_{2}(t_{i}, T))$$
  
$$\leq \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)^{-1/2} 2^{m} (\Delta_{9} + \Delta_{5}) \leq 1/2$$

by  $(\mathbf{X})_{i+1}$  and  $(\mathbf{XV'})_i$ ,  $(\mathbf{XIII})_i$ , hence

$$T_{\varrho} \cap \ker \mathbf{p} = \{0\}, \quad \varrho \in J_1.$$

**Proof of** (XII)<sub>*i*+1</sub>. Let  $t_{i+1} \leq \varrho \leq t_i$  and define  $\varrho_k = 4^{k-1}\varrho$  for  $k \in \mathscr{P}$ . Since  $\varrho \leq t_i \leq r/4$ , there exists  $l \in \mathscr{P}$  such that  $\frac{r}{16} < \varrho_l \leq r/4$ . Note

$$\varrho_k \in J_1 \cap J_5$$
 for  $k = 1, \ldots, l$ 

by  $(XI)_{i+1}$  and  $(X)_{i+1}$ . Also, by  $(XII)_i$ ,

$$\|\sigma_{\varrho_k}\| \leq n^{-1/2}/4$$
 whenever  $k \in \mathscr{P}, 2 \leq k \leq l$ 

and, by  $(XV')_i$ ,

$$\phi_2(\varrho_k, T_{\varrho_k}) \leq \Delta_9 \leq 2^{-2m-4} \alpha(m)^{1/2}$$
 whenever  $k \in \mathscr{P}, 2 \leq k \leq l$ .

Now, applying 9.3 (13) with  $\rho$ , *s*, *t*,  $\lambda$  replaced by  $\rho_k$ ,  $\rho_{k-1}$ ,  $\rho_{k-1}$ , 1/2 and using  $(XV')_i$ , one obtains

$$\|\sigma_{\varrho_{k-1}} - \sigma_{\varrho_k}\| \leq 2^{2m+3} \alpha(m)^{-1/2} \phi_2(\varrho_k, T_{\varrho_k}) \leq 2^{2m+3} \alpha(m)^{-1/2} \Delta_9(\varrho_k/r)^{\alpha \tau/2}$$

whenever  $k \in \mathscr{P}$ ,  $2 \leq k \leq l$ . Therefore, by (VIII)

$$\begin{aligned} \|\sigma_{\varrho}\| &\leq \|\sigma_{\varrho_{l}}\| + \sum_{k=2}^{l} \|\sigma_{\varrho_{k-1}} - \sigma_{\varrho_{k}}\| \\ &\leq \Delta_{7} + 2^{2m+3} \alpha(m)^{-1/2} \Delta_{9} r^{-\alpha\tau/2} \sum_{k=2}^{l} (4^{k-1}\varrho)^{\alpha\tau/2} \\ &\leq \Delta_{7} + 2^{2m+3} \alpha(m)^{-1/2} \Delta_{9} (4^{l-1}\varrho/r)^{\alpha\tau/2} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} 2^{-k\alpha\tau} \\ &\leq \Delta_{7} + 2^{2m+3} \alpha(m)^{-1/2} (1 - 2^{-\alpha\tau})^{-1} \Delta_{9} \leq \Delta_{6}. \end{aligned}$$

**Proof of**  $(XIII)_{i+1}$ . For  $t_{i+1} \leq \varrho \leq t_i, \varrho \in J_0$  by (II) and

$$\phi_2(\varrho, T) \leq \phi_2(\varrho, T_\varrho) + \varrho^{-m/2} \|V\| (\mathbb{C}(T, a, \varrho, \varrho))^{1/2} |T_{\natural} - (T_\varrho)_{\natural}|$$

by Hölder's inequality. By  $(XV')_i$  and (XVI)

$$\phi_2(\varrho, T) \leq 2^m \Delta_9 + 2^m \sup\{(Q+1)\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m), 1\} | T_{\natural} - (T_{\varrho})_{\natural} |$$

Also by 4.1, noting  $\rho \in J_1$  by  $(XI)_{i+1}$  and  $(XII)_{i+1}$ ,

$$|T_{\natural} - (T_{\varrho})_{\natural}| \leq n^{1/2} ||T_{\natural} - (T_{\varrho})_{\natural}|| \leq n^{1/2} ||\sigma_{\varrho}|| \leq n^{1/2} \Delta_6,$$

hence

$$\phi_2(\varrho, T) \leq 2^m \Delta_9 + 2^m \sup\{(Q+1)\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m), 1\} n^{1/2} \Delta_6 \leq \Delta_5.$$

**Proof of**  $(XIV)_{i+1}$ . Let  $t_{i+1} \leq \rho \leq t_i$ . It will be shown that the hypotheses of (8) are satisfied with  $\rho$  replaced by  $4\rho$ ; in fact  $\rho \leq t_1 \leq \frac{r}{16}$ ,

 $\delta \varrho \in J_0 \cap J_1$  by (II) and (XI)<sub>i</sub>,  $\|\sigma_{\delta \varrho}\| \leq n^{-1/2} \delta/4$  by (XII)<sub>i</sub>,

and for  $s \in \{\varrho, 4\varrho\}$ 

$$s \in J_4 \cap J_5$$
 by  $(IX)_{i+1}$  and  $(X)_{i+1}$ ,  
 $\phi_4(2s) \leq 2^{-m} \beta(n)^{-1} \alpha(m)(1/8)$  by  $(I')$ .

Therefore, in case  $\alpha \tau < 1$ , (8) implies, using  $(\mathbf{XIV})_i$ ,  $(\mathbf{XV})_i$ ,  $(\mathbf{XV})_i$ ,  $\phi_3(8\varrho) \leq 1$  by (I'), (I) and  $\gamma_2 = (24\Delta_1)\eta^{-1}\gamma_1$ ,  $\gamma_3 \leq \Delta_{11}\gamma_1$ ,

$$\begin{split} \phi_{1}(\varrho) &\leq \phi_{1}(4\varrho) + \Delta_{1} \Big( \phi_{1}(4\varrho)\phi_{2}(4\varrho, T_{4\varrho}) + \varrho^{-1}(\phi_{2}(8\varrho, T_{8\varrho})^{2} + \phi_{3}(8\varrho)) \Big) \\ &\leq \gamma \varrho^{-1+\alpha\tau} r^{-\alpha\tau} \Big( 4^{\alpha\tau-1}\gamma_{1} + \Delta_{1}\Delta_{9}\gamma_{1} + 8\Delta_{1}\Delta_{9}\gamma_{2} + 8\Delta_{1}\gamma_{3} \Big) \\ &\leq \gamma \gamma_{1} \varrho^{-1+\alpha\tau} r^{-\alpha\tau} \Big( \Delta_{8} + \Delta_{1}\Delta_{9} + 192(\Delta_{1})^{2}\eta^{-1}\Delta_{9} + 8\Delta_{1}\Delta_{11} \Big) \\ &\leq \gamma \gamma_{1} \varrho^{-1+\alpha\tau} r^{-\alpha\tau}. \end{split}$$

Similarly, in case  $\alpha \tau = 1$ , (8) implies, using  $(XIV)_i$ ,  $(XV'')_i$ ,  $(XV)_i$ , (I) and  $\gamma_2 = (24\Delta_1)\eta^{-1}\gamma_1$ ,  $\gamma_3 \leq \Delta_{11}\gamma_1$ ,

$$\begin{split} \phi_{1}(\varrho) &\leq \phi_{1}(4\varrho) + \Delta_{1} \left( \phi_{1}(4\varrho)\phi_{2}(4\varrho, T_{4\varrho}) + \varrho^{-1}(\phi_{2}(8\varrho, T_{8\varrho})^{2} + \phi_{3}(8\varrho)) \right) \\ &\leq \gamma r^{-1} \left( (1 + \log(r/\varrho) - \log 4)\gamma_{1} + \Delta_{1}\Delta_{9}\gamma_{1} + 8\Delta_{1}\Delta_{9}\gamma_{2} + 8\Delta_{1}\gamma_{3} \right) \\ &\leq \gamma \gamma_{1} r^{-1} \left( (1 + \log(r/\varrho) - \Delta_{8}) + \Delta_{1}\Delta_{9} + 192(\Delta_{1})^{2}\eta^{-1}\Delta_{9} + 8\Delta_{1}\Delta_{11} \right) \\ &\leq \gamma \gamma_{1} r^{-1} (1 + \log(r/\varrho)). \end{split}$$

**Proof of**  $(XV)_{i+1}$ . Let  $t_{i+1} \leq \varrho \leq t_i$ . First, it will be shown that the hypotheses of 9.3 (11b) and 9.3 (11c) are satisfied with  $\varrho$ ,  $\lambda$  replaced by  $2\varrho$ ,  $\eta/2$ ; in fact,

$$2\varrho \in J_4 \cap J_5 \text{ by } (\mathbf{IX})_{i+1} \text{ and } (\mathbf{X})_{i+1}, \phi_4(4\varrho) \leq 2^{-m} \beta(n)^{-1} \alpha(m) \inf \left\{ \eta(4\Gamma_{5.7(7)}(Q,m))^{-1}, 1/8 \right\} \text{ by } (\mathbf{I}').$$

Next, it will be shown that the hypotheses of (10) are satisfied with  $\rho$  replaced by  $4\rho$ ; in fact, noting  $t \leq \rho \leq \frac{r}{16}$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} \{2\varrho, 4\varrho\} \subset J_4 \cap J_5 \quad \text{by (IX)}_{i+1}, \text{ and (X)}_{i+1}, \\ & 8\varrho \in J_0 \cap J_1 \quad \text{by (II) and (XI)}_i, \qquad \|\sigma_{8\varrho}\| \leq n^{-1/2}\delta/4 \quad \text{by (XII)}_i, \\ & 8r \in J_2 \cap J_3 \quad \text{by (IV)}, \qquad \phi_3(8\varrho) \leq \varepsilon_{(10)}(m, n, Q, \delta_2, \varepsilon, \delta, p) \quad \text{by (I')}, \\ & \mathbf{U}(c, 2\varrho) \sim \{x : \mathbf{\Theta}^0(\|f(x)\|, g(x)) = Q\} \\ & \subset C_{a,2\varrho} \cup \mathbf{p} \big[ \mathbf{C}(T, a, 2\varrho, 2\varrho) \cap \{z : Q > \mathbf{\Theta}^m(\|V\|, z) \in \mathscr{P}\} \big], \end{aligned}$$

by 9.3 (11b) with  $\rho$  replaced by  $2\rho$ , hence

$$\mathcal{L}^{m}(\mathbf{U}(c,2\varrho) \sim \{x : \boldsymbol{\Theta}^{0}(\|f(x)\|,g(x)) = Q\})$$
  
$$\leq (\eta/2)\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)(2\varrho)^{m} + \varepsilon_{(11)}\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)(2\varrho)^{m} \leq \eta\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)(2\varrho)^{m}$$

by 9.3 (11c) with  $\rho$ ,  $\lambda$  replaced by  $2\rho$ ,  $\eta/2$ . Therefore, in the case where  $\alpha \tau < 1$ , (10) implies, using  $(XV')_i$ ,  $(XV)_i$ ,  $(XIV)_i$ , (I), and  $\gamma_1 = \eta (24\Delta_1)^{-1} \gamma_2$ ,  $\gamma_3 \leq \Delta_{12} \gamma_2$ ,

$$\begin{split} \phi_{2}(\varrho, T_{\varrho}) &\leq \Delta_{1} \Big( \big( \lambda + \eta^{1/n} + \eta^{-1} \phi_{2}(8\varrho, T_{8\varrho})^{\inf\{1, 2/m\}} \big) \phi_{2}(8\varrho, T_{8\varrho}) \\ &+ \eta^{-1} 4\varrho \phi_{1}(4\varrho) + (\eta^{-1} + \lambda^{-\tau}) \phi_{3}(8\varrho)^{\tau} \Big) \\ &\leq \gamma(\varrho/r)^{\alpha \tau} \Big( 8 \Delta_{1} \big( \lambda + \eta^{1/n} + \eta^{-1} (\Delta_{9})^{1/n} \big) \gamma_{2} \\ &+ 4 \Delta_{1} \eta^{-1} \gamma_{1} + 8 \Delta_{1} (\eta^{-1} + \lambda^{-\tau}) \gamma_{3} \Big) \\ &\leq \gamma(\varrho/r)^{\alpha \tau} \big( \frac{1}{6} \gamma_{2} + \frac{1}{6} \gamma_{2} + \frac{1}{6} \gamma_{2} + \frac{1}{3} \gamma_{2} \big) = \gamma \gamma_{2}(\varrho/r)^{\alpha \tau}. \end{split}$$

Similarly, in case  $\alpha \tau = 1$ , (10) implies, using  $(XV')_i$ ,  $(XV)_i$ ,  $(XIV)_i$ , (I), and  $\gamma_1 = \eta (24\Delta_1)^{-1} \gamma_2$ ,  $\gamma_3 \leq \Delta_{12} \gamma_2$ ,

$$\begin{split} \phi_2(\varrho, T_\varrho) &\leq \gamma(\varrho/r)(1 + \log(r/\varrho)) \Big( 8\Delta_1 \big(\lambda + \eta^{1/n} + \eta^{-1} (\Delta_9)^{1/n} \big) \gamma_2 \\ &\quad + 4\Delta_1 \eta^{-1} \gamma_1 + 8\Delta_1 (\eta^{-1} + \lambda^{-\tau}) \gamma_3 \Big) \\ &\leq \gamma \gamma_2(\varrho/r)(1 + \log(r/\varrho)). \end{split}$$

Therefore the assertions  $(IX)_i - (XV)_i$  are verified whenever  $i \in \mathcal{P}, i \leq j + 1$ . The conclusion now follows from  $(XI)_{j+1}, (XIV)_{j+1}$  and  $(XV)_{j+1}$ .  $\Box$ 

**Lemma 9.5.** Suppose  $m, n, Q \in \mathcal{P}, m < n$ , either p = m = 1 or  $1 or <math>1 \leq p < m > 2$  and  $\frac{mp}{m-p} = 2$ ,  $0 < \delta \leq 1$ , and  $1 \leq M < \infty$ .

Then there exist positive, finite numbers  $\varepsilon$  and  $\Gamma$  with the following property. If  $a \in \mathbf{R}^n$ ,  $0 < r < \infty$ ,  $V \in \mathbf{IV}_m(\mathbf{U}(a, 6r))$ ,  $\psi$  and p are related to V as in 4.3,  $T \in \mathbf{G}(n, m)$ , Z is a ||V|| measurable subset of  $\mathbf{C}(T, a, r, 3r)$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} (Q-1/2)\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)r^{m} &\leq \|V\|(\mathbf{C}(T, a, r, 3r)) \leq (Q+1/2)\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)r^{m}, \\ \|V\|(\mathbf{C}(T, a, r, 4r) \sim \mathbf{C}(T, a, r, r)) \leq (1/2)\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)r^{m}, \\ \|V\|\mathbf{U}(a, 6r) \leq M\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)r^{m}, \quad \|V\|(\mathbf{C}(T, a, r/2, r/2)) \geq (Q-1/4)\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)(r/2)^{m}, \\ \|V\|(\mathbf{C}(T, a, r, 3r) \sim Z) \leq \varepsilon \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)r^{m}, \quad \left(\int |S_{\natural} - T_{\natural}|^{2} \, \mathrm{d}V(z, S)\right)^{1/2} \leq \varepsilon r^{m/2}, \end{aligned}$$

then

$$(r^{-m} \int_{\mathbf{C}(T,a,r/4,r/4)\times\mathbf{G}(n,m)} |S_{\natural} - T_{\natural}|^{2} dV(z,S))^{1/2} \leq \delta (r^{-m} \int_{\mathbf{C}(T,a,r,r)\times\mathbf{G}(n,m)} |S_{\natural} - T_{\natural}|^{2} dV(z,S))^{1/2} + \Gamma (r^{-m-1} \int_{Z} \operatorname{dist}(z-a,T) d\|V\|z + r^{1-m/p} \psi (\mathbf{U}(a,6r))^{1/p}).$$

Proof. Define

$$L = 1/8, \quad \delta_1 = \delta_2 = \delta_3 = 1/2, \quad \delta_4 = 1, \quad \delta_5 = (40)^{-m} (\boldsymbol{\gamma}(m)m)^{-m} / \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m),$$
  
$$\Delta_1 = \varepsilon_{5.7}(n, Q, L, M, \delta_1, \delta_2, \delta_3, \delta_4, \delta_5), \quad \Delta_2 = \inf \{1, (2\boldsymbol{\gamma}(m))^{-1}, \Delta_1\},$$
  
$$\mu = 1/2 \quad \text{if } m = 1, \quad \mu = 1/m \quad \text{if } m > 1, \quad \Delta_3 = \Gamma_{9.4(9)}(m, n, Q, \Delta_2, p, 1),$$

$$\begin{split} \eta &= \inf \left\{ \delta^{1/\mu} (4\Delta_3)^{-1/\mu}, 2^{-m-1} \right\}, \quad \lambda = \inf \left\{ \delta(4\Delta_3)^{-1}, 1 \right\}, \\ \kappa &= \inf \left\{ \epsilon_{9,4(9)}(m, n, Q, \delta_2, \Delta_1, \Delta_2, p), \epsilon_{9,3(11)}(n, \delta_4, \Delta_2), \\ 2^{-m-2} \beta(n)^{-1} \alpha(m) \eta \Gamma_{5,7(7)}(Q, m)^{-1} \Delta_2 \right\}, \\ \Delta_4 &= \inf \left\{ (M\alpha(m))^{-1/2} 2^{-m} \kappa, \alpha(m)^{1/2} 2^{-m-4} n^{-1/2} \Delta_2, \\ (M\alpha(m))^{-1/2} \delta^{m/2} (4\Delta_3)^{-m/2} \right\}, \\ \epsilon &= \inf \left\{ \Delta_4, 2^{-m-1} \eta \right\}, \\ \Delta_5 &= 2^{-m} \beta(n)^{-1} \alpha(m) \inf \left\{ \eta \Gamma_{5,7(7)}(Q, m)^{-1}/4, 1/8 \right\}, \\ \Delta_6 &= \inf \left\{ (M\alpha(m))^{1/p-1} 2^{1-m} \kappa, \epsilon_{9,4(9)}(m, n, Q, \delta_2, \Delta_1, \Delta_2, p), \\ \Delta_2(\Delta_5)^{1/p-1/m} \right\}, \\ \Gamma &= \sup \left\{ \Delta_3 Q^{1/2} \eta^{-1}, \Delta_3 \lambda^{-1}, (4(Q+1)\alpha(m)m)^{1/2} (\Delta_6)^{-1} \right\}. \end{split}$$

It will be shown that  $\varepsilon$  and  $\Gamma$  have the asserted property.

Suppose *a*, *r*, *V*,  $\psi$ , *p*, *T*, and *Z* satisfy the hypotheses in the body of the lemma.

By the definition of  $\Gamma$  and

$$r^{-m} \int_{\mathbf{C}(T,a,r/4,r/4)\times\mathbf{G}(n,m)} |S_{\natural} - T_{\natural}|^2 \,\mathrm{d}V(z,S) \leq 4(Q+1)\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)m,$$

one may assume that

$$r^{1-m/p}\psi(\mathbf{U}(a, 6r))^{1/p} \leq \Delta_6.$$

Additionally, one may assume that Z is a Borel set and that a = 0,  $T = \operatorname{im} \mathbf{p}^*$  using isometries and identifying  $\mathbf{R}^n \simeq \mathbf{R}^m \times \mathbf{R}^{n-m}$ .

Defining A,  $X_1$ , f, c,  $\phi_2$ ,  $\phi_3$ ,  $\phi_4$ ,  $T_{\varrho}$ ,  $J_1$ ,  $J_2$ ,  $J_3$ ,  $J_4$ ,  $J_5$ ,  $\sigma_{\varrho}$ , and  $C_{a,\varrho}$  as in 9.3,  $A' = A \cap \{z : \Theta^m(||V||, z) \in \mathscr{P}\}$ , and  $X = \mathbf{U}(c, r/2) \cap X_1 \sim \mathbf{p}[A' \sim Z]$ , next, the hypotheses of 9.4 (9) with  $\delta$ , P,  $\varrho$  replaced by  $\Delta_2$ , 0, r will be verified. The  $\mathscr{L}^m$ measurability of X is a consequence of 5.7 (1) (2) and 5.2 (1) (4). One estimates

$$\int |S_{\natural} - T_{\natural}| \, \mathrm{d}V(z, S) \leq (M\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m))^{1/2} r^m \Delta_4 \leq \kappa (r/2)^m,$$
  
$$\|\delta V\| \, \mathbf{U}(a, 6r) \leq (M\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m))^{1-1/p} r^{m-1} \Delta_6 \leq \kappa (r/2)^{m-1},$$

hence  $r/2 \in J_4 \cap J_5$  and  $8r \in J_2 \cap J_3$ . Also

$$\|(T_r)_{\natural} - T_{\natural}\| \leq \|V\| (\mathbf{C}(T, a, r/2, r/2))^{-1/2} 2\phi_2(6r, T)(6r)^{m/2}$$
$$\leq 2^{m+2} \alpha(m)^{-1/2} \Delta_4 \leq 1/2,$$
$$T_r \cap \ker \mathbf{p} = \{0\}, \quad r \in J_1$$

and, using 4.1 with S,  $S_1$ ,  $S_2$  replaced by T, T,  $T_r$ ,

$$\begin{split} \|\sigma_r\|^2 &\leq (1 + \|\sigma_r\|^2) \|(T_r)_{\natural} - T_{\natural}\|^2, \\ \|\sigma_r\|^2 &\leq \|(T_r)_{\natural} - T_{\natural}\|^2 / (1 - \|(T_r)_{\natural} - T_{\natural}\|^2) \leq 2 \|(T_r)_{\natural} - T_{\natural}\|^2, \\ \|\sigma_r\| &\leq 2 \|(T_r)_{\natural} - T_{\natural}\| \leq 2^{m+3} \alpha(m)^{-1/2} \Delta_4 \leq n^{-1/2} \Delta_2 / 2. \end{split}$$

Noting  $\phi_4(r) \leq \Delta_5$ , one infers from 9.3(11c) with  $\rho$ ,  $\lambda$  replaced by r/2,  $\eta/2$  that

$$\mathscr{L}^m(C_{a,r/2}) \leq (\eta/2) \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m) (r/2)^m.$$

Combining this with

$$\mathscr{L}^{m}(\mathbf{p}[A' \sim Z]) \leq \mathscr{H}^{m}(A' \sim Z) \leq ||V|| (\mathbf{C}(T, a, r, 3r) \sim Z) \leq (\eta/2) \alpha(m)(r/2)^{m},$$
  
$$\mathbf{U}(c, r/2) \sim X \subset C_{a, r/2} \cup \mathbf{p}[A' \sim Z],$$

one obtains

$$\mathscr{L}^m(\mathbf{U}(c,r/2)\sim X) \leq \eta \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)(r/2)^m.$$

Now, applying 9.4 (9) with  $\delta$ , *P*,  $\rho$ , and  $\tau$  replaced by  $\Delta_2$ , 0, *r*, and 1 yields

$$\begin{split} \phi_2(r/4,T) &\leq \Delta_3 \Big( \big(\lambda + ((M\alpha(m))^{1/2} \Delta_4)^{2/m} + (\lambda + \eta^{\mu}) \big) \phi_2(r,T) \\ &+ \eta^{-1} r^{-m-1} |f|_{1;X} + \lambda^{-1} \phi_3(r) \Big) \\ &\leq \delta \phi_2(r,T) + \Gamma \Big( Q^{-1/2} r^{-m-1} |f|_{1;X} + \phi_3(r) \Big). \end{split}$$

Finally, noting

$$X \cap \left\{ x : \mathscr{G}(f(x), \mathcal{Q}\llbracket 0 \rrbracket) > \mathcal{Q}^{1/2} \gamma \right\} \subset \mathbf{p} \left[ A' \cap Z \cap \{ z : \operatorname{dist}(z - a, T) > \gamma \} \right]$$

for  $0 < \gamma < \infty$ , one obtains

$$Q^{-1/2} |f|_{1;X} \leq \int_Z \operatorname{dist}(z-a,T) \,\mathrm{d} ||V||_Z$$

and the conclusion follows.  $\hfill \Box$ 

## 10. The Pointwise Regularity Theorem

Here, after verifying the hypotheses of the approximation by a  $\mathbf{Q}_{\mathcal{Q}}(\mathbf{R}^{n-m})$  valued function in 10.1, the pointwise regularity theorem is deduced from 9.4(11) in 10.2. An example demonstrating the sharpness of the modulus of continuity obtained in case  $\alpha \tau = 1$  and m > 1 is provided in 10.4. Finally, a corollary concerning almost everywhere decay rates is included in 10.6.

**Lemma 10.1.** Suppose  $m, n, Q \in \mathcal{P}, m < n$ , either p = m = 1 or  $1 \leq p < m$ ,  $0 < \alpha \leq 1, 1 \leq M < \infty, 0 < \mu \leq 1$ , and  $0 < \delta_i \leq 1$  for  $i \in \{1, 2\}$ .

Then there exists a positive, finite number  $\varepsilon$  with the following property.

If  $a \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $0 < r < \infty$ ,  $V \in IV_m(U(a, r))$ ,  $\psi$  is related to p and V as in 4.3,  $T \in G(n, m)$ ,

$$\begin{split} \Delta &= \inf \left\{ \mu, (1+M^2)^{-1/2} \big( 1 - (1-\delta_1/2)^{1/m} (1-\delta_1/4)^{-1/m} \big) \right\}, \\ \mathbf{\Theta}^{*m}(\|V\|, a) &\geq Q - 1 + \delta_2, \quad \|V\| \mathbf{U}(a, r) \leq (Q+1-\delta_1) \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m) r^m, \\ \int |S_{\natural} - T_{\natural}| \, \mathrm{d}V(z, S) \leq \varepsilon r^m, \\ \varrho^{1-m/p} \psi(\mathbf{B}(a, \varrho))^{1/p} \leq \varepsilon (\varrho/r)^{\alpha} \quad whenever \, 0 < \varrho < r, \end{split}$$

*then with*  $s = \Delta r$ 

$$\|V\|(\mathbf{C}(T, a, s, Ms) \sim \mathbf{C}(T, a, s, \delta_2 s)) \leq \delta_2 \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m) s^m.$$

**Proof.** Define  $\Delta$  as in the hypotheses of the body of the lemma,  $\lambda = (1 - (\Delta \delta_2/4)^2)^{1/2}$ ,

$$\Delta_1 = \varepsilon_{3.8}(n, \inf\{(2\gamma(m)m)^{-m} / \alpha(m), \delta_1/4\}, \lambda, 2(Q+1)),$$

let  $\varepsilon$  be the infimum of the following five numbers

and suppose that  $m, a, r, V, \psi, T$  and s satisfy the hypotheses in the body of the lemma.

First, note by 9.2 with  $\delta$  replaced by  $\inf\{\delta_1/3, \Delta\delta_2/2\}$ 

$$\|V\|(\mathbf{U}(a,r)\cap\{z:|T_{\natural}^{\perp}(z-a)|<\delta_{2}s/2\})\geq \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)(Q-\delta_{1}/3)r^{m}.$$

Define *A* to be set of all  $z \in \operatorname{spt} ||V||$  such that

$$\|\delta V\| \mathbf{B}(z,t) \leq (2\gamma(m))^{-1} \|V\| (\mathbf{B}(z,t))^{1-1/m}$$

whenever  $0 < t < \infty$  and  $\mathbf{B}(z, t) \subset \mathbf{U}(a, r)$ . Next, the following assertion will be proven:

$$A \cap \mathbf{C}(T, a, s, Ms) \subset \mathbf{C}(T, a, s, \delta_2 s).$$

For this purpose suppose  $z \in A \cap \text{spt } ||V|| \cap \mathbf{C}(T, a, s, Ms)$  and abbreviate  $t = \text{dist}(z, \mathbf{R}^n \sim \mathbf{U}(a, r))$ . Since  $\Delta < (1 + M^2)^{-1/2}$ , one notes  $\mathbf{C}(T, a, s, Ms) \subset \mathbf{U}(a, r)$  and t > 0. From 3.4 one obtains

$$\|V\| \mathbf{B}(z,\varrho) \ge (2\boldsymbol{\gamma}(m)m)^{-m}\varrho^m \quad \text{for } 0 < \varrho < t.$$

Therefore, noting

$$t \ge r - (1+M^2)^{1/2} \Delta r, \quad (t/r)^m \ge (1-\delta_1/2)(1-\delta_1/4)^{-1} \ge 2/3,$$
  
$$\|V\| \mathbf{U}(z,t) \le \|V\| \mathbf{U}(a,r) \le (Q+1)\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)r^m \le 2(Q+1)\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)t^m,$$
  
$$\|\delta V\| \mathbf{U}(z,t) \le \|\delta V\| \mathbf{U}(a,r) \le ((Q+1)\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m))^{1-1/p} \varepsilon r^{m-1}$$
  
$$\le ((Q+1)\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m))^{1-1/p} (4\boldsymbol{\gamma}(m)m)^{m-1} \varepsilon \|V\| (\mathbf{U}(z,t))^{1-1/m}$$
  
$$\le \Delta_1 \|V\| (\mathbf{U}(z,t))^{1-1/m},$$
  
$$\int_{\mathbf{U}(z,t)\times\mathbf{G}(n,m)} |S_{\natural} - T_{\natural}| dV(\xi,S) \le \int |S_{\natural} - T_{\natural}| dV(\xi,S)$$
  
$$\le \varepsilon r^m \le \varepsilon (4\boldsymbol{\gamma}(m)m)^m \|V\| \mathbf{U}(z,t) \le \Delta_1 \|V\| \mathbf{U}(z,t),$$

one uses 3.8 with  $\delta$ , M, a, and r replaced by  $\inf\{(2\gamma(m)m)^{-m}/\alpha(m), \delta_1/4\}, 2(Q+1), z$ , and t to infer

$$\|V\|(\mathbf{U}(z,t) \cap \{\xi : |T_{\natural}(\xi-z)| > \lambda|\xi-z|\}) \ge (1-\delta_1/4)\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)t^m$$
$$\ge (1-\delta_1/2)\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)r^m.$$

Since  $||V|| \mathbf{U}(a, r) \leq (Q + 1 - \delta_1) \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m) r^m$ , this implies, together with the second paragraph, that the intersection of

$$T_{\natural}^{\perp}[\mathbf{U}(z,t) \cap \{\xi : |T_{\natural}(\xi-z)| > \lambda |\xi-z|\}] \quad \text{and} \quad \mathbf{R}^n \cap \{\xi : |T_{\natural}^{\perp}(\xi-a)| < \delta_2 s/2\}$$

cannot be empty. Now, estimating for  $\xi \in \mathbf{U}(z, t)$  with  $|T_{\natural}(\xi - z)| > \lambda |\xi - z|$ 

$$|T_{\natural}^{\perp}(\xi-z)| \leq (1-\lambda^2)^{1/2} |\xi-z| \leq 2(1-\lambda^2)^{1/2} r = \delta_2 s/2,$$

one obtains  $|T_{\natural}^{\perp}(z-a)| \leq \delta_2 s$  and the inclusion follows.

If m = 1, then A = spt ||V|| and the conclusion is evident. Hence, suppose m > 1. The assertion of the preceding paragraph implies, with the help of Besicovitch's covering theorem and Hölder's inequality, the existence of countable disjointed families of closed balls  $F_1, \ldots, F_{\beta(n)}$  such that

spt 
$$||V|| \cap \mathbf{C}(T, a, s, Ms) \sim \mathbf{C}(T, a, s, \delta_2 s) \subset \bigcup \bigcup \{F_i : i = 1, \dots, \boldsymbol{\beta}(n)\},\$$
  
 $S \subset \mathbf{U}(a, r), \qquad ||V||(S) \leq \Delta_2 \psi(S)^{m/(m-p)}$ 

whenever  $S \in \bigcup \{F_i : i = 1, ..., \beta(n)\}$ , where  $\Delta_2 = (2\gamma(m))^{mp/(m-p)}$ , hence

$$\|V\|(\mathbf{C}(T, a, s, Ms) \sim \mathbf{C}(T, a, s, \delta_2 s)) \leq \Delta_2 \sum_{i=1}^{\beta(n)} \sum_{S \in F_i} \psi(S)^{m/(m-p)}$$
$$\leq \Delta_2 \sum_{i=1}^{\beta(n)} \left(\sum_{S \in F_i} \psi(S)\right)^{m/(m-p)} \leq \Delta_2 \beta(n) \psi(\mathbf{U}(a, r))^{m/(m-p)}$$
$$\leq (2\boldsymbol{\gamma}(m)\varepsilon)^{mp/(m-p)} \boldsymbol{\beta}(n) r^m \leq \delta_2 \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m) s^m.$$

**Theorem 10.2.** Suppose  $m, n, Q \in \mathcal{P}, m < n$ , either p = m = 1 or  $1 \leq p < m$ ,  $0 < \delta \leq 1, 0 < \alpha \leq 1, 0 < \tau \leq 1$ , and  $\tau = 1$  if  $m = 1, p/2 \leq \tau < \frac{mp}{2(m-p)}$  if m = 2 and  $\tau = \frac{mp}{2(m-p)}$  if m > 2.

Then there exist positive, finite numbers  $\varepsilon$  and  $\Gamma$  with the following property.

If  $a \in \mathbf{R}^n$ ,  $0 < r < \infty$ ,  $V \in \mathbf{IV}_m(\mathbf{U}(a, r))$ , p and  $\psi$  are related to V as in 4.3,  $T \in \mathbf{G}(n, m)$ ,  $\omega : \mathbf{R} \cap \{t : 0 < t \leq 1\} \rightarrow \mathbf{R}$  with  $\omega(t) = t^{\alpha \tau}$  if  $\alpha \tau < 1$  and  $\omega(t) = t(1 + \log(1/t))$  if  $\alpha \tau = 1$  whenever  $0 < t \leq 1$ , and  $0 < \gamma \leq \varepsilon$ ,

$$\begin{split} \boldsymbol{\Theta}^{*m}(\|V\|, a) &\geq Q - 1 + \delta, \quad \|V\| \, \mathbf{U}(a, r) \leq (Q + 1 - \delta) \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m) r^m, \\ \left(r^{-m} \int |S_{\natural} - T_{\natural}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}V(z, S)\right)^{1/2} \leq \gamma, \\ \|V\|(\mathbf{B}(a, \varrho) \cap \{z : \boldsymbol{\Theta}^m(\|V\|, z) \leq Q - 1\}) \leq \varepsilon \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m) \varrho^m \quad for \ 0 < \varrho < r, \\ \varrho^{1 - m/p} \psi(\mathbf{B}(a, \varrho))^{1/p} \leq \gamma^{1/\tau} (\varrho/r)^\alpha \quad for \ 0 < \varrho < r, \end{split}$$

then  $\Theta^{m}(||V||, a) = Q$ ,  $R = \operatorname{Tan}^{m}(||V||, a) \in \mathbf{G}(n, m)$  and

$$\left(\varrho^{-m} \int_{\mathbf{U}(a,\varrho) \times \mathbf{G}(n,m)} |S_{\natural} - R_{\natural}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}V(z,S)\right)^{1/2} \leq \Gamma \gamma \omega(\varrho/r) \quad \text{whenever } 0 < \varrho \leq r.$$

**Proof.** Define, noting  $(\boldsymbol{\gamma}(m)m)^{-m} \leq \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)$ ,

$$\begin{split} &\Delta_1 = \inf \left\{ 1/6, (17)^{-1/2} \left( 1 - (1 - \delta/2)^{1/m} (1 - \delta/4)^{-1/m} \right) \right\}, \\ &\delta_1 = \delta/2, \quad \delta_2 = \delta/4, \quad \delta_3 = 1 - \delta/4, \quad \delta_4 = 1, \\ &\delta_5 = (40)^{-m} (\boldsymbol{\gamma}(m)m)^{-m} / \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m), \quad \delta_6 = \delta, \quad L = \delta_4/8, \quad M = (\Delta_1)^{-m} (Q+1), \\ &\delta' = \inf \left\{ 1, \varepsilon_{5.7}(n, Q, L, M, \delta_1, \delta_2, \delta_3, \delta_4, \delta_5), (2\boldsymbol{\gamma}(m))^{-1} \right\}, \\ &\eta = \inf \left\{ 1, (Q+1 - \delta/2)^{1/m} (Q+1 - 3\delta/4)^{-1/m} - 1 \right\}, \end{split}$$

and apply 9.4(11) with  $\delta$  replaced by  $\delta'$  to obtain  $\gamma_i$  for  $i \in \{2, 3\}$ . Define

$$\begin{aligned} \Delta_2 &= \inf \left\{ (Q+1-3\delta/4)^{1/p} - (Q+1-\delta)^{1/p}, \\ & (Q-1+\delta)^{1/p} - (Q-1+\delta/2)^{1/p} \right\}, \\ \Delta_3 &= \inf \left\{ (\Delta_1)^{m/2} \varepsilon_{9,4(11)}(m,n,Q,L,M,\delta_1,\delta_2,\delta_3,p,\tau,\alpha,\delta_6), \gamma_3 \right\}, \\ \varepsilon &= \inf \left\{ (\alpha p \alpha (m)^{1/p} \Delta_2)^{\tau}, \\ & (Q+1)^{-1/2} \alpha (m)^{-1/2} \varepsilon_{10,1}(m,n,Q,p,\alpha,4,1/6,\delta,\inf\{\eta,\delta/4\})^{\tau}, \\ & \varepsilon_{10,1}(m,n,Q,p,\alpha,4,1/6,\delta,\inf\{\eta,\delta/4\})^{\tau}, \Delta_3, 1 \right\}, \end{aligned}$$

and also

$$\begin{aligned} \Delta_4 &= \sup \left\{ \gamma_2 (\Delta_1 \Delta_3)^{-1}, (\Delta_1)^{-m/2-1} \right\}, \quad \Delta_5 &= (1 - 2^{-\alpha \tau})^{-1} \quad \text{if } \alpha \tau < 1, \\ \Delta_5 &= 2 + 2 \log 2 \quad \text{if } \alpha \tau = 1, \quad \Delta_6 = 2^{m+2} \delta^{-1} \alpha(m)^{-1/2} \Delta_4 \Delta_5, \\ \Gamma &= \Delta_4 + (Q+1)^{1/2} \alpha(m)^{1/2} \Delta_6. \end{aligned}$$

Suppose *a*, *r*, *V*,  $\psi$ , *T*, and  $\omega$  satisfy the hypotheses of the body of the theorem. Let  $s = \Delta_1 r$ . Applying 9.1 twice with *M* replaced by  $\varepsilon^{\tau}$  in conjunction with Hölder's inequality, one deduces the *mass bounds*:

$$(Q - 1 + \delta/2)\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)\varrho^m \leq ||V|| \mathbf{U}(a, \varrho) \leq (Q + 1 - 3\delta/4)\boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)\varrho^m$$

for  $0 < \varrho \leq r$ . From 10.1 applied with M,  $\mu$ ,  $\delta_1$ ,  $\delta_2$  replaced by 4, 1/6,  $\delta$ , inf{ $\eta, \delta/4$ } one obtains, noting  $\int |S_{\natural} - T_{\natural}| dV(z, S) \leq (Q+1)^{1/2} \alpha(m)^{1/2} \varepsilon r^m$  by Hölder's inequality,

$$\|V\|(\mathbf{C}(T, a, s, 4s) \sim \mathbf{C}(T, a, s, \eta s)) \leq (\delta/4) \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m) s^{m}.$$

Together this implies, noting  $(1 + \eta)s \leq r$ ,

hence, using isometries and identifying  $\mathbf{R}^n \simeq \mathbf{R}^m \times \mathbf{R}^{n-m}$ , one may assume that a = 0, and the hypotheses of 9.3 and 9.4 are satisfied with r,  $\delta$  replaced by s,  $\delta'$ .

Defining  $\phi : (\mathbf{R} \cap \{ \varrho : 0 < \varrho \leq r \}) \times \mathbf{G}(n, m) \to \mathbf{R}$  by

$$\phi(\varrho, R) = \left( \varrho^{-m} \int_{\mathbf{U}(a,\varrho) \times \mathbf{G}(n,m)} |S_{\natural} - R_{\natural}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}V(z, S) \right)^{1/2}$$

for  $0 < \rho \leq r$ ,  $R \in \mathbf{G}(n, m)$  and choosing  $T_{\rho} \in \mathbf{G}(n, m)$  such that

$$\phi(\varrho, T_{\varrho}) \leq \phi(\varrho, R)$$
 whenever  $0 < \varrho \leq r$  and  $R \in \mathbf{G}(n, m)$ 

and noting  $\varepsilon \leq \Delta_3$  and  $\Delta_1 \leq 1/4$ , one obtains from 9.4(11) with r,  $\delta$  and  $\gamma$ , replaced by s,  $\delta'$  and  $\gamma/\Delta_3$  that

$$\phi(\varrho, T_{\varrho}) \leq (\gamma/\Delta_3)\gamma_2\omega(\varrho/s) \text{ for } 0 < \varrho \leq s.$$

One infers the tilt estimate

$$\phi(\varrho, T_{\varrho}) \leq \Delta_4 \gamma \omega(\varrho/r) \text{ for } 0 < \varrho \leq r.$$

Next, it will be shown that a similar estimate holds with  $T_{\varrho}$  replaced by a suitable  $R \in \mathbf{G}(n, m)$ . Using the lower mass bound, one notes for  $0 < \varrho/2 \leq t \leq \varrho \leq r$ 

$$|(T_{\varrho})_{\natural} - (T_t)_{\natural}| \leq 2^{m+1} \delta^{-1} \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)^{-1/2} \varrho^{-m/2} \left( \varrho^{m/2} \phi(\varrho, T_{\varrho}) + t^{m/2} \phi(t, T_t) \right)$$
$$\leq 2^{m+2} \delta^{-1} \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)^{-1/2} \phi(\varrho, T_{\varrho}).$$

This implies inductively for  $0 < t \leq \varrho \leq r$ 

$$|(T_t)_{\natural} - (T_{\varrho})_{\natural}| \leq 2^{m+2} \delta^{-1} \boldsymbol{\alpha}(m)^{-1/2} \sum_{\nu=0}^{\infty} \phi(2^{-\nu}\varrho, T_{2^{-\nu}\varrho}),$$

hence, noting that the tilt estimate yields

$$\begin{split} \sum_{\nu=0}^{\infty} \phi(2^{-\nu}\varrho, T_{2^{-\nu}\varrho}) &\leq \Delta_4 \gamma \sum_{\nu=0}^{\infty} (2^{-\nu}\varrho/r)^{\alpha\tau} = \Delta_4 \Delta_5 \gamma \omega(\varrho/r) \quad \text{if } \alpha \tau < 1, \\ \sum_{\nu=0}^{\infty} \phi(2^{-\nu}\varrho, T_{2^{-\nu}\varrho}) &\leq \Delta_4 \gamma \sum_{\nu=0}^{\infty} (2^{-\nu}\varrho/r)(1 + \log(r/\varrho) + \nu \log 2) \\ &\leq \Delta_4 \gamma(\varrho/r)(1 + \log(r/\varrho)) (2 + \log 2 \sum_{\nu=0}^{\infty} 2^{-\nu}\nu) = \Delta_4 \Delta_5 \gamma \omega(\varrho/r), \end{split}$$

if  $\alpha \tau = 1$ , there exists  $R \in \mathbf{G}(n, m)$  with

$$|R_{\natural} - (T_{\varrho})_{\natural}| \leq \Delta_6 \gamma \omega(\varrho/r)$$
 whenever  $0 < \varrho \leq r$ .

Combining this with the tilt estimate, one obtains, using the upper mass bound,

$$\phi(\varrho, R) \leq \phi(\varrho, T_{\varrho}) + (Q+1)^{1/2} \alpha(m)^{1/2} \Delta_6 \gamma \omega(\varrho/r) \leq \Gamma \gamma \omega(\varrho/r)$$

for  $0 < \varrho \leq r$ .

Since  $0 \leq \Theta^m(||V||, a) < \infty$  by 9.1, one now infers from Allard's compactness theorem for integral varifolds, see for example [2, 6.4] or [31, 42.8], in conjunction with, for example, 3.6 that

$$\varrho^{-m} \int f((z-a)/\varrho, S) \, \mathrm{d}V(z, S) \to Q \int_R f(z, R) \, \mathrm{d}\mathscr{H}^m z \quad \text{as } \varrho \to 0 +$$

for  $f \in \mathscr{K}(\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{G}(n, m))$ , hence  $\Theta^m(||V||, a) = Q$  and  $R = \operatorname{Tan}^m(||V||, a)$ .  $\Box$ 

**Remark 10.3.** If  $\alpha \tau < 1$  and m > 2, then  $\tau$  cannot be replaced by any larger number.

An example is provided as follows. Defining  $\eta = \frac{\alpha p}{m-p}$ , choosing for each  $i \in \mathcal{P}$  an *m* dimensional sphere  $M_i$  of radius  $\varrho_i = 2^{-i-\eta i-2}$  with  $M_i \subset \mathbf{U}(a, 2^{-i}) \sim \mathbf{B}(a, 2^{-i-1})$ , one readily verifies that one may take  $V \in \mathbf{IV}_m(\mathbf{R}^n)$  such that  $\|V\| = Q \mathscr{H}^m \sqcup T + \mathscr{H}^m \sqcup M$  where  $M = \bigcup_{i=1}^{\infty} M_i$  and *r* sufficiently small.

**Remark 10.4.** In case  $\alpha \tau = 1, m > 1$ , it can happen that

$$\liminf_{\varrho \to 0+} \left( \varrho^{-m} \int_{\mathbf{U}(a,\varrho) \times \mathbf{G}(n,m)} |S_{\natural} - R_{\natural}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}V(z,S) \right)^{1/2} \omega(\varrho/r)^{-1} > 0$$

To construct an example, assume n - m = 1, with  $\mathbf{C} = \mathbf{R}^2$  take  $u : \mathbf{C} \to \mathbf{R}$  of class 1 such that

$$u(re^{\mathbf{i}\theta}) = r^2(\log r)\cos(2\theta) \text{ for } 0 < r < \infty, \theta \in \mathbf{R},$$

and verify, using the homogeneity of u,

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Lap} u(re^{\mathbf{i}\theta}) &= 4\cos(2\theta) \quad \text{for } 0 < r < \infty, \theta \in \mathbf{R}, \\ |D^{i}u(x)| &\leq \Gamma |x|^{2-i} (1 + \log(1/|x|)) \quad \text{for } x \in \mathbf{U}(0,1) \sim \{0\}, i \in \{1,2\} \end{aligned}$$

where  $\Gamma$  is a positive, finite number, hence computing with *C* as in 7.1, noting [14, 5.1.9],

$$\left\langle D^2 u(x), C(Du(x)) \right\rangle = \operatorname{Lap} u(x) + \left\langle D^2 u(x), C(Du(x)) - C(0) \right\rangle$$

for  $x \in \mathbf{R}^2 \sim \{0\}$ , one obtains, since Du(0) = 0,

$$\left\langle D^2 u, C \circ D u \right\rangle \in \mathbf{L}_{\infty}(\mathscr{L}^2 \sqcup \mathbf{U}(0, 1)),$$
$$u | \mathbf{U}(0, 1) \in \mathbf{W}^{2, q}(\mathbf{U}(0, 1)) \quad \text{for } 1 \leq q < \infty.$$

Choosing  $g \in \mathbf{O}^*(m, 2)$  and defining  $f = u \circ g$ , one may now take V associated to f as in 2.6 with Q = 1.

**Remark 10.5.** Considering  $V_1 \in IV_7(\mathbb{R}^4 \times \mathbb{R}^4)$  and  $V_2 \in IV_2(\mathbb{C} \times \mathbb{C})$  characterised by

$$\|V_1\| = \mathscr{H}^7 \llcorner (\mathbf{R}^4 \times \mathbf{R}^4) \cap \{(x, y) : |x|^2 = |y|^2\},\$$
  
$$\|V_2\| = \mathscr{H}^2 \llcorner (\mathbf{C} \times \mathbf{C}) \cap \{(w, z) : w^3 = z^2\},\$$

one may verify the necessity of the hypotheses

$$r^{-m} \int |S_{\natural} - T_{\natural}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}V(z, S) \, \mathrm{d}V(z, S) \leq \varepsilon, \|V\| (\mathbf{B}(a, \varrho) \cap \{z : \mathbf{\Theta}^m(\|V\|, z) \leq \varrho - 1\}) \leq \varepsilon \alpha(m) \varrho^m \quad \text{for } 0 < \varrho < r,$$

even if V corresponds to an absolutely area minimising current, see BOMBIERI et al. [6, Theorem A], [14, 5.4.19], and ALLARD [2, 4.8(4)].

**Corollary 10.6.** Suppose *m*, *n*, *p*, *U*, and *V* are as in 4.3, either  $m \in \{1, 2\}$  and  $0 < \tau < 1$  or  $\sup\{2, p\} < m$  and  $\tau = \frac{mp}{2(m-p)} < 1$ , and  $V \in IV_m(U)$ . Then

$$\limsup_{r \to 0+} r^{-\tau - m/2} \left( \int_{\mathbf{U}(a,r) \times \mathbf{G}(n,m)} |S_{\natural} - T_{\natural}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}V(z,S) \right)^{1/2} < \infty$$

for V almost all (a, T).

**Proof.** From [14, 2.9.13, 5] one infers that for ||V|| almost all  $a \in U$  there exists  $Q \in \mathscr{P}$  and  $T \in \mathbf{G}(n, m)$  such that for  $f \in \mathscr{K}(\mathbf{R}^n \times \mathbf{G}(n, m))$ 

$$\lim_{r \to 0+} r^{-m} \int f(r^{-1}(z-a), S) \, \mathrm{d}V(z, S) = Q \int_T f(z, T) \, \mathrm{d}\mathscr{H}^m z,$$
  
$$\Theta^m(\|V\| \, \llcorner \{z \colon \Theta^m(\|V\|, z) \leq Q - 1\}, a) = 0, \quad \Theta^{*m}(\psi, a) < \infty,$$

hence for such *a* one may apply 10.2 with *r* sufficiently small and  $\alpha = 1$  to infer the conclusion.  $\Box$ 

**Remark 10.7.** The examples in [23, 1.2] with  $q_1 = q_2 = 2$  and  $\alpha_1 = \alpha_2$  slightly larger than  $\frac{mp}{m-p}$  show that  $\tau$  cannot be replaced by any larger number provided m > 2. However, using the present result and [23, 3.7 (i)], [25, 4.8], it is shown in [25, 5.2 (1)] that "<  $\infty$ " can be replaced by "= 0".

**Remark 10.8.** It is shown in [25, 5.2(2)] that the conclusion holds with  $\tau = 1$  if m = 1 or m = 2 and p > 1 or m > 2 and  $p \ge 2m/(m+2)$  by use of 9.5 and [25, 4.8].

Acknowledgements. The author offers his thanks to Prof. Dr. REINER SCHÄTZLE from whose education the author benefited greatly in writing the present paper. Additionally, the author would like to thank Prof. Dr. TOM ILMANEN for several related discussions. Moreover, the author expresses his thanks to the referee for his or her effort to improve the exposition.

#### References

- AMBROSIO, L., FUSCO, N., PALLARA, D.: Functions of Bounded Variation and Free Discontinuity Problems. Oxford Mathematical Monographs. The Clarendon Press, Oxford University Press, New York, 2000
- 2. ALLARD, W.K.: On the first variation of a varifold. Ann. Math. (2) 95, 417-491 (1972)
- ALMGREN, F.J. JR.: Existence and regularity almost everywhere of solutions to elliptic variational problems among surfaces of varying topological type and singularity structure. Ann. Math. (2) 87, 321–391 (1968)
- ALMGREN, F.: Optimal isoperimetric inequalities. Indiana Univ. Math. J. 35(3), 451–547 (1986)
- 5. ALMGREN, F.J. JR.: Almgren's big regularity paper. World Scientific Monograph Series in Mathematics, vol. 1. World Scientific Publishing Co. Inc., River Edge, 2000. Q-valued functions minimizing Dirichlet's integral and the regularity of area-minimizing rectifiable currents up to codimension 2, With a preface by JEAN E. TAYLOR AND VLADIMIR SCHEFFER

- 6. BOMBIERI, E., DE GIORGI, E., GIUSTI, E.: Minimal cones and the Bernstein problem. *Invent. Math.* **7**, 243–268 (1969)
- BRAKKE, K.A.: *The Motion of a Surface by its Mean Curvature*. Mathematical Notes, vol. 20. Princeton University Press, Princeton, 1978
- 8. CAFFARELLI, L.A.: Interior a priori estimates for solutions of fully nonlinear equations. *Ann. Math.* (2) **130**(1), 189–213 (1989)
- 9. CASTAING, C., VALADIER, M.: Convex Analysis and Measurable Multifunctions. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, vol. 580. Springer, Berlin, 1977
- 10. DE GIORGI, E.: Frontiere orientate di misura minima. *Seminario di Matematica della Scuola Normale Superiore di Pisa, 1960–61*. Editrice Tecnico Scientifica, Pisa, 1961
- 11. DE GIORGI, E.: *Selected Papers*. Ambrosio, L., Dal Maso, G., Forti, M., Miranda, M., Spagnolo, S. (eds.) Springer, Berlin, 2006
- DUZAAR, F., MINGIONE, G.: Harmonic type approximation lemmas. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 352(1), 301–335 (2009)
- 13. DUZAAR, F., STEFFEN, K.: Optimal interior and boundary regularity for almost minimizers to elliptic variational integrals. J. Reine Angew. Math. 546, 73–138 (2002)
- 14. FEDERER, H.: *Geometric Measure Theory*. Die Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften, Band 153. Springer-Verlag New York Inc., New York, 1969
- 15. FEDERER, H.: Flat chains with positive densities. *Indiana Univ. Math. J.* **35**(2), 413–424 (1986)
- 16. GIUSTI, E.: *Direct Methods in the Calculus of Variations*. World Scientific Publishing Co. Inc., River Edge, 2003
- 17. GILBARG, D., TRUDINGER, N.S.: *Elliptic Partial Differential Equations of Second Order*. Classics in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2001. Reprint of the 1998 edition
- HUTCHINSON, J.: Poincaré-Sobolev and related inequalities for submanifolds of R<sup>N</sup>. Pacific J. Math. 145(1), 59–69 (1990)
- JIN, T., MAZ'YA, V., VAN SCHAFTINGEN, J.: Pathological solutions to elliptic problems in divergence form with continuous coefficients. C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris 347(13–14), 773–778 (2009)
- KELLEY, J.L.: General Topology. Springer, New York, 1975. Reprint of the 1955 edition [Van Nostrand, Toronto, Ont.], Graduate Texts in Mathematics, No. 27
- LEONARDI, G. P., MASNOU, S.: Locality of the mean curvature of rectifiable varifolds. Adv. Calc. Var. 2(1), 17–42 (2009)
- 22. MENNE, U.: C<sup>2</sup> Rectifiability and Q Valued Functions. PhD thesis, Universität Tübingen, 2008. http://tobias-lib.ub.uni-tuebingen.de/volltexte/2008/3518
- MENNE, U.: Some applications of the isoperimetric inequality for integral varifolds. Adv. Calc. Var. 2(3), 247–269 (2009)
- MENNE, U.: A Sobolev Poincaré type inequality for integral varifolds. *Calc. Var. Partial Differ. Equ.* 38(3–4), 369–408 (2010)
- MENNE, U.: Second order rectifiability of integral varifolds of locally bounded first variation. J. Geom. Anal. (2011). doi:10.1007/s12220-011-9261-5
- MINGIONE, G.: Regularity of minima: an invitation to the dark side of the calculus of variations. *Appl. Math.* 51(4), 355–426 (2006)
- 27. O'NEIL, R.: Convolution operators and L(p, q) spaces. Duke Math. J. 30, 129–142 (1963)
- SCHÄTZLE, R.: Hypersurfaces with mean curvature given by an ambient Sobolev function. J. Differ. Geom. 58(3), 371–420 (2001)
- SCHÄTZLE, R.: Quadratic tilt-excess decay and strong maximum principle for varifolds. Ann. Sc. Norm. Super. Pisa Cl. Sci. (5) 3(1), 171–231 (2004)
- 30. SCHÄTZLE, R.: Lower semicontinuity of the Willmore functional for currents. J. Differ. Geom. 81(2), 437–456 (2009)
- SIMON, L.: Lectures on geometric measure theory. *Proceedings of the Centre for Mathematical Analysis*, vol. 3. Australian National University. Australian National University Centre for Mathematical Analysis, Canberra, 1983

- 32. SIMON, L.: Schauder estimates by scaling. *Calc. Var. Partial Differ. Equ.* **5**(5), 391–407 (1997)
- SCHOEN, R., SIMON, L.: A new proof of the regularity theorem for rectifiable currents which minimize parametric elliptic functionals. *Indiana Univ. Math. J.* 31(3), 415–434 (1982)
- 34. TRUDINGER, N.S.: On the twice differentiability of viscosity solutions of nonlinear elliptic equations. *Bull. Austral. Math. Soc.* **39**(3), 443–447 (1989)
- 35. WLOKA, J.: *Partial Differential Equations*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1987. Translated from the German by C.B. THOMAS AND M.J. THOMAS

Max-Planck-Institute for Gravitational Physics (Albert-Einstein-Institute), OT Golm, Am Mühlenberg 1, 14476 Potsdam, Germany. e-mail: Ulrich.Menne@aei.mpg.de

(Received June 8, 2011 / Accepted August 31, 2011) Published online December 21, 2011 – © Springer-Verlag (2011)